

EFFECT OF PROLINE ON RICE SEED GERMINATION (ORYZA SATIVA L.) UNDER SALTY CONDITION



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for Master of Science (BIOSCIENCE FOR SUSTAINABLE AGRICULTURE) Graduate School, Silpakorn University Academic Year 2021 Copyright of Silpakorn University



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาชีววิทยาศาสตร์เพื่อเกษตรกรรมที่ยั่งยืน แผน ก แบบ ก 2 (หลักสูตรนานาชาติ) บัณฑิตวิทยาลัย มหาวิทยาลัยศิลปากร ปีการศึกษา 2564 ลิขสิทธิ์ของมหาวิทยาลัยศิลปากร

EFFECT OF PROLINE ON RICE SEED GERMINATION (*ORYZA* SATIVA L.) UNDER SALTY CONDITION



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for Master of Science (BIOSCIENCE FOR SUSTAINABLE AGRICULTURE) Graduate School, Silpakorn University Academic Year 2021 Copyright of Silpakorn University

Title	Effect of Proline on Rice Seed Germination (Oryza sativa L.) Under
	Salty Condition
By	Leandro CARVALHO RODRIGUES PEREIRA
Field of Study	(BIOSCIENCE FOR SUSTAINABLE AGRICULTURE)
Advisor	Associate Professor PANTIPA NA CHIANGMAI, Ph.D.

Graduate School Silpakorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master of Science

	Dean of graduate school
(Associate Professor Jurairat Nunthanid, Ph.D.)	-
Approved by	Chair person
(Associate Professor Sorapong Benchasri, Ph.D.)	
	Advisor
(Associate Professor PANTIPA NA CHIANGMAI, Ph	n.D.)
SECTR	Co advisor
(Assistant Professor CHAOWANEE LAOSUTTHIPO	NG,
Ph.D.)	Co advisor
(Assistant Professor Panida Duangkaew, Ph.D.)	
้าวิทยาลัยศิลป	

621120007 : Major (BIOSCIENCE FOR SUSTAINABLE AGRICULTURE) Keyword : Germination, Seeding, Rice varieties, Proline

MR. LEANDRO CARVALHO RODRIGUES PEREIRA : EFFECT OF PROLINE ON RICE SEED GERMINATION (*ORYZA SATIVA* L.) UNDER SALTY CONDITION THESIS ADVISOR : ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR PANTIPA NA CHIANGMAI, Ph.D.

Salinity is a major problem both in present and has been forecast in the future on plant production. The objectives of this study are to investigate salinity stress at different levels and the effects of using external proline at germinating and seedling stages on many characteristics; both morphological, biochemical, and proline accumulation by gene synthesis in rice. Four experiments were conducted separately by using Completely Randomized Design (CRD) with three replications. Three rice varieties were used in these experiments including Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1), and Indonesia rice variety 'Inpari 35' (IN 35). These experiments assessed the effect of four levels of salinity (0, 50, 100, and 150 mM sodium chloride; NaCl) and the influence of exogenous proline use (0, 50, 100, and 150 mM proline). The results showed that salinity affects characteristics of both at the germination and seedling stage. Moreover, the salinity at levels 100 and 150 mM NaCl had a significant impact on the reduction of various characteristics of rice seedlings. At the germination stage, a low proline level at 50 mM could promote rice characteristics, and the concentration of proline should increase to 100 mM when rice is grown under salinity stress at 150 mM NaCl. However, at the seedling stage, the effect of proline was not found both on the relative water content and the content in many types of chlorophyll, and the total chlorophyll. Consistent between these results with proline accumulation from OsP5Cs1 gene expression was observed. Proline accumulation in rice varieties was observed in higher salinity levels at 100 mM and 150 mM NaCl and spraying at 100 mM and 150 mM proline.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude and appreciation to my advisor Assoc. Prof. Pantipa Na Chiangmai Ph.D. for her valuable instruction, excellent suggestions, expert guidance, and encouragement. My deepest appreciation goes to my co-advisor Asst. prof. Chaowanee Laosutthipong Ph.D. and Asst. prof Panida Duangkaew Ph.D. for their valuable instruction, excellent suggestions, and guidance.

Animal Sciences and Agricultural Technology, Silpakorn University, Phetchaburi IT campus, Cha-Am, and Thailand International Cooperation Agency (TICA). Thailand is gratefully acknowledged for providing scholarship and study facilities. Department of Research and Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries in Timor Leste is acknowledged for providing study leave and other facilities.

I would like to express my deepest sincere gratitude to my family for their sacrifice during my absence and encouragement. Finally, I wish to express my sincere appreciation to every people who contributed in diverse ways to the completion of this research and Master of Science in Bioscience for Sustainable Agriculture Program.

My special thank is given to Manaw Sangpuang and Sopheak Tith are Ph.D. and M.Sc. students for their wonderful friendship and generous assistance as well as to all my friends (AT 21). Ultimately, I would like to deeply thank my beloved family, Mr. Sebastião (My Father), Mrs. Martinha Carvalho Rodrigues Pereira (My Mother), Eusebio Sampaio (My Brother), Eldina Rodrigues Pereira (My older sister), and Victoria Laka Bria (My Wife) for their infinite love, encouragement, understanding, financial supporting and giving the best opportunity to my life.

Leandro CARVALHO RODRIGUES PEREIRA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTD
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS E
TABLE OF CONTENTSF
LIST OF TABLESI
LIST OF FIGURES
CHAPTER I1
INTRODUCTION
Background and rational
Objectives
Hypothesis
CHAPTER II
LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Salinity Stress
2.2 Chemical substances
2.3 Rice growth and development stages
2.3.1 Germination 9
2.3.2 Vegetative phase
2.3.3 Reproductive phase10
2.3.4 Ripening phase10
2.4 Seedling emergence and development
2.5 Salinity and its effect to rice production
2.6 The solution of salinity stress for crop13
2.7 Using salinity tolerance varieties15

CHAPTER III	
METHODOLOGY	
3.1 Materials and treatments, experiment design and planting practices	
3.1.1 Time and Place	
3.1.2 Weather data during the investigation in Hua-Hin, Prachuap, Kh	iri Khan
province, Thailand	
3.1.3 Genetic materials and factors	
3.2 Experiments, experiment design and planting	
3.3 Chemical determination	21
3.2.1 Chlorophyll content	21
3.2.2 The relative water content	
3.4 Collect data in laboratory and green house	22
3.3.1 .New leave and burned leave	23
3.3.2 Shoot length (cm)	23
3.3.3 Root length (cm)	23
3.3.4 Hairy roots (density scores)	24
3.3.5 Plants height (cm)	24
3.3.6 Number of leaves	24
3.3.7 Fresh weight and dry weight (g)	24
3.5 Ribonucleic acid (RNA) assessing	24
3.6 RT-PCR	25
3.7 Statistical analysis	25
CHAPTER IV	26
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
4.1 Effect of salinity concentrations on rice germination	

4.1.1 Effect of salinity level in CNT 1	6
4.1.2 Effect of salinity level in PT 1	1
4.1.3 Effect of salinity level in Inpari 35	5
4.2 Experiment 2 : Effect of seed soaking before sowing on rice germination	0
I. Analysis for comparing the effect of salinity levels	0
4.2.1 Effect of salinity level in CNT 1 (Chai Nat 1)40	0
4.2.2 Effect of salinity level in PT 1 (Pathum Thani 1)4	3
4.2.3 Effect of salinity level in IN 35 (Inpari 35)4	5
Analysis for comparing the effect of soaking and salinity levels4	7
A. Effect of non-soaked and soaked in CNT 1 (Chai Nat 1)4	8
B .Effect of non-soaked and soaked in PT 1 (Pathum Thani 1)5	1
C .Effect of non-soaked and soaked in IN 35 (Inpari 35)53	5
4.3 Experiment 3 : Testing effect of proline concentrations on germination in rice	
under salt condition	9
4.4 Experiment 4 : Testing effect of proline concentrations on rice seedling under	
salt condition7	1
The relative water content (RWC)	4
The chlorophyll contents80	6
Semi-Quantitative RT-PCR	2
CHAPTER V	8
CONCLUSION	8
REFERENCES	0
VITA	2

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Standard evaluation system of visible salt damage in rice at the seedling stage
Table 2 The effect of salinity levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Chai Nat 1' (CNT 1): germination (%), shoot length (cm), root length
(cm), hairy root (density), root number and seedlings vigor index at 9 and 16 days after sowing
Table 3 Effect of salinity levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety'Pathum Thani 1' (PT 1) :germination (%), shoot length (cm), root length (cm),
hairy root (density), root number and seedlings vigor index at 9 and 16 days after sowing
Table 4 The effect of salinity levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Inpari 35 :'germination (%), shoot length (cm), root length (cm), hairy
root (density), root number and seedlings vigor index at 9 and 16 days after sowing 37 Table 5 The effect of salinity levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in
variety 'Chai Nat 1' (CNT 1): Germination (%), shoot length (cm), root length (cm) hairy root (density) root number and coording vigor index at 7 days after
sowing
Table 6 The effect of salinity levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Pathum Thani 1' (PT 1): germination (%), shoot length (cm), root length
(cm), hairy root (density) and root number at 7 days after sowing
Table / The effect of salinity levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Inpari 35': germination (%), shoot length (cm), root length (cm), hairy root
(density), root number and seedling vigor index at 7 days after sowing46
Table 8 The effect of salinity levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Chai Nat 1' (CNT 1): germination percentage GP (%), Shoot Length SL
(cm), Root Length RL (cm), Hairy Root HR (density), Root Number RN and
seedling vigor index VI at one week after sowing

Table 9 The effect of salinity levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Phatum Thani 1 ('PT 1'): germination percentage GP (%), Shoot Length SL (cm), Root Length RL (cm), Hairy Root HR (density), root number (RN) and Table 10 The effect of salinity levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Inpari 35' ('IN 35): germination percentage GP %), shoot length (SL cm), root length (RL cm), hairy root (HR density), root number (RN) and seedling vigor Table 11 The effect of proline levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Chai Nat 1('CNT 1'): germination percentage (GP %), shoot length (SL cm), root length (RL cm), hairy root (HR density), root number (RN) and seedling Table 12 The effect of proline levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Pathum Thani' (PT) germination percentage (GP) (%), shoot length (SL) (cm), root length (RL) (cm), hairy root (HR) (density), root number (RN) and Table 13 The effect of proline levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Inpari 35' (IN 35): germination percentage (GP) (%), shoot length (SL) (cm), root length (RL) (cm), hairy root (HR) (density), root number (RN) and Table 14 The effect of salinity levels on plant height of rice seedlings in variety Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN 35) at 30 days after Table 15 The effect of salinity levels on leaf number of rice seedlings in variety Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN 35) at 30 days after Table 16 The effect of salinity levels on leaf Symptoms of rice seedlings in variety Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN 35) at 30 days after planted......74

Table 17 The effect of proline concentrations and salinity levels on plant heigh
(PH)(cm) of rice seedlings in variety Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1)
and Inpari 35 (IN 35): at 33 days after planted76
Table 18 The effect of proline concentrations and salinity levels on leaves number of
rice seedlings in variety Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1(PT 1) and Inpari 35
(IN 35): at 33 days after planted79
Table 19 The effect of proline concentrations and salinity levels on symptoms (%)
of rice seedlings in variety Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari
35 (IN 35): at 33 days after planted
Table 20 Mean of relative water content (%) of three rice varieties [Chai Nat 1
(CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN 35)] grown under different
salinity levels and received the proline supplementation in different concentration85
Table 21 Mean of Chlorophyll A content (mg/g) of three rice varieties [Chai Nat 1
(CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN 35)] grown under different
salinity levels and received the proline supplementation in different concentration86
Table 22 Mean of Chlorophyll B content (mg/g) of three rice varieties [Chai Nat 1
(CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN 35)] grown under different
salinity levels and received the proline supplementation in different concentration 90
Table 23 Mean of total chlorophyll content (mg/g) of three rice varieties [Chai Nat 1
(CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN 35)] grown under different
salinity levels and received the proline supplementation in different concentration91

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Gel Electrophoresis of P5Cs1(A) (Lane M =100 bp DNA marker) the application of proline and (B) Actin gene (Lane M = 100 bp DNA marker) under normal condition (non-salinity) [0 mM sodium chloride (NaCl)], Lane number 1-12 =PCR products from 1 = V1P0, 2 = V1P1, 3 = V1P2, 4 = V1P3, 5 = V2P0, 6 =V2P1, 7 = V2P2, 8 = V2P3, 9 = V3P0, 10 = V3P1, 11 = V3P2, 12 = V3P3(. Note; V1= Chai Nat 1, V2= Pathum Thani 1, V3= Inpari 35, P0= control, P1= 50 Figure 2 Gel Electrophoresis of P5Cs1(A) (Lane M =100 bp DNA marker) the application of proline and (B) Actin gene (Lane M = 100 bp DNA marker) under 50 mM sodium chloride (NaCl), Lane number 1-12 = PCR products from (1 = V1P0, 2 =V1P1, 3 =V1P2, 4 =V1P3, 5 =V2P0, 6 =V2P1, 7 =V2P2, 8 =V2P3, 9 = V3P0, 10 =V3P1, 11 =V3P2, 12 =V3P3). Note; V1= Chai Nat 1, V2= Pathum Thani 1, V3 = Inpari 35, P0 = control, P1 = 50 mM of proline, P2 = 100 mM of Figure 3 Gel Electrophoresis of P5Cs1 (A) (Lane M = 100 bp DNA marker) the application of proline and (B) Actin gene (Lane M = 100 bp DNA marker) under 100 mM sodium chloride (NaCl), Lane number 1-12 = PCR products from (1 =V1P0, 2 =V1P1, 3 =V1P2, 4 =V1P3, 5 =V2P0, 6 =V2P1, 7 =V2P2, 8 = V2P3, 9 = V3P0, 10 = V3P1, 11 = V3P2, 12 = V3P3). Note; V1 = Chai Nat 1, V2 = V3P3Pathum Thani 1, V3= Inpari 35, P0= control, P1= 50 mM of proline, P2= 100 mM Figure 4 Gel Electrophoresis of P5Cs1 (A) (Lane M = 100 bp DNA marker) the application of proline and (B) Actin gene (Lane M = 100 bp DNA marker) under 150 mM sodium chloride (NaCl), Lane number 1-12 = PCR products from (1 =V1P0. 2 =V1P1. 3 =V1P2. 4 =V1P3. 5 =V2P0. 6 =V2P1. 7 =V2P2. 8 =

V2P3, 9 = V3P0, 10 = V3P1, 11 = V3P2, 12 = V3P3). Note; $V1 = Chai Nat 1$,
V2= Pathum Thani 1, V3= Inpari 35, P0= control, P1= 50 mM of proline, P2=	= 100
mM of proline, P3= 150 mM of proline	96



CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Background and rational

Today's agriculture faces a daunting task of ensuring food security to the increasing human population on this planet (FAO, 2009). A great proportion (more than 60%) of this population depends on rice (Oryza sativa L.) as their staple food. As a food crop, it forms the staple food of more than three billion people accounting for about 50-80% of their daily calorie intake. Rice yields about one third of the total carbohydrate source (Ghosh et al., 2016b). It contributes up to 20 % of the calories consumed by human nutrition worldwide (Muthayya et al., 2014). Therefore, rice production must increase during the coming time in order to keep pace with increasing world population. During 2011-2012, rice production in the world was 718.345 million tons and it was cultivated over an area of 163.463 million hectares (Abdullah et al., 2013). Importance of rice in agricultural crops cannot be ignored as it is the staple food for more than fifty percent population of the world and a big source to cope with the food security issues of the world. So population surpassed 7 billion in late 2011; population is expected to reach 9.3 billion by 2050, and per-capita demand is likely to increase along with income growth (Khush, 2004). Across the scientific literature, global food demand is predicted to increase; 35% to 56% and 100% between 2010 and 2050 (van Dijk et al., 2021). At the same time, growth in food production is slowing (Fischer et al., 2014). Looking towards 2030, to meet the demand for grain and to feed a growing population on the available arable land, it is suggested that annual crop production should be increased to around 580 Mt and that yield should increase by at least 2% annually (Fan et al., 2011). Increasing regional production is already complicated by increasing competition for land resources by non-agricultural sectors and by the deterioration of agri-environments and water resources (Aggarwal et al., 2004). Asia is known as the main rice producer in the world by yielding more than 650 million tons (90% of total rice yield worldwide) grown in 145 million ha land (Das et al., 2015). For this important or rice, the Asian cultivated rice is the first fully sequenced crop genome and is a model crop species. Regardless of which model is correct, the fixation of common domestication alleles in the divergent genomes of cultivars could have been driven by a combined force of artificial and natural selections. Domestication alleles are under strong human selection, while most of the domesticated genome is under selection of environmental conditions to which the wild progenitor was adapted (Sang & Ge, 2007). Although the rice is important, yield growth rates of rice have slowed down notably in many countries and for major commodities. It dropped production from 3.2 percent per year in 1960 to 1.5 percent in 2000 (Alexandratos & Bruinsma, 2012). When, the aggregate income elasticity of demand for global rice consumption is expected to rise from the 441 million metric tons (mmt) consumed in 2010 to about 450 mmt in 2020, before declining to just 360 mmt in 2050. So, climate change really does seem to be upon us, with greatly increased uncertainty about weather patterns and corresponding increases in instability of production. As noted above, instability is a real problem for food security (Timmer, 2010). Therefore, consumption equals production, this means that global production in 2050 must be 60 percent higher than in 2005/2007 (Alexandratos & Bruinsma, 2012). About 85% of the 5.2 million ha of rice land in Northeast region Thailand are under rainfed conditions with a single crop per year and low agricultural productivity (average paddy yield is 1.8 t ha⁻¹). This is mainly the result of the combined effects of low water-holding, infertile coarse-textured soils, and erratic rainfall distribution (Jintrawet, 1995; Somrith, 1997). Notwithstanding, 25% of the households living in this most populated region of the kingdom in Thailand are still engaged in the rainfed lowland rice (RLR) production (OAE, 2005). Cash incomes generated from rainfed lowland rice RLR production are inadequate to meet farmers their basic needs, leading to a relatively high rate of poverty in this region (Naivinit et al., 2010).

Important abiotic stresses such as high salinity, drought, cold, and heat affect plants for survival, biomass production, and yields of staple food crops reaching 70% (Mantri et al., 2012). The effect of salinity (NaCl) on plants is determined not in terms of viability, but in terms of its effect on vegetative growth (Safdar et al., 2019). However, plants have affected by salt stress in two main ways: osmotic stress and ionic toxicity, which affects all major plant processes, including photosynthesis, cellular metabolism, and plant nutrition (Parihar et al., 2015).

In rice, salinity alters the subcellular architect causing plasmolysis, increased cytoplasmic vesiculation, and damage to all types of membranes in the cell (Mishra et al., 2020). Therefore, sustain approaches should be undertaken to minimize the detrimental effects of climate changes on rice plant (Raza et al., 2019). The farmers when rice stand out and lower growing, their fix to promote plant growth is to supplement fertilizer but the problem found is that plants may not be able to use the nutrients from fertilizers. However, it is added more problem such as high cost. In salinity condition, although put high fertilizer, plant cannot up take the nutrient. It is like drough condition, so high cost but low yield and the remain of fertilizer cannot absorbs that it will loss underground of the water it is increase the pollution. So, it is still increasing the problem of climate change because the pollution increased. For this reason, in order to apply any external factors to solve the problem, the physiological problems of plants in those stressful conditions must be understood first. Likewise, when using exogenous plant phytoprotectance agents such as proline, it is necessary to study the physiological effects of salinity factor first.

Objectives

The objectives of this research are to investigate the effect of salinity stress in rice germination and growth at seeding and seedling stages and to investigate effect of proline to alleviate this stress in those stages.

Hypothesis

- 1. Different levels of salinity affect the germination and growth of seedling differently.
- 2. The use of proline can cause changes in both physical, physiological and chemical characteristics at the germination and growth of rice seedling when the rice grown in salty condition.
- 3. Using level concentration proline applying in rice germination and seedling stage will alleviate salinity stress.

CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Salinity Stress

Rice is an important crop accounting for food security of over half the world population; rice is the dominant irrigated crop, accounting for approximately 30 percent of the total irrigated area (Barker et al., 1999). Abiotic stress refers to suboptimal climatic and/or edaphic conditions that adversely affect cellular homeostasis and that ultimately impair growth and fitness (Mickelbart et al., 2015). Water-deficit and salinity are the major abiotic factors that affect rice productivity worldwide. Abiotic stresses can directly or indirectly affect the physiological status of an organism by altering its metabolism, growth and development (Vibhuti et al., 2015). Rice germplasm exhibit variability in their response to these abiotic stresses. Some genotypes possess ability to tolerate extreme drought and salinity stresses, whereas many of them are highly susceptible. This phenotypic variability may be attributed to genetic and epigenetic variations, and different regulatory architecture among them. The study of tolerance/response mechanisms to abiotic stresses has been intensively worked out based on genomics, transcriptomics and proteomics analyses (Garg et al., 2015).

Among the various factors limiting rice yield, salinity is one of the oldest and most serious environmental problems in the world (Joseph et al., 2010). Environmental factors contribute to over 70% of crop yield losses worldwide. Of these drought and salinity, they are the most significant causes of crop yield reduction (Isayenkov & Maathuis, 2019). Soil salinity is one of the key environmental factors that limit crop growth and agricultural productivity throughout the world (Shrivastava & Kumar, 2015).

Salinity affects rice growth in all stages starting from germination to maturity (Khan et al., 2016b). Several physiological pathways, i.e., physiological processes such as photosynthesis, respiration, nitrogen fixation and carbohydrate metabolism have been observed to be affected by high salinity (Soussi et al., 1998; Sudhir & Murthy, 2004a). For starch, it serves as a carbon and energy source for seed germination, seedling establishment and plant growth. Moreover, it is a dominant

factor in crop yield (Chen et al., 2008). Starch is one product in plant affected by salinity stress (Thitisaksakul et al., 2015). The role of an agronomist is, therefore, to manipulate the crop in order to counteract the influence of salt stress, and boost performance even under saline conditions (Shah, 2007). Salinity creates a dilemma for plants; increased levels of inorganic minerals in the environment create osmotic and water stress (Isayenkov & Maathuis, 2019). Seeds and young seedlings are frequently confronted by much higher salinities than vigorously growing plants because germination usually occurs in surface soils which accumulate soluble salts as a result of evaporation and capillary rise of water (Almansouri et al., 2001).

Symptoms of salt stress included a reduction in growth, whitish leaf tip, leaf rolling, drying of leaves and reduction of height seedling in salinized condition. Salinity causes complex interactions among different morphological, physiological and biochemical processes. Salinity may cause oxidative stress due to highly producing of reactive oxygen species (ROS) leading to alteration plant metabolism (Minh et al., 2016). Root and shoot dry weight and biomass were reduced in rice seedling in salinity stress (Hossain et al., 2015). However, soil salinity, particularly due to sodium chloride (NaCl), can be considered as the single most widespread soil toxicity problem that global rice production faces at present (Jamil et al., 2012b).

For salinity, it affects all stages of the growth and development of rice plant and the crop. Salinity sensitivity of rice was studied to determine salinity effects on seedlings and yield components (Zeng & Shannon, 2000b). Salinity affects the rice crop by reducing plant growth measured in terms of biomass production or plant height, thousand grain weight and number of spikes, ultimately leading to grain yield reduction (Reynolds et al., 1999). Salt stress is also known to affect the quality and composition of rice grain by hampering the physiobiochemical processes during the grain filling stage (Razzaq et al., 2020). However, the response to salinity varies with growth stages in plant, concentration of salinity chemicals, and duration of exposure to plant. Increased salinity has diverse effects on the physiology of plants grown in saline conditions and in response to major factors like osmotic stress, ion-specificity, nutritional and hormonal imbalance, and oxidative damage (Hasanuzzaman et al., 2013). Responses to salinity varies with growth stages, concentration and duration of exposure at to salt, high salinity treatment, it caused a decrease in growth rate in all rice the varieties tested (Dionisio-Sese & Tobita, 1998). If an excessive amount of salt enters the plant, the concentration of salt eventually rises to a toxic level in older transpiring leaves causing premature senescence and reduces the photosynthetic leaf area of a plant to a level that cannot sustain growth (Munns, 2002). More than affected to productivity, soil salinity also affected to has always been a global threat to rice production. Salinity affects not only the total yield of rice, but its nutrient quality in rice grain as well (Gupta et al., 2019). Soil salinity causes a decline in plant growth and productivity by inhibiting physiological processes, especially photosynthesis (Sudhir & Murthy, 2004b). However, Salinity affects plant growth during developmental stages and the sensitivity to crops varies from one growth stage to another in rice. In addition, production of rice under saline condition is under pressure because salinity may cause plant demise, growth, and development (Nozulaidi et al., 2015).

Seed germination is the most important stage in a plants life cycle. Water, air, temperature and light are all essential for the seed germination (Brock et al., 1989; Ghosh et al., 2016a). The initial effect of drought on the plants is the poor germination and impaired seedling establishment (Fahad et al., 2017). For many plants, salt stress is more inhibitory during seed germination than at any other stage of growth (Khan et al., 1997a). More than drough stress, seedling stage in rice are affected by salt stress, similar is as the most critical stage for these stresses (Khoshsokhan et al., 2011; Sarker et al., 2014). At lower levels of salinity, it delay germination, whereas higher levels, the final percentage of germinated seeds was reduced (Sedghi et al., 2010). The high osmolarity in the leaf tissues derived from salt stress directly affecting chlorophyll degradation, leading to its application as an efficient indicator of salttolerance or salt-sensitivity [reported in rice var. Khao Dawk Mali (KDML105) and Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1)] (Cha-um et al., 2007). For soil salinity, it is usually causes stunting or even death of seedlings (Dionisio-Sese & Tobita, 1998). It could say that salt stress leads to suppression of plant growth and development at all growth stages. However, depending upon plant species, certain stages such as germination, seedling or flowering stage could be the most critical stages for salts stress (Khoshsokhan et al., 2011; Sarker et al., 2014). Why the study does in seedling stage is important in plant? Because seedling stage is early stage to determine the survival in plant. During

submergences, two important factors influencing rice plant survival are limitations; resulted by gas diffusion under water, and reduced irradiance that impair photosynthesis and efficient utilization of carbohydrates (Ram et al., 2002). However, Salt stress can affect germination and seedling growth either by creating an osmotic pressure (OP) that avert of the water absorption or by the toxic effect of NaCl ions on seed germination (Akbarimoghaddam et al., 2011). Thus, one of the major environmental stress factors which adversely affect on uniform germination is salinity in arid and semi-arid regions (Kumar et al., 2019).

2.2 Chemical substances

Enhanced proline biosynthesis from glutamate was reported is the main contributor for proline accumulation under stress conditions. Which, proline biosynthesis is essentially regulated at the transcription level of Δ^1 -pyrroline-5carboxylate synthetase 1 (P5CS1) encoding the rate-limiting enzyme of the pathway (Naghshbandi et al., 2019).

Proline biosynthesis occurs in the cytosol and in the plastids (like chloroplasts in green tissues) while proline degradation takes place in mitochondria (Trovato et al., 2019). Proline was reported can help and encourage plant growth because it can add protein in the plant cells to survive; response to a wide range of biotic and abiotic stresses (Verbruggen & Hermans, 2008). Proline is the most common endogenous osmolyte accumulated under various abiotic stresses including salinity (El Moukhtari et al., 2020). Therefore, several factors that indicate accumulation occurs in the proline such as ultraviolet radiation, exposed heavy metals, low temperatures, salinity and air deficits. In addition proline acts as the molecular chaperons it is able to maintain the protein integrity and enhancing the activities of different enzymes (Hayat et al., 2012). When applied as an exogenous compound to crops, proline can improve salt tolerance (Chaum & Kirdmanee, 2010). Proline accumulation primarily occurs in response to stresses that cause dehydration of the plant tissue such as drought (low water potential), salinity and freezing (Verslues et al., 2006). Therefore, Proline accumulation has been suggested to contribute to stress tolerance in many ways. It is generally stated that most of the proline that accumulates during hyperosmotic stress arises from increased glutamate synthesis (Verslues & Sharma, 2010). In addition,

8

high and low levels of proline in plant tissue are used to evaluate the tolerance level of varieties to stress (Qayyum et al., 2011). However, exogenous proline inhibited stomatal opening in Vicia faba whereas other amino acids such as histidine, methionine, aspartic acid, glutamic acid, asparagine, and glutamine promoted stomatal opening (Hayat et al., 2012). In a study was shown that proline applied exogenously at a low concentration (e.g., 30 mM) ameliorated the adverse effects of salinity on early seedling growth in rice, whereas at higher concentrations (40-50 mM) proline resulted in toxic effects and poor plant growth (Hayat et al., 2012). Similarly, in salt stressed Oryza sativa, while low concentrations (20-30 mM) of proline were effective in mitigating the adverse effect of 100 mM NaCl on growth, higher concentrations of proline (40 to 50 mM) resulted in growth reduction (Roy et al., 2019a). In addition, in plants, intracellular proline levels have been found to increase by >100-fold during stress (Liang et al., 2013). The role of proline as a free radical scavenger is more important in alleviating stress than its role as a simple osmolyte (Hayat et al., 2012). Therefore, one of the first factors shown to affect proline accumulation is the intensity and duration of light exposure (Ashrafijou et al., 2010). Thus, shoots exposed to levels of 150 mM NaCl produced more proline compared to controls, but the levels of other osmolytes (glycine betaine, choline) did not increase (Zhou et al., 2019). Feedback inhibition of P5CS (the enzyme controlling the rate-limiting step in proline biosynthesis) occurs at proline levels of about 10 mM, yet proline concentrations of up to 150 mM have been reported in leaves of plants undergoing water deficit (Taylor, 1996). Application of 1 mM proline alleviates the negative effect of 400 mM NaCl, but 100 mM proline did not have a significant effect (El Moukhtari et al., 2020).

2.3 Rice growth and development stages

Growth cycle of the rice plant is divided into three stages. These stages are designated as vegetative, reproductive and spikelet filling or ripening (Moldenhauer et al., 2003). Yield potential of rice is formed or defined during these growth stages (Fageria, 2007). The life cycle of rice cultivars in Arkansas ranges from 105 to 145 days from germination to maturity, depending on the variety and the environment (Moldenhauer & Slaton, 2001). If incorporated into existing systems, a crop growth

staging system based on plant morphogenesis, with each stage differentiated from another dichotomously, would facilitate consistent crop growth staging (Counce et al., 2000).

2.3.1 Germination

Seed germination occurs when the seed coat has imbibed adequate water to become soft and elastic. The coleorhiza (the sheath covering the radicle or embryonic primary root) elongates slightly, emerging through the seed coat, allowing the radicle to break through the coleorhiza and become anchored in the soil (Moldenhauer & Slaton, 2001). Seed dormancy and germination, and the onset of inflorescence development typically delimit these three phases. In each phase, numerous events occur sequentially (Itoh et al., 2005). Germination commences with the uptake of water by the dry seed-imbibition-and is completed when a part of the embryo, usually the radicle, extends to penetrate the structures that surround it (Bewley, 1997). Rice seed germination starts after about 4 days will begin with the breakdown of carbohydrates marked by the breakdown of starch reserves contained in endosperm (Murata et al., 1968).

Salt tolerance of rice at the seed germination stage is one of the major determinants for the stable stand establishment in salinity soil (Wang et al., 2011). It is convenient to treat separately the period from imbibition of the seed until seedling emergence from the soil. Although in rice production, it should be emphasized that leaf initiation and tiller development start after the seed is imbibed, proceeds without interruption as the seed emerges from the soil is very important issue (Kirby & Appleyard, 1987).

2.3.2 Vegetative phase

The vegetative growth phase is characterized by active tillering, a gradual increase in plant height and leaf emergence at regular intervals (Fageria, 2007). The length of this phase primarily determines the growth duration of cultivars. Some very-early-maturing cultivars have a shortened vegetative growth phase. While others have both shortened vegetative and reproductive growth phases (Moldenhauer & Slaton, 2001). In almost all plant species, two phase changes are recognized easily by the distinct morphological changes. Morphological changing is occur in plants

from the embryonic phase to the juvenile vegetative phase and from the adult vegetative phase to the reproductive phase (Itoh et al., 1998). The life cycle of higher plants has three mutually distinct developmental stages: the embryogenetic, vegetative, and reproductive stages. The vegetative stage can be further divided into the juvenile and adult phases, which are distinguished by many morphological and physiological (Tanaka et al., 2011).

2.3.3 Reproductive phase

In rice upon transition to reproductive phase, the vegetative apical meristem transforms to an inflorescence meristem. The latter terminates after making six to eight primary branch meristems. Primary branches produce two to four secondary branch meristems and terminate in a spikelet. Secondary branches also produce few spikelets. The branched inflorescence thus generated is called a panicle (Rao et al., 2008). The mature inflorescence of rice has ten or more primary branches that bear approximately 150 spikelets. Two types of inflorescence meristem are recognized: rachis and branch meristems. The rachis meristem forms bracts and branches as lateral organs, and finally aborts (Itoh et al., 2005). Likewise, in the mature inflorescence, a small vestigial protrusion at the base of the highest primary branch was observed, but cannot find a terminal flower of the rachis. Thus in rice, rachis meristem is assumed to abort at an early stage after producing ten or more primary branch primordial (Ikeda et al., 2004). In the reproductive growth stage panicle development takes place, booting and flowering are part of the reproductive growth stage. Panicle size or spikelets per panicle are determined in the reproductive growth stage. Spikelet size or weight is determined during the spikelet filling growth stage (Fageria, 2007).

2.3.4 Ripening phase

Rice is primarily a self-pollinating plant. Because it is usually pollinated before the lemma and palea open to release pollen into the air, crosspollination usually only occurs at a rate of about 1 percent (Moldenhauer & Slaton, 2001). The age of rice plants is 90-120 days, from all genotypes are in the process of flowering; towards the end of the period, all plants are in various stages of grain development and maturation. some leaves begin to age and turn yellow except for the flag leaf which remains green. Therefore, flag leaves were collected for physiological determination when the plants were 120 days old (Kanawapee et al., 2013). It is concluded that grain-yield is impeded by high biomass; or low harvest index at flowering in direct-seeded rice, particularly in long-duration varieties (Dingkuhn et al., 1991; Nawaz et al., 2019).

2.4 Seedling emergence and development

In rice, seedling emergence occurs when the first internode called the mesocotyl has elongated and pushed the tip of the rice coleoptile (epiblast or first sheathing leaf) through the soil surface. However, the length of the mesocotyl varies with cultivars (Moldenhauer & Slaton, 2001). During the seedling stage, the secondary root system or adventitious root, does not develop properly and several unbranched roots emerge to spread in all directions from the base of the coloptoptiles which are parallel to the ground surface (Dunand & Saichuk, 2014). Etiolated rice seedlings exhibited marked morphological differences when grown in sealed containers or in containers through which air was passed continuously (Raskin & Kende, 1983). So, the germinated seedlings were counted at an interval of 24 h for 5 days and the speed of germination of seed was monitored (Mia et al., 2012). Seedling development begins when the primary leaf appears shortly after the coleoptile is exposed to light and splits open at the end (Dunand & Saichuk, 2014). Rice is one of the few plants that can germinate anaerobically through a rapid elongation of coleoptile (Magneschi & Perata, 2009). Several studies have been conducted to explain the effects of external factors such as salinity on rice seedling. From the study by (Pattanagul & Thitisaksakul, 2008), rice seedlings var. Khao Dawk Mali 105 (saltsensitive), Luang Anan (moderately salt-tolerant) and Pokkali (salt-tolerant) were exposed to 0 mM, 50 mM, 100 mM and 150 mM sodium chloride (NaCl) for ten days. The result showed that salinity stress caused reduction in leaf relative water contents in all cultivars. For other study, seeds were placed for germination and the seedlings were allowed to grow rice seeds for ten days at NaCl concentrations of 0 mM, 50 mM, 100 mM, 150 mM and 200 mM. The result showed that NaCl decreased the germination index (GI), speed of germination, seedling height and seedling dry matter weight (Khan et al., 1997a). Comparing among rice stages, there are studies

that concluded that rice is relatively tolerant of salt stress during germination, active tillering and towards maturity, and is sensitive during the early seedling and reproductive stages (Pearson & Bernstein, 1959; Zheng et al., 2001).

2.5 Salinity and its effect to rice production

Global climate change is causing stress on the growth and development of rice plants. Therefore, a sustainable approach is needed to reduce the detrimental caused by climate change in rice plants (Wassmann et al., 2009). Hence, abiotic stresses result in more damage to growth and yield of rice plants compared to the biotic stress factor (Pareek et al., 1999). However, Accurate estimates of agricultural losses in reduced crop production and soil health in terms of agro-ecological disturbances due to abiotic stress cannot be every accurate. It is evident that these stresses affect the land area and significantly impact qualitative and quantitative losses in crop production (Dubey et al., 2019). Therefore, enzyme activity (EA) also has been regarded commonly as indicators of soil health and functionality of microbial communities (Li et al., 2020). Furthermore, microbial communities can function to modify the soil microenvironment such as light, pH, temperature and humidity, waste and root input (Surówka et al., 2020). And then plant microbiome provides fundamental support to the plants in acquiring nutrients, resisting against diseases, and tolerating abiotic stresses (Trivedi, 2021). For abiotic stress, the response can reduce or increase plant susceptibility to biotic stress caused by pests or pathogens (Iqbal et al., 2021). Environmental stresses constrain rice production, affecting about 30% of the 700 million poor in Asia alone, who live in rainfed rice-growing areas. These stresses can be caused by extreme climatic changes like drought, flooding or rising sea levels (Dar et al., 2014). Estimates of the area of salt-affected soils vary widely, ranging from 6% to 10% of earth's land area, and 77 million hectares (Mha) of irrigated lands (Eynard et al., 2005). In addition, salinity is the second major obstacle in reducing rice production after drought conditions. Thus, rice production under saline conditions is under stress because salinity can cause plant death, growth, and development by reducing yields by up to 50% (Bensidhoum et al., 2019).

After prolonged exposure to salt stress for 8-10 days, growth and water content of rice cells were progressively decreased (Summart et al., 2010). Although environmental factors other than high salt concentration may contribute to limit plant growth and yield. The choice of the crop must take into account the specific crop tolerance to both biotic and abiotic factors. However, The selection of plant varieties that have the ability to tolerate salty conditions so that they can overcome total crop failure is one of the priority criteria (Eynard et al., 2005).

For salinity stress, it effects varied along with different growth stages in rice, thus depressed yield grain production (Sakina et al., 2016). Salinity affects both vegetative and reproductive development which has profound implications depending on whether the harvested organ is a stem, leaf, root, shoot, fruit, fiber or grain (Läuchli & Grattan, 2007). Salinity stress give effects to plant growth through the osmotic effect of salt in the growth medium and the toxic effect of salt in plants. (Rahman et al., 2016). Soil salinity, particularly due to NaCl, can be considered as the single most widespread soil toxicity problem that global rice production faces at present (Hong et al., 2007). Some toxic effects of salt stress include decreased germination and seedling growth (Ashraf, 2010; Zeng & Shannon, 2000a). Salinity caused a substantial reduction in carbon assimilation race and stomatal conductance in all cultivars (Dionisio-Sese & Tobita, 2000). Effect of salinity stress suppressed leaf expansion which ultimately reduces photosynthetic (Jamil et al., 2012b).

2.6 The solution of salinity stress for crop

Salinity is a harsh environmental factor that has the major effect on plant quantity and quality (Zhu, 2002). Thus, salt stress affects all the major processes such as germination, growth, photosynthetic pigments and photosynthesis, water relation, nutrient imbalance, oxidative stress, and yield (Parihar et al., 2015). Salinity affects the strength of the forces bringing the complex pigment protein - liquid, in the chloroplast structure (Ali et al., 2004).

Rice is highly sensitive to salinity and its tolerance varies with growth stages. For example, seed germination and seedling growth stages are very sensitive to abiotic stress (Deivanai et al., 2011). Water stress is the evident effects of salinity, therefore, the determination of water contents in plants is critical for the study of plant tolerant efficiency (Parida & Das, 2005; Qasim & Ashraf, 2006). One of the recently gaining practices of counteracting the adverse effects of salinity on plant growth includes the implementation of salt-tolerant bacteria with natural growth promoting ability in such conditions (Etesami & Beattie, 2018). Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria, first defined (Kloepper et al., 1980). That include those bacteria, which, on inoculation into the soil, colonize the roots of plants and enhance plant growth (Chakraborty et al., 2011). So, one of the most frequently utilized is seed priming. The process of seed priming involves prior exposure to an abiotic stress, making a seed more resistant to future exposure. Seed priming stimulates the pre-germination metabolic processes and makes the seed ready for radicle protrusion. It increases the antioxidant system activity and the repair of membranes (Ibrahim, 2016).

The extent by which one mechanism affects the plant over the others depends upon many factors including the species, genotype, plant age, ionic strength and composition of the salinizing solution, and the organ in question (Läuchli & Grattan, 2007). To observe the growth of rice plants in saline soil conditions, transgenic rice plants grown in pots were watered with salt water (100 mM). Control plants started to wilt on continuous pouring with saltwater whereas transgenic plants could resist salt stress after 15 days of continuous irrigation with sodium and chloride (Prashanth et al., 2008). This result showed low tolerant on salinity stress in normal rice varieties.

Improving salt tolerance in plants was possible in different ways: direct selection of tolerant varieties of a species in saline environments or by mapping quantitative trait loci and subsequent use of selection markers or by generation of transgenic plants (Fayyaz, 2008). First of all, the solution of salinity stress should have considered on the condition to set up the salinity stress in rice and parameters for assessment. The establish the relative of osmotic versus ionic components of salt stress in rice is important issue for study (Castillo et al., 2007). For example, further studies are needed with longer stress durations to achieve a higher sodium ion (Na⁺) concentration in plant tissues, and testing in several rice varieties. Several studies indicated that rice is tolerant during germination, becomes very sensitive during vegetative growth stage, becomes sensitive during pollination and fertilization. In final stage, rice becomes increasingly more tolerant at maturity (Pearson et al.,

1966;IRRI, 1967). Hence, to know the response of the rice plant to salinity as a whole, it is imperative that the effects be observed in all the various stages of its development; that is at early seedling, vegetative and reproductive stages (Chapagain et al., 2021).

Under stress conditions, plant cells have the ability to prevent water loss and to maintain the continuous growth is call tolerant ability. Moreover, tolerant plant try to reduce their osmotic potential via increasing mineral ions content and compatible solutes synthesis to better water uptake under salinity (Nemati et al., 2011). Plants commonly react to these stresses by accumulation of compatible solutes, such as proline, in cells which results in the improvement of environmental stress tolerance (Ashraf & Foolad, 2007; Hong et al., 2000; Reddy et al., 1998). These solutes can be accumulated in high concentrations without impairing plant metabolisms under the stress (Chutipaijit et al., 2009b). Proline (Pro) and Trehalose (Tre) function as compatible solutes and are upregulated in plants under abiotic stress. They play an osmoprotective role in physiological responses, enabling the plants to better tolerate the adverse effects of abiotic stress (Nounjan et al., 2012).

2.7 Using salinity tolerance varieties

The problem is exacerbated by the increase of sea water level as the impact of global climate change. High concentration of salt ion in the soil could significantly reduce rice growth and yield (Hairmansis et al., 2017). Through the transfer of genes from organisms that adapt to a stressful environment to plants is an approach in engineering plants that are resistant to stress (Purty et al., 2008). Therefore, genetic variation and differential responses to salinity stress in plants differ in stress tolerance. Hence, making it possible to identify physiological mechanisms, gene sets, and gene products that enhance stress tolerance and incorporate them in suitable species to produce salt-tolerant varieties (Gupta & Huang, 2014).

by using artificial selection and conventional breeding approaches to increase salinity tolerance in a number of potential plants, although molecular biology approaches are currently being intensively pursued to achieve this goal. (Ashraf, 2004). Likewise, using wild species and relatives of crop plants as sources of gene(s) for tolerance to several stresses is gaining importance in terms of sustainable agriculture and for long-standing expression of tolerance to abiotic stresses (Latha et al., 2004).

The condition setting of salinity stress in rice planting was investigated (Hoang, 2015). Swelling and the destruction of the chloroplast ultrastructure including stroma (ST) and stroma lamellae (SL) in PT 1 plants under salt stress may cause photosynthetic inactivation and reduction in photosynthesis (Siringam et al., 2012). Rice plants were acclimatized from tissue culture in the glasshouse at 28/21°C day/night as described (Hoang et al., 2015). Salinity can develop naturally, but where human intervention has disturbed natural ecosystems and changed the hydrology of the landscape, the movement of salts into rivers and onto land has been accelerated. This can dramatically affect natural environment and reduce the viability of agricultural sector (Hoang et al., 2014). Salinity tolerance strategies have utilized three major approaches: (i) conventional breeding, (ii) marker assisted selection and (iii) genetic engineering (Hoang et al., 2015).

Aromatic rice varieties as "Jasmine rice" (KDML105) and Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) are popular lowland varieties in Thailand. These varieties both have a distinctive aroma, delicate flavor, high cooking quality, long grains, high amylose content, and a soft texture. Because of this, they carry high export values (Ariyaphanphitak et al., 2005; Laohakunjit & Kerdchoechuen, 2007). However, their ability to tolerate salinity was reported to differ in these varieties. The physiological responses of KDML105 and Sangyod (SY) varieties showed the better tolerance to salinity than those of PT I and Black Sticky (BS) varieties (Chutipaijit et al., 2009a). In salt stress treatment, the relative water content (RWC) of rice seedlings was decreased when compared to untreated seedlings (Chutipaijit et al., 2009b). In addition, Homjan rice is a local variety that grows well in the salted rice fields near the seashore in the southern region of Thailand. This variety has been used as a resource for osmoregulation defence responses to salt-stress (Cha-um et al., 2007).

The salt tolerance ability of Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) sensitive rice cultivar was tested on the effect of salinity stress and using exogenous sucrose for alleviation. Fourteen-day-old seedlings of PT 1, along with Homjan (HJ), salt-tolerant (positive control), were cultured in MS liquid medium supplemented with 0, 29.2, 58.4- or 116.8-mM sucrose. Then, rice plants were exposed to 0 or 342 mM NaCl. The result

showed that an osmotic potential (Ys) in the leaf tissues of rice seedlings dropped significantly when subjected to 342 mM NaCl. The increase in Ys in the leaf tissues of salt stressed seedlings directly caused damage to the ultrastructure of chloroplast organelles, as well as to photosynthetic pigments i.e. chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll (Siringam et al., 2012). Exogenous sugar application in the culture medium was directly absorbed and enriched in rice seedling. This substance (exogenous sugar) leading to soluble sugar accumulation and played a key role as osmoregulation of salt defence mechanism in rice plant.

Moreover, genetic engineering has been proved to be an efficient approach to the development of salinity-tolerant plants, and this approach will become more powerful as more candidate genes associated with salinity tolerance are identified and widely utilized (Gupta & Huang, 2014).



CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

3.1 Materials and treatments, experiment design and planting practices

3.1.1 Time and Place

The field trials were performed in an experimental field at Faculty of Animal Sciences and Agricultural Technology, Silpakorn University, Phetchaburi Information Technology (IT) campus, Phetchaburi Province, Thailand. The experiments start from January to December 2020.

3.1.2 Weather data during the investigation in Hua-Hin, Prachuap, Khiri Khan province, Thailand

Month/Year	Temperature (⁰ C)		Wind Speed	Relative	Rainfall
	Maximum	Minimum	(km/h)	Humidity (%)	(mm)
June 2020	31	27	12	71	4.13
July 2020	30	26		74	6.54

3.1.3 Genetic materials and factors

Salt tolerance studies were conducted under controlled conditions by using solution and culture in both between germination papers and pots. Three lowland rice varieties were used in this study including Inpari 35 (salt tolerant variety), Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1) (not tolerant variety), and Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) (not tolerant variety). These varieties were selected for assessment either effect of salinity stress or effect of proline to alleviate the stress from salinity. Factors in the study include salinity levels (sodium chloride; NaCl); 0 mM (0 dS/m), 50 mM (5 dS/m), 100 mM (10 dS/m) and 150 mM (15 dS/m) NaCl, and proline levels; 0 mM, 50 mM, 100 mM and 150 mM.

3.2 Experiments, experiment design and planting Experiment 1 : Effect of salinity concentrations on rice germination

The purpose of this experiment was to sow the seed directly into a saline planting condition; it is a stimulation of the cultivation of farmers in some areas. Experimental design used completely randomized design (CRD) for study the effect of 4 salinity levels; 0, 50, 100, and 150 mM of NaCl, with 4 replications. Independent testing was conducted in different rice varieties (CNT 1, PT 1 and Inpari 35). In this experiment, first soak the seeds of three varieties of rice for 1 min with alcohol 70% and wash used normal water after that germinate the seed. One hundred seeds were put on a paper filter wet, rolls by between paper method and arrange in a plastic box; one roll as one replication. Then, maintain the salinity in each level by spraying every day with 100 ml NaCl solution. Seven days after the observation in the experiment should collect data including; germination (score 1 is germinate and 0 is not germinate), measure shoot length (cm), roots length (cm), hair roots (density) just give score (1, 2, 3, 4 and 5) and count roots number.

Experiment 2 :Effect of seed soaking before sowing on rice germination under salt condition

The purpose of this experiment was to sow soaked seed into a saline planting condition, it is a stimulation of the cultivation of farmers in some areas, especially in saline soil stress. Soak the seeds used normal water during 24 hours after that germinated on a wet filter papers with 100 seeds, rolled by between paper method; one roll as one replication. Set up those rolls in the plastic box and keep the salinity in each level. Seven days after the transplantation to germaination paper, characterisitcs were recorded include; germination (score 1 is germinate and 0 is not germinate), measure shoot length (cm), roots length (cm), hair roots (density) just give score (1, 2, 3, 4 and 5) and count roots number.

For this experiment, the data was analysed in two proposes. The first, to analysis for comparing the effect of salinity levels. Experimental design uses CRD for study the effect of 4 salinity levels; 5, 50, 100, and 150 mM of NaCl, with 4

replications. Independent testing was conducted in different rice varieties (CNT 1, PT 1 and Inpari 35).

The second, the data was arranged as 4x2 factorials in CRD with 4 replications. Two factors were four salinity levels; 0, 50, 100, and 150 mM NaCl, and two seed soaking with water; non-soaked and soaked. Independent testing was conducted in different rice varieties (CNT 1, PT 1 and Inpari 35).

Experiment 3 :Testing effect of proline concentrations on germination in rice under salt condition.

The purpose of this study was to know the response in each rice variety to the supplementation of proline; by soaking the seed before planting under salinity conditions which conducted by using NaCl concentrations. The experiment was arranged as 4x2 factorials in CRD with 4 replications. Two factors were four proline concentrations; 0, 50, 100 and 150 mM proline, and two salinity levels; 0 and 150 mM NaCl. Independent testing was conducted in different rice varieties; CNT 1, PT 1 and Inpari 35. In step make the germinated seeds, seeds were soaking with normal water for 18 hours and soak with each proline concentration about 6 hours before sowing. Each roll of between germination paper carried 100 seeds per roll, and keep in plastic box. Subsequently, they were kept the salinity level by spraying the roll with each treatment of salinity level. In spraying ordinary water and saline solution with different frequencies according to the treatment, spraying on this germination section with 100 ml solution was done once a day. This was to keep the seeds from getting 1282 too moist.

Experiment 4: Testing effect of proline concentrations on RNA and chemicals content in rice seedling under salt condition.

In this experiment to measure chemical content of rice plant received the proline supplementation in seedling stage when it was grown under salty condition. The experiment was arranged as 4x4x3 factorials in CRD with 3 replications. Three factors consist four levels of salinity (0, 50, 100 and 150 mM NaCl), four levels of proline (0, 50, 100 and 150 mM proline) and three wetland rice varieties (CNT 1, PT 1 and Inpari 35).

Seeds from the three varieties was rinsed with tap water and soaked with nil water for 24 hours and keep moist during 24 h. After germination, the seeds were planted in a set plot in the field, each pot is planted with 10 germinated seeds; 12 pots per one replication. During the nursery stage will pour salinity or nil water after 2 weeks at two times a week in accordance with the recommended salinity concentration with 100 ml solution (58.44 g/mm). At three after planting in pots, proline solutions were sprayed depend on each treatment with 100 ml solution (115.13 g/mm). Three days after proline spraying, sample both of leaf and stem of plant; without root for ribonucleic acid (RNA) and chemical contents measurement were collected. After that, RNA and chemical analysis were conducted in laboratory.

3.3 Chemical determination

3.2.1 Chlorophyll content

The method involves the estimation of plant pigments without soften by soaking Leaves were washed with double distilled water (DDW) and chopped. 100 mg of chopped leaf material was taken in vials in triplicates and 10 ml of dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) was added to each vial (Jabeen & Baba, 2018). 100 mg of finely chopped fresh leaves were placed in a 25 cm3 capped measuring tube containing 25 cm3 of 80 % acetone, and kept inside a refrigerator (4°C) for 28 h (Kral et al., 2021). Chlorophyll amount was determined spectrophotometrically following Porra (2002) (Panda et al., 2006).

Collected samples of plant and measured the fresh weight and dry weight in the incubator. Measured the dry weight (100 mg) of each sample and placed in vial containing 10 mL DMSO and then mixed by vortex 5 min and incubated at 65°C for 30 min (in the dark). Furthermore, centrifuged the samples for 5 min at 3000 rpm, then transferred the supernatant to a new vial. Transferred 1 mL of supernatant to a cuvette, calibrated spectrophotometer by using DMSO as reference at 645 and 663 nm and recorded. Calculated the chlorophyll content by the following formula (Zhuo et al., 2021). Chlorophyll A (mg/g) = [12.7(A663)-2.69(A645)]V/(1000xW)Chlorophyll B (mg/g) = [22.9(A645]-4.68(A633)]V/(1000xW)Total Chlorophyll (mg/g) = [20.2(A645)+8.02(A663)]V/(1000xW)

3.2.2 The relative water content

The relative water content (RWC) was described by Slatyer (1967) is a useful indicator of the state of water balance of a plant essentially; because it expresses the absolute amount of water, which the plant requires to reach artificial full saturation. Thus, there are a relationship between RWC and water potential. The RWC express the water content in percent at a given time as related to the water content at full turgor. The formula of RWC in this study showed as below:



Estimate samples $-3(v) \times 4(s) \times 4(c) \times 3(r) = 144$ samples. Collected 5 leaves from well-grown plants and measure the fresh weight. Placed the sample inside plastic jars filled with water to saturate the leaves and then stored for 6–9 h. After that, measure the turgid weight continue to oven-dried for 48 h at 50-60°C and measure the dry weight (Olivero Lora, 2011).

3.4 Collect data in laboratory and green house

The rice seeds germination in Experiment 1-3 was set up in the laboratory and Experiment 4 was set up in the greenhouse (seedlings stage). In Experiment 1-3, data has been collected include: germination score (0 is not germinate and 1 is germinate), measure shoot length (cm), roots length (cm); hair roots (density) just give score (1, 2, 3, 4 and 5) and count roots number. In Experiment 4, growth of seedlings was measured in terms of new leaf (count), height plant (cm) and leaf burn give the score (1, 3, 5,7and 9), count total plants/plastic pot, fresh weight (g), dry weight (g).
3.3.1 .New leave and burned leave

In measuring new leaves from rice plants was count the new leaf and can be used to measure the symptoms of the leaves from sample plants and then writing the data. The tolerance ability was scored according the standard evaluation system reported by Gregoria et al. (1997) showed (Table 1).

 Table 1 Standard evaluation system of visible salt damage in rice at the seedling stage

Score	Observation	Tolerance
1	Normal growth, no leaf symptoms	Highly tolerant
3	Nearly normal growth with some leaves and tips whitish and rolled	Tolerant
5	Growth severely retarded with most leaves rolled and only a few elongated	Moderately tolerant
7	Complete growth arrest with most of the leaves dried and some plants dead	susceptible
9	Almost all plants dead or dying	Highly susceptible
Referenc	e: (Gregoria et al., 1997)	

3.3.2 Shoot length (cm)

To measure the shoot length of rice seedling, do it by placing the ruler on the rice paddy and pulling the shoot carefully to the tip of the leaf. Take measurements on the seventh day on germination while the seedling stage was carried out at one week intervals for a month and then writing the data.

3.3.3 Root length (cm)

Length of the roots was measured from the base of the stem until the end of root. Measurements were performed on the sample plants expressed in cm units (Delory et al., 2017). In conducting measurements of the length of the roots done on the seventh day after the observation by taking each seedling by putting it near the ruler then pull from the root base until the end of roots.

3.3.4 Hairy roots (density scores)

Hair roots (density) was observed that hair roots and just give score (1, 2, 3, 4 and 5) it was mean that 1 = 20%, 2 = 40%, 3 = 60%, 4 = 80% and 5 = 90-100%. With the primary root produces 40%, 60%, and 80% longer hair and also the root hair density on different root types are similar (Nestler et al., 2016).

3.3.5 Plants height (cm)

Plant height measurements were carried out before pouring the second time salinity on the plants; this is done by placing a ruler near the base of the plants then pulling the leaves to the tips of the leaves.

3.3.6 Number of leaves

In calculating, the number of leaves in plants carried out simultaneously with the measurement of plant height by counting the leaves that exists in each plant and then record data.

3.3.7 Fresh weight and dry weight (g)

For measurement of fresh weight and dry weight was done after all the plants were taken. Then, weighed by taking samples of existing plants and then weighing with analytical scales that have been provided in the laboratory. For dry weight, it carried out after samples plants were put into a hit oven for 48 h at a temperature of 70°C then weighed each sample plants and then record data.

3.5 Ribonucleic acid (RNA) assessing

RNA extraction Total RNA from 100 mg fresh rice seedlings were extracted using the Plant Total RNA Mini Kit (Geneaid Biotech Ltd., Taiwan) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Rice samples were homogenized by grinding with micropestle, added 500 μ l RB Buffer and 5 μ l of β -mercaptoethanol. The sample mixtures were incubated at 60 °C for 5 min and transferred to the Filter Column. Then, column was centrifuged and the clarified filtrate was collected to a new 1.5 ml centrifuge tube. Next, 250 μ l absolute ethanol was applied to filtrate, followed by vigorous shaking. The mixture was transferred to RB column and centrifuged. The flow-through was discarded, and 500 μ l W1 buffer was added to the RB column. After centrifuge, the RB column was washed twice with 600 μ l of Wash Buffer and eluted using 50 μ l of RNase-free Water. The total extracted RNA was quantified with a Nanodrop spectrophotometer (OD260/280) prior cDNA synthesis.

3.6 RT-PCR

The rice cDNA was synthesized from 1 μ g of total RNA using iScriptTM cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA). The reaction consists of 5x iScript Reaction Mix, iScript Reverse Transcriptase (RT), Nuclease-free water, and RNA template. After incubation, the cDNA was amplified by PCR (polymerase chain reaction). This study was done using gene specific primer OsP5CS1_F:5'-AAGGTGGGCACTGCAGTTGT-3 and OsP5CS1_R:5'- CCTTAACCT GCTCGCACAGA-3'.

The PCR reaction mixtures consist of 1x Ultra-pure Taq PCR master mix (1 U of Ultra-pure Taq polymerase, 2 mM MgCl2 and 200 μ M of each dNTPs) (Geneaid Biotech Ltd., Taiwan), 0.8 μ M of each primer, and 1 μ l of cDNA template. The PCR cycle conditions were performed in the thermocycler (Biometra® T-gradient Thermoblock Thermal Cycler, Germany) with the initial denaturation at 94°C for 5 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 s, annealing at 55°C for 30 s, and extension at 72°C for 1 min. After final extension at 72°C for 7 min, the PCR products were cooled down to 20°C. The PCR products were determined on 1.5% agarose gel electrophoresis.

3.7 Statistical analysis

The analysis of all experiments (Experiment 1-4), use analysis of variance testing according to the expimental designed. For significant different at 5%, Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) will be used to compare the mean value among treatments. All data were analyzed by R-Program (Team, 2017).

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Effect of salinity concentrations on rice germination

4.1.1 Effect of salinity level in CNT 1

The results of statistical analysis of CNT 1 showed salinity was nonsignificant different effect on percent germination both at 9 and 16 days after sowing between germination papers (Table 1). Percent of germination ranged between 86.5-92 % and between 88.5-90.5 % at 9 and 16 days after sowing, respectively. However, high concentration of salt was reported to reduce the water potential in the medium, which hinders water absorption by germinating seeds, and thus reduces germination (Patanè et al., 2013).

On both 9 and 16 days after sowing, other seedling characteristics, excepted root length, showed significant difference between salinity levels (Table 1). The shoot length of control treatment (0 mM and 50 mM) had higher values than the seedling in treatments of 100 mM and 150 mM NaCl on both 9 and 16 days after sowing. This result showed adverse effect of salinity on the growth of rice seedling. Seedling shoot is the important plant tissue in this stage because it directly affect photosynthesis ability (Sharma et al., 2020a). Root and shoot length provides an important clue to the response of plants to salt stress (Ratnakar & Rai, 2013).

For root-related characteristics, only hairy root density (scoring and root number per seedling were found to be different between salinity levels (Table 1). There was non-significance between 0 mM and 50 mM NaCl for hairy root (density score) and between 0 mM -100 mM NaCl for root number at 9 days after sowing. Seedling vigor was non-significance between 0 mM-100 mM at 9 days and between 0 mM-50 mM at 16 days after sowing (Table 2). The vigor index of the seedling was used to assess both the germination ability and the growth performance of the seedling in unsuitable growing conditions, or used as phytotoxicity index from various toxic stresses (Zhao et al., 2016). However, the formula of seedling vigor index may differ between literature, employing different characteristics into

calculation. Some studies use only the length of shoot, while the others combine shoot length together with the root length to multiply with germination percentage (Hossain et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2016). Both root length and shoot length in rice were decreased when grown under salinity stress as well (Kakar et al., 2019b). For this reason, both root length and shoot length was used for calculation of the seedling vigor index in this study.



(%), shoo	
germination sowing	
' (CNT 1): { 16 days after	
, 'Chai Nat 1 lex at 9 and	
igs in variety ags vigor inc	
f rice seedlin r and seedlin	
acteristics of root numbe	
n some char, ot (density),	
nity levels or em), hairy ro	
ffect of sali oot length (c	
Fable 2 The 6 ength (cm), r	

•	sowing
è	atter
-	days
	Ľ L
1	\triangleleft

Salinity	Germination (%)	Shoot Length (cm)	Root Length (cm)	Hairy Root (densitv)	Root Number	Seedlings vigor index
	7					
0 mM	91.5 ± 0.7	1.75 ± 0.08 ab	3.84 ± 0.77	3.18 ± 0.27 a	$3.47 \pm 0.75 \text{ a}$	$512 \pm 41 \text{ ab}$
50 mM	92.0 ± 4.2	$2.21 \pm 0.14 a$	5.53 ± 0.77	$3.00 \pm 0.04 a$	4.10 ± 0.18 a	710 ± 25 a
100 mM	89.5 ± 2.1C	$1.52\pm0.36\mathrm{b}$	5.01 ± 0.83	1.99 ± 0.07 b	$2.73 \pm 0.59 a$	$586 \pm 60 a$
150 mM	86.5 ± 0.7	$0.74 \pm 0.13 c$	2.72 ± 0.37	$1.09 \pm 0.02 c$	$1.17 \pm 0.13 \text{ b}$	$299 \pm 20 c$
Mean	6.68	1.55	4.28	2.31	2.87	526.7
P-value, F-test	0.24 ns	0.0089 **	0.054 ns	0.000356 **	0.0152 *	0.0279 *
CV (%)	2.7	13.24	16.57	6.1	17.16	15.11

pD
.
5
5
Š
H
e
Æ
5
$\mathbf{\tilde{s}}$
1
4

Salinity	Germination (%)	Shoot Length (cm)	Root Length (cm)	Hairy Root (density)	Root Number	Seedlings vigor index
0 mM	90.5 ± 3.5	3.35 ± 0.07 a	6.25 ± 0.49	3.40 ± 0.42 a	$4.40 \pm 0.42 a$	873 ± 36 ab
50 mM	90.5 ± 4.9	3.55 ± 0.92 a	6.15 ± 1.06	$2.05 \pm 0.35 \text{ b}$	2.95 ± 0.92 b	874 ± 14 a
100 mM	87.5 ± 2.1 G	$2.00\pm0.14~\mathrm{b}$	6.20 ± 0.42	$1.70 \pm 0.14 \text{ b}$	$2.20\pm0.00~bc$	$718 \pm 30 \text{ b}$
150 mM	88.5 ± 2.1 6	1.25 ± 0.07 b	4.45 ± 0.49	1.80 ± 0.14 b	$1.35\pm0.21c$	$506 \pm 22 c$
Mean	89.3	2:54	5:16	2.24	2.73	742.9
P-value, F-test	0.767 ns	0.0209 *	0.133 ns	0.013 *	0.0168 *	0.0075 **
CV (%)	3.8	18.43	11.63	13.13	19	7.5
Note : $CV = coefficients$ at 0.05 level of probal	ent of variation, *, = oility, Different lowe	<pre>= **significant differ er-case letters (a, b, c</pre>	ence at 0.05 and 0.0 : () = significance at (11 levels of probabil 0.05 level of probabi	ity, ns =non-signific lity	cant difference

Differently, the varies concentration of NaCl showed different effect on these characteristics: hairy root (density) score, root number seedling vigor index at 9 and 16 days after sowing. Thus, the duration of salinity stress also influences the effect on seedling performance, since the severe effect was observed at a longer period of salinity stress exposure. Effect of period that plant faced the salinity stress also has been reported in rice seedlings (Negrão et al., 2017). The higher negative effect in plant growth characteristics caused by NaCl accumulation and more toxic occurrence was observed in plant experienced the salinity stress in a long period. The roots are the first tissue affected by salinity, resulting in inhibition of nutrient uptake. The secondary effects are on physiology and morphology of seedling, which can be utilized for stress evaluation (Kakar et al., 2019a). Longer period of salinity stress can reduce plant growth and formation of root and hairy root (Chandra et al., 2007). Reduced root hair density can indicate the reduction in root length, and diameter of individual root hairs; that greatly determines the total root surface area.

Root length is the only parameter that was not significant different between salinity levels, both at 9 and 16 days after sowing (Table 2). Actually, the response of root length was reported under abiotic stress conditions including drought and salinity stresses. Both drought and salinity stresses are effects to limit water and nutrient available in plants. For example, plants tend to respond to drought stress by extending the root length, especially when plants experience insufficient water supply or excessive transpiration (Anjum et al., 2011). However, the response of the plant shows a tolerance that is limited under the stress levels the plant can tolerate. The susceptibility of plants to abiotic stress; drought, or salinity stresses, varies in dependence on stress degree, accompanying stress factors, plant species, and their developmental stages (Demirevska et al., 2009; Anjum et al., 2011). Salt stress affects plant physiology at both whole plant and cellular levels through osmotic and ionic stress, resulting in inefficient use of water by root system (Sudhir & Murthy, 2004a). Other processes involving plant growth, such as photosynthesis, ion regulation and water relations, are certainly influenced by salinity stress (Shaheen et al., 2013). It could be said that CNT 1 can exhibit salinity tolerance in response to maintaining root length under stress; to maintain the water and food availability of the roots. For this reason, using only root length may not be able to effectively identify the effect of

salinity stress condition on plant. Still, other measured characteristics of rice seedling in this study showed reduction according to salinity stress on both at 9 and 16 days after sowing. Hence, the salt stress response of rice seedling needs to be observed from multiple parameters. Despite the non-significant result for the root length in CNT 1, rice is generally regard as an especially salt-sensitive crop by various studies (Shereen et al., 2005).

4.1.2 Effect of salinity level in PT 1

PT 1 showed no significant difference on germination percentage effected by salinity levels both at 9 days (ranged between 94.5-97.5 %) and 16 days (ranged between 93.5-98.5%) after sowing in between germination papers (Table 3).

Significant difference was observed on shoot length both at 9 and 16 days after sowing (Table 3). However, the severe effect of salinity stress seems found at 150 mM NaCl at 9 and 16 days after sowing. The effects of salinity on plants are caused by the osmotic effect and resulted to lowering water potential, and reducing water uptake by the root at high concentrations of salt are accumulated in soil. Furthermore, salinity reduces photosynthetic rate and photosynthetic pigments leading to a reduction in the plant growth and survival (Jamil et al., 2012a; Khunpona et al., 2017).

For root-related characteristics showed varies between two dates; at 9 and 16 days after sowing. Which, root length and root number per seedling was significant difference only at 9 days after sowing (Table 3). Decreased root length at higher salinity stress was observed at 150 mM NaCl. For root length, it is one of the most important characters for salt stress because roots are in contact with soil and absorb water from soil (Kaya et al., 2003). Seedling vigor index showed similar effect of water salinity to root length and shoot length at 9 and 16 days after sowing, respectively (Table 2). The results were consistent for both periods: 9 and 16 days after sowing; the highest water salinity (150 mM NaCl) affected the vigor index of seedling, compared to nil water at 0 mM NaCl during the germination.

There was no significant difference effected by salinity level on hairy root (density) score both at 9 and 16 days after sowing (Table 3). However, at 9 days after sowing, the root length and root number were decreasing while the concentration of

NaCl was increasing (Table 2). The response observed on seedling characteristics seems difference between CNT 1 and PT 1 may dominate by influence of plant genetic. High salt concentrations cause various events that negatively effect on plant growth such as an impact inhibition of enzymatic activities (Gengmao et al., 2015). At high Na⁺ concentrations in the cortical cells and cortical cell walls of root can result in a decrease in cell turgor and root growth (Munns, 2002). That, it is reflect the point of strong stress for root characteristics.



Table 3 Effect of salinity levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Pathum Thani 1' (PT 1) :germination (%), shoot length (cm), root length (cm), hairy root (density), root number and seedlings vigor index at 9 and 16 days after sowing

•	Sowing
č	atter
-	days
¢	Σ
-	At

At y days atter sow	Ing	ξ				
Salinity	Germination (%)	Shoot Length (cm)	Root Length (cm)	Hairy Root (density)	Root Number	Seedlings vigor index
0 mM	97.5 ± 0.7	2.70 ± 0.00 a	4.95 ± 0.35 a	2.70 ± 0.42	3.70 ± 0.56 a	693 ± 31 a
50 mM	96.0 ± 1.4 Ľ	$1.90 \pm 0.14 \text{ b}$	$3.95 \pm 0.35 \text{ ab}$	2.75 ± 0.35	2.90 ± 0.42 ab	557 ± 14 a
100 mM	96.0 ± 0.0	$1.65 \pm 0.49 b$	4.90 ±0.99 a	2.35 ± 0.21	$2.60 \pm 0.14 \text{ b}$	637 ± 72 a
150 mM	94.5 ± 0.7	$0.65\pm0.07\mathrm{c}$	2.65 ± 0.21 b	2.10 ± 0.28	$1.45 \pm 0.21 \text{ c}$	$304 \pm 70 \text{ b}$
Mean	96	1.73	4.11	2.48	2.66	545.5
P-value, F-test	0.107 ns	0.00646 **	0.0424 *	0.295 ns	0.0173 *	0.0315 *
CV (%)	6.0	15.06	13.73	13.25	14.11	14.93

sowing
after
days
16

Salinity	Germination (%)	Shoot Length (cm)	Root Length (cm)	Hairy Root (density)	Root Number	Seedlings vigor index
0 mM	98.5 ± 2.1	3.10 ± 0.42 a	5.10 ± 0.99	2.70 ± 0.14	2.75 ± 0.35	805 ± 61 a
$50 \mathrm{mM}$	97.5 ± 0.7	$3.15\pm0.64a$	6.45 ± 0.35	2.20 ± 0.42	2.20 ± 0.42	937 ± 42 a
100 mM	96.5 ± 2.1C	3.10 ± 0.00 a	6.25 ± 0.64	2.35 ± 0.07	2.50 ± 0.42	901 ± 23 a
150 mM	93.5 ± 4.9	$1.33\pm0.10\mathrm{b}$	4.05 ± 0.36	2.20 ± 0.15	2.15 ± 0.07	$503 \pm 40 \text{ b}$
Mean	96.5	2.67	5:46	2.36	2.4	786.6
P-value, F-test	0.447 ns	0.022 *	0.0572 ns	0.259 ns	0.395 ns	0.0160 *
CV (%)	3.02	14.44	11.71	10.09	14.58	9.86
Note: CV = coefficier 0.05 level of probabili	tt of variation, *, = ty, Different lower-	<pre>**significant differer case letters (a, b, c) =</pre>	nce at 0.05 and 0.01 significance at 0.0	levels of probabili 5 level of probabili	ty, ns = non signifi ty.	cant difference at

4.1.3 Effect of salinity level in Inpari 35

Inpari 35 showed significant difference in four characteristics at 9 days after sowing, namely shoot length, hairy root (density) score, root number, and seedling vigor index (Table 4 upper). Germination percentage and root length were not significant different between salinity levels, with range values between 97-985 % and 3.25-5 cm, respectively. Inpari 35 was reported as more tolerant of salinity stress at seedling stage (Subekti et al., 2020a).

At 9 days after sowing, all of the significant different characteristics are affected by increasing salinity levels. All of these characteristics; excepted seedling vigor, showed decreasing values since 100 mM, for seedling vigor index showed reducing on value at 150 mM. at 9 days after sowing but was not significantly different among concentrations of NaCl at 16 days after sowing .Increased salinity can lead to clogging of soil. Which, at high salt levels potentially disturb the roots in nutrient uptake and damage the soil structure (Subekti et al., 2020b). Nevertheless, when considering the mean of six characteristics at 16 days after sowing, only hariy root density showed significant difference affected by salinity level. The reduction of hairy root density was clearly reduction at 50 mM NaCl. For this reason, seed vigor index was not significant different because this characteristic came from the multiply between germination percentage and the value resulting from the addition between shoot and root length.

However, the high variance in this study period (at 16 days after sowing) may result in the mean of treatments were not significant different even though many of the traits found to differ among values including shoot length, root length, root number and seedlings vigor index (Table 4 lower).

In this experiment first soak the seeds with normal water only for 1 min, however all rice varieties were found the germination in high percentages in all salinity levels (Table 2-4). It might be concluded that in viable and healthy seeds, although sowing in salty stress condition, it stills germination. However, plant survial under salinity stress not only obserb on percent of germination, the characteritics that makes plant can absorb or uptake the nutrient and for phytosisthetic ability should to concern in next step. However, plants' survival under salinity stresses not only observe on the percent of germination, the characteristics that make plant can absorb or uptake the nutrient and for photosynthetic ability should to concern in next step as well. Thus, the length of the shoot and the root characteristics which relate to photosynthesis and water and nutrient absorption need to be evaluated.



Table 4 The effect of salinity levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Inpari 35 :'germination (%), shoot length (cm), root length (cm), hairy root (density), root number and seedlings vigor index at 9 and 16 days after sowing

At 9 days after sowing

AL 7 UAYS AILET SOM	â	Ę				
Salinity	Germination (%)	Shoot Length (cm)	Root Length (cm)	Hairy Root (density)	Root Number	Seedlings vigor index
0 mM	98.5 ± 0.7	$3.50\pm0.00\mathrm{a}$	4.85 ± 0.21	3.15 ± 0.21 a	3.75 ± 0.78 a	780 ± 29 a
50 mM	98.0 ± 0.0	$3.10\pm0.42\mathrm{a}$	4.60 ± 0.42	$2.90 \pm 0.14 \text{ a}$	3.45 ± 0.21 a	740 ± 34 a
100 mM	98.0 ± 00	$2.25\pm0.35~\mathrm{b}$	5.00 ± 0.99	$2.35 \pm 0.07 b$	$2.05 \pm 0.07 \text{ b}$	717 ± 72 a
150 mM	97.0 ± 0.0	$1.25 \pm 0.07 c$	3.25 ± 0.07	2.05 ± 0.07 b	$1.65 \pm 0.35 \text{ b}$	$422 \pm 20 b$
Mean	97.9	2.53	4.43	2.61	2.73	664.8
P-value, F-test	0.053 ns	0.004 **	0.098 ns	0.004 **	0.022 *	0.046 *
CV (%)	0.36	11.03	12.43	5.25	16.21	13.2

sowing
after
days
16
At

Salinity	Germination (%)	Shoot Length (cm)	Root Length (cm)	Hairy Root (density)	Root Number	Seedlings vigor index
0 mM	98.5 ± 0.7	4.35 ± 0.64	7.25 ± 1.20	$3.65 \pm 0.21 a$	3.85 ± 0.78	1134 ± 102
$50 \mathrm{mM}$	97.5 ± 0.7	3.75 ± 0.35	6.25 ± 0.21	$2.90 \pm 0.28 b$	2.90 ± 0.57	970 ± 29
100 mM	97 .0 ± 0.0 6	3.15 ± 0.64	6.30 ± 1.27	$2.65 \pm 0.21 \text{ b}$	3.20 ± 0.42	928 ± 87
150 mM	97. 0 ± 0. 7	2.30 ± 0.57	4.45 ± 0.35	$2.50\pm0.14~\mathrm{b}$	2.20 ± 0.28	663 ± 46
Mean	97.5	3.39	6.06	2.93	3.04	923.9
P-value, F-test	0.107 ns	0.080 ns	0.135 ns	0.021 *	0.147 ns	0.124 ns
CV (%)	0.51	16.54	14.83	7.45	17.92	15.76
Noto NO 101		**fice	0 U U U U U U U U U U U U U U U U U U U	1 lovel of another		innt difforment

Note :CV =coefficient of variation, *, = **significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of probability, ns = non-significant difference at 0.05 level of probability. Different lower-case letter (a, b, c) = significance at 0.05 level of probability.

39

All germination characteristics of rice seedling of CNT 1, PT 1, and Inpari 35 in this study demonstrated the negative effect of salinity stress, except germination percentage. Salinity has been reported to negatively affect rice seed germination from the effect of osmotic stress and ionic toxicity on seeds (Tahjib-Ul-Arif et al., 2018). Na^+ and Cl^- are the two ions most frequently implicated with toxicity in plants, because both are highly water soluble, readily taken-up, and transported to the shoots in the transpiration stream (Rahman & MacNee, 2000). This can result in limitation of water absorption and germination process (Zhang et al., 2010). Seed priming is a common seed treatment to reduce the time between seed sowing and seedling emergence and increase the synchronization of emergence (Parera & Cantliffe, 1994). Priming treatments not only improve the germination rate and time, but also enhance the seedling vigour. These tests in CNT 1, PT 1, and Inpari 35 were not significantly different in germination percentage, although soaking the seed only a short time at 1 min. Thus, for living seed, having water even in salty conditions, seed can germinate, but surviving in salty conditions is important. Nevertheless, short period of seedling germination and homogenous emergence of seedling can effectively help young crops compete with weed in the Field (Farooq et al., 2019). The only non-significant difference was observed in germination percentage of all rice varieties namely variety CNT 1 mean value 89.9 %, PT 1 (96 %) and Inpari 35 (97.9 %) on germination. This parameter is likely less affected by salinity stress. While, the effects of salinity can be found even in young seedling(Jalil et al., 2018). This experiment could demonstrate a way to support rice growth in saline soil, especially when sowing is the main planting technique in the field. Generally, sowing introduces germinating seeds into large rice field, hence the growth of seedling experienced saline condition can be difficult to manage afterward. Soaking rice seeds with IAA solution can solve such problem since the seedling are pre-treated before sowing, ensuring the maximum growth in stress condition. For other traits relate to seedling growth; both above- and underground parts showed effect by salinity level increasing. However, CNT 1 and Inpari 35 seem more tolerance ability from salinity than PT 1 because most of the traits were decreased at 100 mM NaCl. While NaCl at 50 mM was recorded in PT 1 showed decreasing values in most of the traits.

4.2 Experiment 2 :Effect of seed soaking before sowing on rice germination under salt condition

I. Analysis for comparing the effect of salinity levels

The objective experiment two was the soaking the seed for 24 hours before sowing seeds because nowaday rice sowing is used by manual labor and the use of machinery to save labor instread of transplanting. Soaking the seeds with normal water first may help prepare them for germination instead of having to face germination under saline conditons in field.

4.2.1 Effect of salinity level in CNT 1 (Chai Nat 1)

The result of the CNI 1 statistical analysis showed that the salinity had no significant effect on the percent of germination at 7 days after planting (Table 4). On the other hand, the average percentage of germination is (91.4%). Susceptibility of rice to alinity stress varies depended on many variables such as varieties of rice, charaterisitcs and the stage of plant development (Zeng et al., 2001). Significant difference was observed on shoot length, root length, hairy root, root number and vigor index in CNT 1 variety. Although between 5 caracteristic has different results affected by different levels of salinity. There was a significant decrease in value at 100 mM NaCl, except shoot length was found at 150 mM NaCl (Table 5). Compared these results in CNT 1 with testing of not soaking the seeds with normal water before sowing. At about one week after sowing, the seedling of soaking the seed with normal water for 24 hours (at 100 mM NaCl) showed effected of salinity stress was observed at a higher level than not soaking seed at (150 mM NaCl) (Table 2 and 5). However, not much change in the effect of salinity level on two root traits (Table 2 and 5). The higher values of seedling vigor index were observed in all treatments of salinity levels compared with not soaking the seed. Therefore, seed soaking even did not increase germination but increased shoot growth, meaning increased photosynthesitc capacity.

About one week after sowing the seeds, it was found that pre-soaking the seeds by normal water results in an increase in seedling characteristics including shoot length, root length, and seedling vigor index; compared to not seed soaking overnight (Table 2 and Table 5). However, experiment 1 and 2, the change in salinity level

effected decreased values in the root characteristics was not greatly difference (effected by seed soaking). Meaning, the soaking may only clearly promote growth of seedling for a short time. In other words, finding other methods to promote seedling growth or mitigate salinity damage in the field is important to find futher. At low concentrations, salt suppresses plant growth and at higher concentration can cause death (Peel et al., 2004). Some toxic effects of salt stress include decreased germination and seedling growth (Jamil et al., 2012b). Growth suppression is generally related to the total concentration of soluble salts or osmotic potential of the root media (Maas, 1993). Hence, hairy root cultures can reach very high densities and can produce significant levels of secondary metabolites of plant (Souret et al., 2003). However, in CNT 1, all three characteristics including root length, hairy root (density), and root number showed decreasing value; compared with control treatment, start at 100 mM NaCl.



Salinity	Germination (%)	Shoot Length(cm)	Root Length (cm)	Hair Root (density)	Root number	Seedlings vigor index
0 mM	92.8 ± 6.8	4.53 ± 0.72 a	$7.20 \pm 0.54 \text{ b}$	3.40 ± 0.34 a	3.65 ± 0.47 a	$1,095 \pm 170 \text{ ab}$
50 mM	91.8 ± 5.5	4.28 ± 0.43 a	9.85 ± 1.53 a	2.90 ± 0.33 a	3.78 ± 0.52 a	$1,300 \pm 240 \text{ a}$
100 mM	91.5 ± 3.1	3.88 ± 0.75 a	$7.15 \pm 0.87 \text{ b}$	2.15 ± 0.42 b	$2.65 \pm 0.34 \text{ b}$	$1,008\pm149~\mathrm{b}$
150 mM	89.8 ± 7.5	$2.43 \pm 0.28 b$	$4.18\pm0.10\mathrm{c}$	$2.30 \pm 0.20 b$	$2.63 \pm 0.56 b$	$594 \pm 45 c$
Mean	91.4	3.78	60 [.] L	2.69	3.18	999.4
P-value, F-test	0.911 ns	0.001 **	1.77 x 10 ⁻⁵ **	0.0006 **	0.006 **	0.0005**
CV	6.51	15.38	12.99	12.30	15.04	16.65
			5	5		
Note: $CV = Coeffic$	ient of variation, *	*, = ** significant of	difference at 0.05 at	nd 0.01 levels of p	robability, $ns = nor$	l-significant difference

4.2.2 Effect of salinity level in PT 1 (Pathum Thani 1)

The results of the analysis showed that the salinity stress was not significantly affected in the percentage of PT 1 seed germination. There was no dissimilarity in percent germination between soaking for 24 hours (Table 6) and not soaking the seed before sowing. For other traits, after 7 days of sowing, showed that increasing the salinity level will reduce the values in all traits.

However, the benefits result from soaking the seed was a higher level of salinity at starting in reducing of value was found in three traits include shoot length, root length and root number (Table 3 and 6). In Table 6, although decreased value in seedling vigor index; in treatment of seed soaked with normal water, was found at 100 mM NaCl. While this event was found at 150 mM NaCl when seeds were not soaked water overnight before plant. However, the higher values of seedling vigor index were calculated in all treatments of salinity levels compared with not soaking the seed. Moreover, about one week after sowing the seeds, it was found that presoaking the seeds by normal water results in an increase in seedling characteristics including shoot length, root length, root number and seedling vigor index; compared to not seed soaking overnight (Table 3 and Table 6).

The result of the transpiration flux needed to maintain plant water status and transpiration is the result of salt translocation to the roots and to the shoots so that it can cause toxic levels of ion accumulation in the shoots. (Luyckx et al., 2021). Furthermore, excess soluble salts in the root zone reduce the plant available water (Munns, 2005). In particular, changes in root system were found to be inconspicuous for variations at various salinity levels relative to shoot length (Table 3 and 6). This may be because roots are the first part to be affected by salinity as well as being an adaptive system to protect the plant. There are several changes in root part when affected by saline soil or drought, such as changes in root length, etc (Sánchez-Blanco et al., 2019). However, the growing of stressed plants is often restricted by the capability of roots to take out water from the soil and transport it to the shoot (Franco et al., 2011). Occasionally cause a decrease in the root to shoot ratio in plants submitted to water stress (Acosta-Motos et al., 2017).

Salinity	Germination (%)	Shoot Length (cm)	Root Length (cm)	Hair Root (density)	Root number	Seedlings vigor index
0 mM	98.8 ± 1.26	5.03 ± 0.22 a	7.28 ± 0.90 b	3.75 ± 0.41 a	3.58 ± 0.62 a	$1,216 \pm 97 b$
50 mM	98.0 ± 1.41	5.38 ± 0.49 a	10.48 ± 1.56 a	3.23 ± 0.52 ab	4.38 ± 1.15 a	$1,554 \pm 211 \text{ a}$
100 mM	98.3 ± 1.71	$3.60 \pm 0.18 b$	6.78 ± 1.21 b	$2.88 \pm 0.40 \text{ bc}$	3.35 ± 0.26 a	$1,017 \pm 125 \ b$
150 mM	95.3 ± 2.75	$2.25 \pm 0.37 c$	3.23 ± 0.21 c	2.55 ± 0.24 c	$2.18 \pm 0.36 b$	522 ± 36 c
Mean	97.6	4.06	6.94	3.10	3.37	1077
P-value, F-test	0.085 ns	6.58 x 10 ⁻⁸ **	7.91 x 10 ⁻⁶ **	0.008 **	0.006 **	1.21 x10 ⁻⁶ **
CV	1.92	8.35	15.72	13.09	20.48	12.35
Noto . OV	inimit of mainting		nt difforment of 0	05 and 0 01 lovel 20	f an of the filter	on significant differences of

Table 6 The effect of salinity levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Pathum Thani 1' (PT 1): germination (%), shoot

*significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of probability, ns =non-significant difference at Note :CV =coefficient of variation, *, = **significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of probability. 0.05 level of probability. Different lower-case letters (a, b, c) = significance at 0.05 level of probability.

4.2.3 Effect of salinity level in IN 35 (Inpari 35)

The observed 7 days after germination. Inpari 35 showed very little change which compared to the two Thai varieties; CNT 1 and PT 1 inresponse to soaking the seed overnight before sowing; observed from most characteristics (Table 7). Unless it was found that overnight seed soaking with normal water resulted in an increase in level of salinity effected on root number of seedlings (Table 7). Morever, all treatments had approximately twice value of seedling vigor index (Table 7). Compared to not seed soaking overnight (Table 4). Overall, about one week after sowing the seeds, it was found that pre-soaking the seeds by normal water results in an increase in seedling parameters including shoot length, root length, root number and seedling vigor index; compared to not seed soaking overnight (Table 4).

Because salt spoilage depends on many variables such as species, variety, growth stage, environmental factors, and salt properties (Safdar et al., 2019). Thus, it is difficult to solve this problem by individual methods. Furthermore, althought many studies reported that rice varieties are tolerant to salt during germination, germination is delayed by salinity (Khan et al., 1997b). The change in some characteristics that appears is thought to be since of the capability of plants to adapt which is influenced by genetics and the environment. Therefore, assessing the effects of salinity under mitigation methods may be comlex. Plants that experience salinity stress (NaCl) adapt by showing its hindered seedling growth, indicated that injury is due to the excessive sodium (Na⁺) and chloride (Cl⁻) uptake (Gregoria et al., 1997; Alam et al., 2021). Althouth a possible alternative is the introduction of crop species/cultivars capable of tolerating the higher soil salinities with moderate economic yield (Hu & Schmidhalter, 2004). Using adopted practices that support early growth in preparation for seedlings before facing abiotic stress in field is another important way for growing rice under limited condition.

Salinity	Germination (%)	Shoot Length (cm)	Root Length (cm)	Hair Root (density)	Root Number	Seedlings vigor index
$0 \mathrm{mM}$	99.0 ± 0.8	5.88 ± 0.66 a	7.93 ± 0.30 a	3.88 ± 0.15 a	5.33 ± 1.17 a	1,364 ± 92 a
50 mM	98.8 ± 1.5	5.90 ± 0.47 a	8.43 ± 0.88 a	3.45 ± 0.31 b	4.68 ± 0.43 a	1,416 ± 83 a
100 mM	98.0 ± 1.8	$4.63 \pm 0.41 \text{ b}$	$6.80 \pm 0.55 \text{ b}$	$3.10\pm0.24~\mathrm{bc}$	$4.18 \pm 0.97 a$	$1,118 \pm 89 b$
150 mM	97.0 ± 1.4	$3.63 \pm 0.46 c$	$4.60 \pm 0.41 c$	$2.75 \pm 0.29 c$	$2.90 \pm 0.24 \text{ b}$	796 ± 88 c
Mean	98.2	5.01	6.94	3.29	4.27	1173
P-value, F-test	0.249 ns	8.3 x 10 ⁻⁵ **	3.31 x 10 ⁻⁶ **	0.0003 **	0.007 **	1.33 x10 ⁻⁶ **
CV	1.46	10.17	8.29	7.78	18.77	7.51
		ह - - - 				

Table 7 The effect of salinity levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Inpari 35': germination (%), shoot length (cm), root length (cm), hairy root (density), root number and seedling vigor index at 7 days after sowing.

11011- Significant unitalative Note : cv = -coentrient of variation, v, = v significant uniference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of probability, instant 0.05 level of probability, Different lower-case letters (a, b, c) = significance at 0.05 level of probability

Analysis for comparing the effect of soaking and salinity levels

Soaking is better than non-soaking because it is easy method make the seeds uniform and can induce the germinated but some farmers not practice because farmers used the machine. In normal practice of the farmers when rice stand out and lower growing, they put or supplement fertilizer to promote but when the people put the fertilizer still increase problem of high cost and climate change (pollution), it is not sustainability.

More than the present separately between soaking and non-soaking the seed before sowing, these results showed analysis in factorial in CRD to compare between soaking and non-soaking the seeds in three varieties (Table 9-10).

In CNT 1, The results of statistical analysis showed either soaking or salinity level were not significantly affected GP (%), and was not found the interaction between these factors; soaking and levels of salinity (Table 8). SL showed decreasing values when the salinity level was increased, and soaking the seeds with normal water overnight was higher on SL compared to non soaking the seeds. There was non interaction between soaking the seeds and salinity levels in SL.

High salt concentrations cause negative effect on plant growth, such as inhibition of enzymatic activities (Gengmao et al., 2015). SL of soaked rice seeds was higher values in all salinity levels compared to non-soaked seeds in CNT 1. Hence, soaking could prevent significant reduction of seedling's SL in salinity environment . Moreove, the soaking the seed is simply to practice by farmers. The compromised SL can further affect photosynthesis ability (Sharma et al., 2020b), and the consequent water management by farmers.

For root-related characteristics, all factors (salinity level and soaking the seeds) and interaction between them, were significant differences in two characteristics including RL and hairy root (density) (Table 8). Soaked the seeds by the normal water overnight had the benefit to increase both RL and the density of hairy roots. Consideration, overall, the decrease both in RL and hairy root density occurred at 100 mM NaCl in CNT 1. However, for those characteristics; RL and hairy root density had significant differences caused by the interaction between the factors of salinity level and soaking the seeds. For hairy root density, seed soaked with water

before sowing showed a similar value between 100 and 150 mM NaCl, but was a higher reduction in seed was not soaked at 150 mM NaCl. However, for RL traits, changing between increasing of salinity in each soaking practice was not clear, but it was clearly showing the lowest values in both practices at 150 mM NaCl.

A. Effect of non-soaked and soaked in CNT 1 (Chai Nat 1)

In addition of a higher concentration of NaCl, it will inhibit root growth so that the concentration occurs where this occurs depending on the concentration of Ca⁺2"and the growth index used (Cramer, 1986). Generally, root length decreases with increasing NaCl concentration (Akbarimoghaddam et al., 2011). For RN, it was significant difference only by salinity levels which decreasing values were observed since at 100 mM NaCl.

Vigor index (VI) was the characteristic caused by the multiply between the percentage of germination and the summation between SL and RL (Table 8). Thus, the result was consistent with those traits, which seed soaked overnight by the normal water showed higher value of vigor index, and clearly deceased values were detected at 150 mM NaCl with no significant difference caused by the interaction between salinity levels and soaking practice. (Kim, 2012) reported that at high soil salinity levels, it is interfered seed germination and plant growth, so that, the osmotic gradient is weak thereby preventing water uptake, and causing nutritional stress caused by ion toxicity and nutrient imbalance during plant growth. Additional, plants that may suppress growth under saline conditions may be due to decreased water availability or increased sodium chloride toxicity associated with increased salinity (Singla, 2005). Salinity is not only affects the final soil water content, but also the rate at which plant use water (Sheldon, 2017). Moreover, salinity caused decreasing absorption of water in plant, because activities and events normally associated with germination can be either delayed and/or proceed at reduced rates (Cuartero et al., 2006). Lack of salinity and water causes a decrease in plant metabolic activity and ultimately reduces plant growth (Nawaz et al., 2010). So, salinity problem is common in arid and semi-arid regions where rainfall is insufficient to leach salts out of the root zone (Kaya, 2003).

Survey to the state									
				(
Salinity	GP (%		Mean	SL (a	(u	Mean	RL	(cm)	Mean (salinity)
	on-Soaked	Soaked		Non-Soaked	Soaked		Non-Soaked	Soaked	
0	91.5±0.7	93.0±1.4	92.2±1.3	1.8 ± 0.1	4.6 ± 0.8	$3.2 \pm 1.7a$	$3.9 \pm 0.8 de$	$7.3 \pm 0.5b$	$5.6 \pm 2.0b$
50	92.0±4.2	92.0±2.8	92.0±2.9	2.2 ± 0.1	4.3 ± 0.1	3.2 ± 1.2a	$5.6\pm0.8c$	$9.9 \pm 0.1a$	$7.7 \pm 2.5a$
100	89.5±2.1	92.0±1.4	90.8±2.1	1.6 ± 0.4	3.9 ± 0.8	$2.7 \pm 1.4a$	5.0 ± 0.9 cd	$7.2 \pm 0.6b$	$6.1 \pm 1.4b$
150	86.5±0.7	90.0±4.2	88.2±3.2	0.8 ± 0.1	2.5 ± 0.4	$1.6 \pm 1.0b$	$2.8 \pm 0.4e$	4.2 ± 0.1 cde	$3.5\pm0.8c$
Mean (Soaking)	89.9±2.9	91.8±2.4	1821	$1.6 \pm 0.6b$	$3.8 \pm 1.0a$	22	$4.3\pm1.3b$	$7.1 \pm 2.2a$	
Overall mean	90.8		シア	2.67		Contraction of the second seco	5.69		
CV (%)	2.85	1	ちの	16.2	No.		10.24		
P-value (F-test)				25					
Soaking 0.	.185 (NS)			7.13x10 ^{-6**}	3		$1.10 \mathrm{x} 10^{-5**}$		
Salinity 0.	.192 (NS)		3	0.002**			5.28x10 ^{-5**}		
Soaking x Salinity 0	.802 (NS)			0.388(NS)			0.032*		

GP (%), Shoot Length SL (cm), Root Length RL (cm), Hairy Root HR (density), Root Number RN and seedling vigor index VI at one Table 8 The effect of salinity levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Chai Nat 1' (CNT 1): germination percentage

Note :CV =coefficient of variation. *, = **significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of probability. NS =non-significant difference at 0.05 level of probability. Different lower-case letters (a, b, c) significance at 0.05 level of probability.



B.Effect of non-soaked and soaked in PT 1 (Pathum Thani 1)

Results analysis indicated significant differences between non-soaking and soaking in different salinity levels for all characteristics including GP, SL, RL, HR, RN and seedling vigor index characteristics (Table 9).

However, for seed soaking, it was found to promote an increase in all characterisitcs, especially SL and VI of seedling, about twofold. The effect of salinity levels found a significant difference in all characteristics, except GP (Table 9). These characteristics showed affected by increasing the salinity level. Which, HR received the affected of salinity since at 50 mM NaCl, and other root characteristics and SL showed negative effect since at 100 mM NaCl. Compared to CNT 1, PT 1 is slightly more scusceptible to salinity.

Three from six characteristics; SL, RL, and VI had significant differences in the interaction between salinity levels and soaking the seeds (Table 8). When considering the interactions between the two factors for this PT 1, there was little difference in the effect of different salinity levels on soaking or without soaking the seeds. However, both soaked and unsoaked seeds showed a clear reduction of values at 150 mM NaCl. In other words, at 150 mM NaCl is level of salinity can cause more serious crop damage than rice can withstand. In addition, soaking had a greater role in all characterisitcs in PTT1 compared non-soaked seeds in each salinity levels. Actually, rice plant is considered as moderately sensitive to saline condition (Lutts et al., 1996a; Gregorio, 1997). So that the main reason for germination failure was the inhibition of seed water uptake due to a high salt concentration. Whereas, others have suggested that germination of rice was affected by salt toxicity (Akbarimoghaddam et al., 2011). So, soaking the seeds before sowing will help mitigate the effects of seed to absorb water due to saline soil problems .Morethan at germination and seedling, salinity affects rice growth in other growth stages until maturity (Nozulaidi et al., 2015). The influence of salinity stress appears as a result of the link between plant physiology and molecular responses (Hu & Schmidhalter, 2005;Isayenkov, 2019). Beside that osmotic inhibition is the result of the salt present in the soil solution which the ability of the plant to take up water and leads to slower growth decrease (Pattanagul & Thitisaksakul, 2008). This means that even the small amount of water that the seed absorbs can promote germination. But, ultimately the survival of saline soil conditions depends on the strength of the seedling and the longer solution at different stages of the plant growth. Nevertheless, higher salt concentrations were reported decrease the percentage of germinated rice seeds (Laghmouchi et al., 2017). Moreover, salinity slows emergence and if stress is severe enough, plant stand formation can be reduced (Aslam et al., 2017). However, considering all the assessed characteristics, salinity remains a significant problem affecting rice seedlings and likely affecting further growth like other reports (Tripathi et al., 2021). Thereby, high concentrations of salt such as 150 mM NaCl was reported effect in the germination percentage and delay of germination time in rice (Kaveh et al., 2011).



Salinity			ξ			Mean			Mean
(mM NaCl)	GP	(%)	Mean	SL (cm)	(Salinity)	RL	(cm)	(Salinity)
	Non-soaked	Soaked	(Salinity)	Non-soaked	Soaked		Non-soaked	Soaked	
0	91.5 ± 2.1	99.0 ± 1.4	95.2 ± 4.6	$2.7 \pm 0.1c$	$5.1 \pm 0.2a$	$3.9 \pm 1.4a$	$4.9 \pm 0.4c$	$7.3 \pm 0.4b$	$6.1 \pm 1.4b$
50	95.5 ± 0.7	98.5 ± 0.7	97.0 ± 1.8	$1.9 \pm 0.1c$	$5.4 \pm 0.5a$	$3.6 \pm 2.0a$	4.0 ± 0.4 cd	$10.5 \pm 0.0a$	$7.2 \pm 3.8a$
100	95.5 ± 0.7	98.5 ± 2.1	97.0 ± 2.2	$1.7 \pm 0.5d$	$3.6 \pm 0.2b$	$2.6 \pm 1.1b$	$5.0 \pm 0.9c$	$6.8 \pm 0.4b$	$5.9 \pm 1.2b$
150	93.0 ± 2.8	95.5 ± 0.7	94.2 ± 2.2	$0.7 \pm 0.01e$	2.3 ± 0.4 cd	$1.5 \pm 1.0c$	$2.6 \pm 0.1e$	$3.3 \pm 0.1 de$	$2.9 \pm 0.4c$
Mean (Soaking)	$93.9 \pm 2.3b$	97.9± 1.8a		$1.7 \pm 0.8b$	4.1 ± 1.4a	JAM .	4.1 ± 1.1b	$7.0 \pm 2.8a$	
Overall mean	95.87	19	50	JAN A	2.88			5.53	
CV (%)		1.69	125 1		10.53			7.68	
P-value (F-test)									
Soaking		0.00114**			3.10 x 10 ⁻⁷ **			1.00 x 10 ^{-6**}	
Salinity		0.107 (NS)	3		1.32 x 10 ^{-5**}			3.82 x 10 ^{-6**}	
Soaking x Salinity		0.179 (NS)			0.0117*			5.62 x 10 ⁻⁵ **	

percentage GP (%), Shoot Length SL (cm), Root Length RL (cm), Hairy Root HR (density), root number (RN) and seedling vigor index (VI) at one week after sowing. Table 9 The effect of salinity levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Phatum Thani 1 ('PT 1'): germination

	HR (de	ensity)	Mean	R	Z	Mean	VI ((%)	Mean (Salinity)
Salinity (mM NaCl)	Non- soaked	Soaked	(Salinity)	Non- soaked	Soaked	(Salinity)	Non-soaked	Soaked	
0	2.4 ± 0.4	3.8 ± 0.1	3.1 ± 0.8a	3.6 ± 0.6	3.6 ± 0.4	$3.6 \pm 0.4a$	693 ± 63d	$1,217 \pm 66b$	$955 \pm 307a$
50	2.5 ± 0.4	3.3 ± 0.2	$2.9 \pm 0.5ab$	2.4 ± 1.1	4.4 ± 0.8	$3.4 \pm 1.4a$	557 ± 37de	$1,554\pm63a$	1,055 ± 577a
100	2.1 ± 0.1	2.9 ± 0.1	$2.5 \pm 0.5b$	2.5 ± 0.3	3.3 ± 0.3	$2.9 \pm 0.5a$	627 ± 145de	$1,017 \pm 48c$	$822 \pm 242b$
150	1.4 ± 0.1	2.6 ± 0.2	$2.0 \pm 0.7c$	1.2 ± 0.1	2.2 ± 0.3	$1.7 \pm 0.6b$	$305 \pm 14f$	522 ± 40e	$413 \pm 128c$
Mean (Soaking)	$2.1 \pm 0.5b$	3.1 ± 0.5a	Roj /	2.4 ± 1.1b	3.4 ± 0.9a	L'AND	545 ± 169b	$1,077\pm402a$	
Overall mean	2.6	าล	及	2.89			811		
CV (%)	9.58	ีย		19.86	je starter in the second secon		8.58		
P-value (F-test)		22			No.				
Soaking	3.65 x 10 ⁻⁵ "			0.0106*	教り		3.33 x 10 ^{-7**}		
Salinity	0.00117**			0.0061**			5.60 x 10 ^{.6} **		
Soaking x Salinity	0.36578(NS)			0.1984(NS)			0.000272**		
		- - -				•			

Note :CV = coefficient of variation, *, = ** significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of probability, NS = non-significant difference at 0.05 level of probability, different lower-case letters (a, b, c) significance at 0.05 level of probability

C .Effect of non-soaked and soaked in IN 35 (Inpari 35)

In Inpari 35, most traits except GP and HR (density) were higher values when soaked before planting such as SL, RL, RN and VI of seedling (Table 10). Priming could arouse a range of metabolic activities and biochemical changes in the seed required for initiating the germination process i.e., breaking of dormancy, hydrolysis or metabolism of inhibitors, imbibition and enzymes activation (Dawood, 2018). Priming seeds is to facilitate the absorption of more water due to the increased elasticity of the cell wall and the development of a stronger and efficient root system (Goodhead, 2019). The results of statistical analysis on several growth characteristics of the Inpari 35 variety are SL, RL, HR, RN, and VI of seedling, showed significant differences between salinity level treatments except for GP (Table 10). For salinity levels showed reducing of value in those traits are different. All of those traits showed the reduciton of values at 100 mM NaCl. Salinity affects plants in distinct ways like osmotic effects, specific-ion toxicity, and/or nutritional disorders (Läuchli & Epstein, 1990). However, decrease in cell division and elongation translate into slower leaf appearance and size. Plants that are severely salt-stressed often spread visual injury due to excessive salt uptake (Riaz et al., 2019).

In addition, the first osmotic effect reduces the plant's ability to absorb water. This has an effect on water stress and shows a small genotypic variation so that at the beginning of the decrease in leaf growth there is a gradual recovery of growth rate until a normal state is reached, depending on the salt concentration outside the roots (Cramer et al., 2007). Thereby, there is a reduction in the supply of photosynthate to the plant, affecting the overall carbon balance necessary to sustain growth (Munns, 2002). The decrease in the early growth of salt-susceptible and salt-resistant plants was caused by the osmotic effect of salt in the medium outside the roots. In contrast, salt-sensitive species or genotypes differ from salt-tolerant species or genotypes due to their disability to avoid salt from accumulating in leaves that are being transformed to toxic levels (Radi, 2013). Consideration, the fact that different characteristics of rice seedlings were susceptible to different levels of salinity reflected the effects of different uptake both water and nutrient in underground plant part (and photosynthesis rates) in above ground plant part. Nethetheless, in finally, ultimately affects of salinity occurs the whole plant. For resilient traits and have the

adaptation for the stress, the effects are more difficult to assess and a reduction in traits at high salinity levels is often observed, such as RL in this study (Ismail et al., 2007). Only observation at the results in this study, it seems that Inpari 35 has similar salinity tolerance with CNT 1. However, another consideration must be given to study at the greenhouse level. In Inpari 35, only RL showed significant difference effected by interaction between soaking the seeds and salinity levels (Table 10). RL was significantly reduced at 150 mM and 100 mM for seeds that were not soaked and soaked the seeds prior to sowing. That is, the advantage of soaking the seeds with water decreases rapidly when the rice takes root under saline soil conditions.



Fable 10 The effect 6), shoot length (S) ufter sowing.	t of salinity le L cm), root le	evels on some ength (RL cm)	characterist , hairy root	ics of rice see (HR density),	dlings in var root number	iety 'Inpari 3 r (RN) and se	5' ('IN 35): g edling vigor i	germination pe ndex (VI) at e	srcentage GP one week
Salinity (mM NaCl)	GP	(%)	Mean	SL (6	(III)	Mean	RL ((cm)	Mean
I	Non-soaked	Soaked	(Salinity)	Non-soaked	Soaked	(Salinity)	Non-soaked	Soaked	(Salinity)
0	93.5 ± 9.2	99.5 ± 0.7	96.5 ± 6.4	3.5 ± 0.0	5.9 ± 0.6	4.7 ± 1.4a	$3.9\pm0.2c$	7.9 ± 0.3ab	$6.4 \pm 1.8a$
50	96.5 ± 2.1	99.0 ± 1.4	97.8 ± 2.1	3.1 ± 0.4	5.9 ± 0.4	4.5 ± 1.7a	$4.6 \pm 0.4c$	$8.4 \pm 0.7a$	$6.5 \pm 2.2a$
100	99.0 ± 1.4	98.0 ± 0.0	98.5 ± 1.0	2.3 ± 0.4	4.7 ± 0.5	$3.5 \pm 1.4b$	$5.0 \pm 1.0c$	$6.8 \pm 0.6b$	$5.9 \pm 1.2a$
150	94.5 ± 5.0	97.5 ± 0.7	96.0 ± 3.4	1.3 ± 0.1	3.7 ± 0.5	$2.5 \pm 1.4c$	$3.3 \pm 0.1 d$	$4.6 \pm 0.4c$	$3.9 \pm 0.8b$
Mean (Soaking)	95.9 ± 4.6	98.5 ± 1.1		$2.5 \pm 1.0b$	5.0 ± 1.1a		$4.4 \pm 0.9b$	$6.9 \pm 1.6a$	
Overall mean	97.19	12		3.77			5.67		
CV (%)	3.96	J		11.04			9.32		
P-value (F-test)		n		R					
Soaking	0.210 (NS)		3	2.2 x10 ^{-6**}			3.33 x 10 ⁻⁵ **		
Salinity	0.788 (NS)			0.00022**			0.00039**		
Soaking xSalinity	0.659 (NS)			0.857(NS)			0.036 *		

	HR (de	insity)	Mean	R	7	Mean	VI	(%)	Mean (Salinity)
Salinity (mM NaCl)	Non-soaked	Soaked	(Salinity)	Non-soaked	Soaked	(Salinity)	Non-soaked	Soaked	
0	2.8 ± 0.0	3.9 ± 0.1	$3.4 \pm 0.6ab$	3.8 ± 0.8	5.4 ± 1.3	$4.6 \pm 1.3a$	780 ± 58	1364 ± 97	$1,072 \pm 34a$
50	3.8 ± 1.0	3.4 ± 0.3	$3.6 \pm 0.6b$	3.5 ± 0.2	4.7 ± 0.2	$4.1 \pm 0.7ab$	740 ± 68	$1,416 \pm 49$	$1,078\pm393a$
100	2.2 ± 0.9	3.1 ± 0.3	$2.6 \pm 0.8 bc$	2.1 ± 0.1	4.2 ± 0.6	$3.1 \pm 1.3bc$	717 ± 146	$1,118 \pm 107$	$918 \pm 254b$
150	2.1 ± 0.1	2.8 ± 0.4	$2.4 \pm 0.4c$	1.7 ± 0.4	3.0 ± 0.1	$2.3 \pm 0.8c$	422 ± 40	796 ± 76	$609 \pm 221c$
Mean (Soaking)	2.7 ± 0.9	3.3 ± 0.5		$2.7 \pm 1.0b$	4.3 ± 1.1a		665 ± 166b	1173 ± 270a	
Overall mean	3.00	้าย	に形式	3.506		AN	919		
CV (%)	17.28	19		17.32	R		9.4		
P-value (F-test)		21			Land A				
Soaking	0.057	2		0.000883**			2.49 x 10 ^{-6**}		
Salinity	0.035*		5	0.003494**	}		0.000181 **		
Soaking x Salinity	0.243(NS)]	0.6966(NS)			0.1071(NS)		

difference at 0.05 level of probability, Different lower-case letters (a.b, c) = significance at 0.05 level of probability
4.3 Experiment 3 : Testing effect of proline concentrations on germination in rice under salt condition.

In germination stage, this study was to know the ability to find out each seed of three varieties through the testing of the sodium chloride concentration (NaCl) of each level of supplementing with proline concentration. The results in this study showed in Table 11-13.

The results of the analysis effect of proline levels on some characteristics showed in Table 11. There were significant differences effected by salinity in all chareacteristics: germination percentage, shoot length, root length, hairy root, root number, and seedling vigor index. The salinity factor clearly affected the decrease of these characterisitcs. For the proline factor, there were three characteristics that showed the significantly different effects by proline as shoot length, root length and seedling vigor index. Proline spraying at low concentration of 50 mM had the best overall effect on those three characteristics. However, there were two characteristics that had the statistically significant difference of interaction between proline application and salinity levels including root number and seedling vigor index. The results were similar for those two traits: in the absence of salinity, no use of proline gave the highest trait values. If in the case of rice-growing under salinity conditions, the use of proline can increase the values both on root number and vigor index. In saline conditions, root number characteristics can be increased at all levels of proline use; available at 50-150 mM with no significant difference. For the vigor index of seedlings when rice plants were exposed to salinity, values were the highest when proline sprayed at 50-100 mM.

Under stress condition, exogenous proline application was reporte to improve tolerance of somatic embryos (Saranga et al., 1992). Plants commonly react to these stresses by accumulation of compatible solutes, such as proline, in cells which results in the improvement of environmental stress tolerance (Chutipaijit et al., 2009a). For this reason, under stress conditions, plant cells have the ability to prevent water loss and to maintain the continuous growth. These solutes can be accumulated in high concentrations without impairing plant metabolisms. Over accumulation of these osmolytes may help plants to tolerate against stress by improving their ability to maintain osmotic balance within the cell (Hare et al., 1998). Due to, the maintenance of turgor by osmotic adjustment is an importance of physiological adaptations for minimizing the detrimental effects of salt stress (Chen & Jiang, 2010). For this reason, the favorable cause of seed priming with proline on various properties is more pronounced under salinity than under normal conditions (Singh et al., 2018).



stmination percentage	gor index (VI) at one	
hai Nat 1('CNT 1'): ge	(RN) and seedling vi	
seedlings in variety 'C	density), root number	
haracteristics of rice s	cm), hairy root (HR	
line levels on some c	cm), root length (RL	
311 The effect of pro	%), shoot length (SL	after sowing.
Table	(GP 5	week

	EI [P (%)	Mean	SI	, (CM)	Mean	RL	(cm)	
Proline (mM)	Salinit	y (NaCl)	Proline	Salini	ty (NaCl)	Proline	Salinit	y (NaCl)	- Mean Proline
	0 (m M)	150 (mM)	1 6210	0 (MM)	150 (mM)	- BRS	0 (MM)	150 (mM)	
0	99.3 ± 0.5	97.5 ± 1.7	98.4 ± 1.5	4.1 ± 0.7	3.4 ± 0.2	3.7 ± 0.6 a	4.4 ± 0.9	2.8 ± 0.6	3.6 ± 1.1 ab
50	99.5 ± 0.6	98.5 ± 1.3	99.0 ± 1.1	3.6 ± 0.2	3.5 ± 0.3	3.6 ± 0.3 a	4.3 ± 0.7	3.8 ± 0.4	$4.0 \pm 0.6 a$
100	99.0 ± 0.8	98.5 ± 0.5	98.8±0.7	3.8 ± 0.3	3.6 ± 0.4	3.7 ± 0.4 a	3.3 ± 0.6	2.9 ± 0.4	$3.1 \pm 0.5 b$
150	98.8 ± 0.5	98.0 ± 0.8	98.4 ± 0.7	3.2 ± 0.4	3.2 ± 0.3	$3.2 \pm 0.3 \mathrm{b}$	3.8 ± 0.5	2.8 ± 0.6	$3.3 \pm 0.7 b$
Mean Salinity	$99.1\pm0.6~a$	98.1 ± 1.1 b		$3.7\pm0.5a$	$3.4 \pm 0.3b$		3.9 ± 0.8 a	$3.1 \pm 0.6 b$	
overall mean		98.63		ひろう	3.54			3.51	
P-value (Salinity)		0.0064**			0.0479*			0.00056**	
P-value (Proline)		0.48674(NS)	3		0.0193*			0.035522*	
P-value (Salinity:Proline)		0.58997(NS)			0.2652(NS)			0.206197(NS	(2)
CV (%)		1.0			10.40			17.71	

	HR (č	lensity)		ſ	RN	I	1	/] (%)	
Proline (mM)	Salinit	y (NaCl)	Mean Proline	Salini	ty (NaCl)	Mean Proline	Salini	ity (NaCl)	Mean Proline -
	0 (MM)	150 (mM)	ζ	0 (m M)	150 (mM)		0 (mM)	150 (mM)	
0	4.5 ± 0.7	3.1 ± 0.6	3.8 ± 1.0	5.5 ± 1.3 a	$2.8\pm0.7~c$	4.1 ± 1.8	839 ± 73 a	598 ± 51 de	719 ± 141 ab
50	3.7 ± 0.2	3.4 ± 0.5	3.6 ± 0.4	4.3 ± 0.6 ab	3.2 ± 0.5 bc	3.7 ± 0.8	787 ± 60 ab	$721 \pm 45 \mathrm{bc}$	$754 \pm 60 a$
100	3.4 ± 0.6	2.9 ± 0.8	3.2 ± 0.7	3.8 ± 0.7 bc	3.3 ± 1.0 bc	3.6 ± 0.9	$707 \pm 40 \text{ bc}$	638 ± 53 cde	$673 \pm 57 \text{ bc}$
150	3.2 ± 0.3	3.1 ± 0.3	3.1 ± 0.3	3.2 ± 0.7 bc	3.3 ± 0.7 bc	3.3 ± 0.6	687 ± 83 cd	583 ± 69 e	$635 \pm 90 \mathrm{c}$
Mean Salinity	$3.7 \pm 0.7 a$	3.1 ± 0.5 b		4.2 ± 1.2 a	$3.1 \pm 0.7 b$		755 ± 86 a	$635 \pm 74 \text{ b}$	
overall mean		3.412	死	Œ	3.67		\land	695	
P-value (Salinity)		0.00627 **		のあっ	0.00146**	20		9.22 X 10 ^{-6**}	
P-value (Proline)		0.0603 (NS)	ア		0.26508(NS)			0.00369**	
(Salinity:Proline)		0.1210 (NS)			0.01367*			0.02614*	
CV (%)		15.89	5		22.50			8.74	

at 0.05 level of probability, Different lower-case letters (a, b, c) =significance at 0.05 level of probability.

62

The results of the analysis showed that there was no significant difference affected by interaction; combination between the salinity levels and proline concentrations, but salinity and proline had a significant effect separately on characteristics (Table 12).

Like CNT 1, it was found that PT 1 was affected by salinity causing all characteristics with a statistically significant reduction. For proline factor, there were 4 in 6 characteristics significant different affected by this factor including shoot length, root length, hairy root and seedling vigor index. All root-related traits; excluding shoot length, proline used at level 50 mM caused these traits to be the highest values. For shoot length, it had the highest value at the application of proline at 100 mM. No statistical significance was found due to interaction between salinity levels and proline levels, especially those traits in which statistical differences were found affected by individual factors. This means that those traits have a response to proline used and to salinity levels in accordance with the observed means.

From the results of the study in both two Thai rice varieties: CNT 1 and PT 1, it can be said that the high salinity at 150 mM NaCl affects all characteristics of rice in the seedling stag. However, despite the high levels of salinity at 150 mM NaCl in the seedling stage, the use of proline was more effective than no application. The use of a low concentration of proline had a greater effect on the root traits than on the shoots. However, growing in a high saline condition does not mean that high proline level use will benefit rice growth.

That exogenous proline application effectively regulates osmotic potential and plays a vital role in sustaining plant growth under osmotic stress (Deivanai et al., 2011). Exogenous proline also alleviates salt stress by improving antioxidant activities and reducing Na⁺ and Cl⁻ uptake, and translocation while enhancing (K⁺ potassium ion) assimilation by plants (Kaya et al., 2007).

The vulnerability of rice seeds to an increase in NaCl concentration drastically affected on many characteistics was reported such as germination (%), root and shoot length (mm), chlorophyll content, and protein content (Deivanai et al., 2011). Caused by the reduction of photosynthesis that affected by all kinds of stress, including salinity (Mohamed & Gomaa, 2012). Salinity interferes with the availability of carbon, hence, causing damage to cellular organelles (Liu et al., 2019b). Exogenous

application including proline has ameliorated the negative effect of salt stress by regulating cellular osmotic balance (Hu et al., 2012). Proline was also reported to contribute to photosynthesis improvement by protecting RuBisCo activity and mitochondrial electron transport chain (El Moukhtari et al., 2020). Likewise, proline catabolism was provided energy to the bacteroids during biological nitrogen fixation (Kim & Nam, 2013).

In this study, the root length variable showed the correlation between the salinity level and the proline concentration. For plant root, it plays an important role in water and nutrient transport from the soil to support plant growth. However, root growth is significantly affected by environmental stimuli (Canarini et al., 2019). The effect of NaCl on changes in proline levels in the roots and root growth of rice seeds. Under salinity stress, although inhibit root growth, increasing proline accumulation in the roots was reported for increasing the tolerant ability to stress (Lin & Kao, 1996). Proline anabolism allows plants to adjust their osmotic homeostasis which helps restore plant water content especially under osmotic pressure (Shafi et al., 2019b). Therefore, proline also plays an important role as a modulator of cell division, especially in the zone of root elongation (Biancucci et al., 2015).

There was significant difference between the proline concentrations effect on many roots related characteristics (Table 12). Although proline is synthesized and accumulates in the leaves, it is transferred to the roots, where it is degraded provides energy and ingredient for sustainable root growth (Trovato et al., 2019). Thus, proline not only acts as an osmotolerant, it also acts as a source of nutrition (Blumwald & Grover, 2006). That, proline function to protect plants from drought and salinity stress (Seki et al., 2002).

Root traits are likely to be important in salinity stress tolerance in environments where soil salinity increases with root depth (Harris et al., 2010). So that, in response to specific salts associated with early-stage salinity stress possibly in root tissues. Due to, at high Na⁺ concentrations in cortical cells and cortical cell walls may result in decreased cell turgor and root growth (Shelden et al., 2013). Moreover, in this study, is the seedling stage, ensuring that the primary effect of NaCl would be to the roots (Shelden et al., 2013). In addition, the osmotic effect due to salinity was the main inhibitory factor that reduces seed germination (Vibhuti et al., 2015).

However, in this study, seeds were soaked with the normal water for 18 hours before sowing, and then they have received the salinity. Thus, the germination percentage was not affected by salinity in this study.



(GP) (%), shoot length (SL) (cm), root length (RL) (cm), hairy root (HR) (density), root number (RN) and seedling vigor index (VI) at Table 12 The effect of proline levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Pathum Thani' (PT) germination percentage one week after sowing.

	GP	(%)	Mean	ST (cm)	Mean	RL	(CM)	Mean
Froune (mu)	Salinity	r (NaCl)	Proline	Salinity	(NaCl)	Proline	Salinit	y (NaCl)	Proline
	0 (MM)	150 (mM)		0 (Mh)	150 (mM)		0 (mM)	150 (mM)	
0	100.0 ± 0.0	98.8 ± 0.5	99.4 ± 0.7	4.8 ± 0.2	3.8 ± 0.1	$4.3 \pm 0.5 \text{ ab}$	5.9 ± 0.4	5.7 ± 1.1	$5.8 \pm 0.7 \text{ b}$
50	100.0 ± 0.0	98.5 ± 1.0	99.3 ± 1.0	4;4 ± 0.3	3.7 ± 0.2	4.1 ± 0.4 bc	7.4 ± 0.5	6.6 ± 0.2	$7.0 \pm 0.5 \text{ a}$
100	100.0 ± 0.0	98.0 ± 0.86	99.0 ± 1.2	4.6 ± 0.3	4.1 ± 0.2	$4.3 \pm 0.3 a$	6.6 ± 0.4	5.3 ± 0.4	$5.9 \pm 0.8 \text{ b}$
150	99.8 ± 0.5	98.0 ± 1.4	98.9 ± 1.4	4.1 ± 0.1	3.8 ± 0.3	3.9 ± 0.3 c	6.7 ± 0.7	5.0 ± 0.9	$5.9 \pm 1.1 \text{ b}$
Mean Salinity	99.9 ± 0.3 a	98.3 ± 1.0 b	ジノノ	4.5 ± 0.3 a	$3.8 \pm 0.3 b$	AREA.	6.6 ± 0.7 a	$5.7 \pm 0.9 \text{ b}$	
overall mean	99.13	U	か	4.15	Ł		6.14		
P-value (Salinity)	1.39 x10 ^{-6**}		5	1.11 x 10 ⁻⁷ **			0.000203 **		
P-value (Proline)	0.506		5	0.00598 **	6		0.003669 **		
(Salinity:Proline)	0.754		3	0.06023 (NS)			0.0991 (NS)		
CV (%)	0.73			5.67			10.40		

99

Proline (mM)		HR	Mean	R	7	Mean	VI ((%)	Mean Proline
	Salini	ity (NaCl)	Proline	Salinity	(NaCl)	Proline	Salinity	(NaCl)	
	0 (mM)	150 (mM)	ξ	0 (mM)	150 (mM)		0 (MM)	150 (mM)	
0	3.1 ± 0.4	3.1 ± 0.3	$3.1 \pm 0.3 b$	6.8 ± 0.1	5.5 ± 0.2	6.2 ± 0.7	$1,064 \pm 35$	943 ± 107	$1,004 \pm 98 \text{ b}$
50	4.1 ± 0.3	3.6 ± 0.6	$3.9 \pm 0.5 a$	6.5 ± 0.2	4.9 ± 1.2	5.7 ± 1.2	$1,175 \pm 84$	$1,015 \pm 10$	$1,095 \pm 102 a$
100	3.6 ± 0.5	3.3 ± 0.5	$3.4 \pm 0.5 b$	4.4 ± 2.3	5.1 ± 1.2	4.8 ± 1.8	$1,117 \pm 60$	914 ± 45	$1,015 \pm 119 b$
150	3.9 ± 0.5	2.7 ± 0.4	3.3 ± 0.8 b	6.4 ± 0.2	4.3 ± 1.1	5.3 ± 1.3	$1,078 \pm 88$	858 ± 82	$968 \pm 142 \text{ b}$
Mean Salinity	3.7 ± 0.5 a	3.2 ± 0.6 b	TES S	6.0 ± 1.4 a	$5.0 \pm 1.0 b$		$1,109 \pm 77 a$	932 ± 87 b	
overall mean	3.41	โย	度し	5.49			1,020		
P-value (Salinity)	0.00371 **	5		0.0133 *	之后		2.78 x 10 ^{-7 **}		
P-value (Proline)	0.01165 *	au	5	(SN) 0860.0	EX.		0.0112 *		
(Salinity:Proline)	0.093 (NS)			0.0871 (NS)			0.5085		
CV (%)	13.24	~	5	19.88	2		6.93		
			5						

Note :CV =coefficient of variation, *, = **significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of probability NS =non-significant difference at 0.05 level of probability, Different lower-case letters (a, b, c) = significance at 0.05 level of probability.

67

In Inpari 35, four in six characteristics showed significant differences affected by increasing salinity include GP, SL, RN, and VI of the seedlings. Higher values in all these characteristics were observed in non-salty conditions (Tablet 13). For the proline effect, only two characteristics had significant differences affected by proline concentrations including GP and SL, while root-related characteristics were not found a significant effect (Tablet 13). Significant difference affected from the interaction between salinity levels and proline levels was observed in three characteristics including GP, SL, and VI (Tablet 13). Thus, both GP and SL were two characteristics that were sensitively affected by the application both of salinity and proline in this study.

The use of proline could promote various characteristics, but the suitable concentration for each characteristic uses it in different concentrations. In the absence of salinity effects, proline is best used at approximately 50 mM, but in the case of salinity during seedling growth, the use of proline must be increased to 100 mM. Soaking with exogenous proline was reported could improve the germination status of rice under salt stress (Hua-long et al., 2014). However, with reduced germination percentage and root length, probably due to the toxicity of sodium chloride ions and negative effects on cell membranes. Root length decreases with an increased salinity level (Farooq et al., 2015). Hence, that the accumulation of proline and/or the upregulation of proline biosynthesis genes in plant can improve seed germination rates under the stresses (Dar et al., 2016a). Protein hydrolysis under salt-stressed plants is associated with increased PRO content (Sitohy et al., 2020). So plant cells accumulate proline as an osmoprotectant to maintain osmotic stability and prevent damage under salt stress, exhibiting high proline accumulation (Al-Saady et al., 2012). However, salt-resistant cultivated rice accumulated less free proline than those that are salt-sensitive (Lutts et al., 1996). In salt-sensitive plant, many plants tend to accumulate proline as a defense mechanism against osmotic challenge by acting as a compatible solute (Momayezi et al., 2009). In addition, amylase is a key enzyme that plays an important role in hydrolyzing seed starch reserves thereby supplying sugar to the growing embryo (Nawaz et al., 2013).

	GP	(%)	Γ	SL	(cm)		RL ((cm)	
Proline (mM)	Salinit	y (NaCl)	Mean	Salinit	y (NaCl)	Mean	Salinity	(NaCl)	Mean
	0 (MM)	150 (mM)	Proline	0 (MM)	150 (mM)	Proline	0 (MM)	150 (mM)	Proline
0	$99.8 \pm 0.5 ab$	$98.8 \pm 50 \text{ bc}$	99.3 ± 0.7 a	$4.8 \pm 0.2 b$	$4.6 \pm 0.5 \text{ b}$	$4.7 \pm 0.4 \text{ b}$	7.2 ± 0.5	6.9 ± 0.3	7.0 ± 0.4
50	$100.0 \pm 0.0a$	$98.50 \pm 0.6 c$	99.3 ± 0.9 a	$5.4 \pm 0.5 a$	$4.7 \pm 0.3 \text{ b}$	$5.1 \pm 0.5 a$	7.5 ± 1.2	6.4 ± 0.2	7.0 ± 1.0
100	$100.0\pm0.0a$	99.5 ± 0.6 abc	99.8 ± 0.5 a	$4.8 \pm 0.2 \mathrm{b}$	$4.9 \pm 0.1 \text{ b}$	4.8 ± 0.2 ab	7.4 ± 0.1	7.8 ± 0.4	7.6 ± 0.3
150	$99.8 \pm 0.5 ab$	$94.8 \pm 1.5 d$	$97.3 \pm 2.9 b$	$5.5 \pm 0.5 a$	$3.6 \pm 0.1 c$	$4.5 \pm 1.1 \text{ b}$	7.4 ± 0.6	7.0 ± 0.5	7.2 ± 0.6
Mean Salinity	$99.9 \pm 0.3a$	$97.9 \pm 2.1b$		5.1 ± 0.5 a	$4.4\pm0.6\mathrm{b}$		7.4 ± 0.7	7.0 ± 0.6	
overall mean	98.88			4.78	2.9		7.2		
P-value	1.45 x10 ^{-8**}	Ċ	ロトワ	8.9 x 10 ^{-6**}		NON C	0.0553 (NS)		
(Salinity)		Ē	天ワ						
P-value (Proline)	$5.62 \text{ x } 10^{-7**}$	ย		0.0185^{*}			0.1332 (NS)		
(Salinity:Proline)	2.26 x 10 ^{-6**}	S		1.2 x 10 ^{-5**}			0.1186 (NS)		
CV (%)	0.69		シリノ	7.13			7.80		
		a							
		1	えのノ	ノシシ					
				5	P. P.				
			5		•				
			3						

(%). shoot length (SL) (cm). root length (RL) (cm), hairy root (HR) (density), root number (RN) and seedling vigor index (VI) at one Table 13 The effect of proline levels on some characteristics of rice seedlings in variety 'Inpari 35' (IN 35): germination percentage (GP)

		HR		R	7		Ν	(%)	
Proline (mM)	Salini	(ty (NaCl)	Mean	Salinity	(NaCl)	Mean	Salinity	/ (NaCl)	Mean
	0 (MM)	150 (mM)	- Fronne	0 (MM)	150 (mM)	Frome	0 (m M)	150 (mM)	- Fronne
0	3.4 ± 0.1	3.4 ± 0.3	3.4 ± 0.2	6.4 ± 0.4	6.0 ± 0.3	6.2 ± 0.4	$1,192 \pm 54 \text{ abc}$	$1,131 \pm 78 bc$	1162 ± 70
50	3.4 ± 0.9	3.5 ± 0.2	3.5 ± 0.6	5.8 ± 2.7	6.1 ± 0.5	6.0 ± 1.8	$1,294 \pm 169 a$	$1.096 \pm 55 \text{ cd}$	1195 ± 157
100	3.6 ± 0.2	3.4 ± 0.0	3.5 ± 0.1	6.7 ± 0.3	6.1 ± 0.4	6.4 ± 0.5	$1,217 \pm 21$ abc	$1,258 \pm 35 \text{ ab}$	1238 ± 34
150	3.4 ± 0.1	3.1 ± 0.2	3.3 ± 0.2	6.7 ± 0.3	4.4 ± 0.4	5.6 ± 1.3	$1,291 \pm 96 a$	995 ± 54 d	1143 ± 174
Mean Salinity	3.4 ± 0.4	3.4 ± 0.2	in lat	$6.4 \pm 1.3 \ a$	$5.6 \pm 0.8 \text{ b}$		$1,249 \pm 102 a$	$1,120\pm110~\mathrm{b}$	
overall mean	3.40	7		6.0219	2 N N N N N		1,184		
P-value (Salinity)	0.601 (NS)	3	LC I	0.0453*	1		0.00018 **		
P-value (Proline)	0.704 (NS)			0.4184 (NS)	5 9		0.1359 (NS)		
(Salinity:Proline)	0.635 (NS)	ì	トワ	0.1038 (NS)			0.0022 **		
CV (%)	10.78	Ĩ	見 し	16.82			6.95		
Note :CV =coe	fficient of v	/ariation, *, -	= **significal	nt difference :	at 0.05 and 0	0.01 levels	of probability, l	NS = non signif	icant difference

at 0.05 level of probability. Different lower-case letters (a, b, c) = significance at 0.05 level of probability.

4.4 Experiment 4 : Testing effect of proline concentrations on rice seedling under salt condition

To obtain a definitive answer on the effects of salinity on the different rice varieties, a collaborative study; between salinity levels and three rice varieties was conducted under greenhouse conditions, presented in Table 14-16. In terms of the seedling stage analysis only observed the effect of the used of three varieties and 4 levels of salinity on plant height, number of leaves, and symptoms (Table 14-16).

Table 14 The effect of salinity levels on plant height of rice seedlings in variety ChaiNat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN 35) at 30 days after planted.

				A/1.11		
Variable	Variation	Salinity (mM	NaCl)	88		Mean
variable	varieties	0	50	100	150	Varieties
	CNT 1	34.1 ± 1.5	33.0 ± 0.4	30.6 ± 0.9	30.2 ± 0.5	32.0 ± 1.9 c
Heigh	PT 1	35.9 ± 1.2	34.0 ± 0.8	34.1 ± 1.2	33.2 ± 1.5	$34.3\pm1.5~b$
	Inpari 35	38.0 ± 1.9	35.3 ± 1.3	36.0 ± 0.1	35.8 ± 1.9	36.3 ± 1.7 a
Mean Salini	ity	36.0 ± 2.2 a	34.1 ± 1.3 b	33.6 ± 2.5 b	$33.0\pm2.7~b$	
D III						

P- Value (F-test)

Variety (V) 3.87x10-8**, Salinity (S) 0.0002 **, V x S 0.2732 (NS)

Note: CV= coefficient of variation, *, = **significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of probability N S =non-significant difference at 0.05 level of probability, Different lower-case letters (a, b, c) = significance at 0.05 level of probability.

The comparison of the average salinity concentration of the three varieties showed that in the case of rice seedlings with an increase in salinity, the plant height decreased significantly but there was no interaction between the two factors in Table 14. The results showed that separately at the salinity level, Increased soil salinity adversely influences plant growth, leading to significant reductions in plant height since at 50 mM NaCl. Water is a major component of photosynthesis and other functions of plants, and its deficiency inhibits more than other environmental aspects and has the main effect of deficiency contributing more to poor stand formation and impaired seed germination (Fageria et al., 2006). In-plant growth depends on photosynthesis (Hoch et al., 2001). For these reasons, increased salinity is a stringent problem and a major limiting factor for crop production around the globe (Rai, 2020). Therefore, high salinity mostly causes anatomical alterations such as reduction of somata number (Nejadhabibvash & Rezaee, 2021). In addition, high salt levels

potentially disturb the roots in nutrient uptake and damage the soil structure (Wu & Zou, 2017). The presence of salinity exerts a detrimental effect on plant growth and plant height through the low osmotic potential of the soil solution and nutrient imbalance (Syvertsen & García-Sánchez, 2014). Salinity generally reduces shoot growth of crops more than root growth, based on dry weight rather than length measurements (Hasanuzzaman et al., 2009). Furthermore, salinity is defined as the presence of an excessive concentration of dissolved salts in the soil which suppresses plant growth (Abbas et al., 2020). Hence high levels of soil salinity can significantly inhibit seed germination and seedling growth, due to the combined effect of high osmotic potential and specific ion toxicity.

Effect of different varieties was found in plant height, which the higher value was recorded in Inpari 35, and followed by PT 1 and CNT 1, respectively. No significant difference affected by between varieties and salinity levels was appeared in plant height (Table 14).

Although the plant height of Inpari 35 appeared to be the highest in the untreated with sodium chloride for planting. The two Thai rice varieties; CNT 1 and PT 1 appeared to be equally valuable when grown under non-salty conditions. Considering only the plant height, it seemed that the most salinity sensitive varieties were CNT 1, PT 1 and Inpari 35 respectively. That was different from the results were observed in laboratory testings for SL that showed that CNT 1 was more salinity tolerant than PT 1.

Salt stress has an adverse effect on plant function and metabolism severely hampers productivity (El Naim et al., 2012). Salinity has an adverse effect on seed germination of many crops by creating anosmotic potential outside the seed inhibiting the absorption of water, or by the toxic effect of Na+ and Cl- (Abbas et al., 2021). However, there are differences in toleration to salinity between species and cultivars as well as between distinct plant growth parameters tolerance (Roy et al., 2019b). The interaction between salinity and environmental factors such as soil, water, and climatic conditions depends on the ability of plants to tolerate salinity (Munir et al., 2021). Therefore, some plant species are more susceptible to salinity when grown under hot and dry conditions than under cold and humid conditions (Safdar et al., 2019). That is why there are differences in observations made between laboratory studies (between paper testings) and greenhouse conditions in which rice is grown in the soil. This is more simulating rice cultivation in real conditions in farmers' fields.

While ideal rice tolerance range at planting time is ECe value more than 4 dS/m (about 40 mM NaCl) (Sembiring et al., 2020). Inpari 34 and Inpari 35 varieties were more tolerant of salinity stress at the seedling stage with electrical conductivity (EC) of 12dS/m (about 120 mM NaCl) (Subekti et al., 2020b). The capacity to tolerate salinity is a key factor in plant productivity (Sharma et al., 2019).

For leaf number, a significant difference was only found affected by varieties, which the higher value was found in PT 1 and Inpari 35, and lower in CNT 1. However, this finding seems not different from the result at the non-salty condition at 0 mM NaCl (Table 15). No significant difference was observed affected by salinity levels and interaction between salinity levels and varieties (Table 15). In this case, comparing of ranking among these varieties between 0 mM NaCl and overall means could help to assess the effect of salinity on individual rice varieties. Why is it important to know about the tolerance ability to salinity compared among rice varieties? Because the use of salty tolerance rice variety for planting in the salty areas should be the first suggestion to farmers. It is often included in experiments to analyze the genetics of salinity tolerance (Gregorio & Senadhira, 1993).

Variable	Variation		Salinity (m	M NaCl)		Mean
variable	varieties	0	50	100	150	Varieties
	CNT 1	3.6 ± 0.6	3.6 ± 0.6	3.7 ± 0.7	3.4 ± 0.5	$3.6\pm0.5\ b$
Leaf number	PT 1	4.6 ± 0.1	3.8 ± 0.4	4.1 ± 0.1	4.0 ± 0.4	$4.1 \pm 0.4 \ a$
	Inpari 35	4.7 ± 0.6	4.3 ± 0.1	4.5 ± 0.2	4.3 ± 0.3	4.5 ± 0.3 a
Mean Salinity		4.3 ± 0.6	3.9 ± 0.5	4.1 ± 0.5	3.9 ± 0.5	
P-Value (F-test)						
Variety (V) 7.73x	10 ⁻⁵ **, Salinity (S) 0.	129 (NS), V x S	S 0.833 (NS)			

Table 15 The effect of salinity levels on leaf number of rice seedlings in variety Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN 35) at 30 days after planted.

Note: CV =coefficient of variation, *, = **significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of probability NS=non-significant difference at 0.05 level of probability, Different lower-case letters (a, b, c) = significance at 0.05 level of probability.

Morethan leaf number, feaf senescence rate increases and the leaf's physiologically active period is shortened under salinity (Hasanuzzaman et al., 2009). Therefore, If an excessive amount of salt enters the plant, the concentration of salt eventually rises to a toxic level in older transpiring leaves, causing premature senescence and reducing the plant's photosynthetic leaf area to a level that cannot sustain growth (Munns, 2002).

The leaf symptoms in rice plants grown under different salinity levels were evaluated and were shown in Table 16. Leaf symptoms including dried leaf, leaf chlorosis, and leaf necrosis were recorded the significant differences affected by the only effect of varieties factor. There were higher symptoms on leaves were assessed in CNT 1 and lower symptoms in PT 1, and Inpari 35.

 Table 16 The effect of salinity levels on leaf Symptoms of rice seedlings in variety

 Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN 35) at 30 days after

 planted.

Variable	Variation		Salinity (m	M NaCl)		Mean
variable	varieties	0	50	100	150	Varieties
(CNT 1	0.0 ± 0.0	0.2 ± 0.2	0.6 ± 0.5	0.7 ± 0.6	$0.4 \pm 0.5 a$
Leaf Symptoms	PT1	0.1 ± 0.1	0.0 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.1	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \text{ b}$
	Inpari 35	0.0 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0	$0.0\pm0.0\;b$
Mean Salinity		0.0 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 0.1	0.2 ± 0.4	0.2 ± 0.5	
P- Value (F-test)				J_{λ}	5	
Variety (V) 0.00	108**, Salinity	(S) 0.16283	(NS), V x S (0.09705 (NS)	

Note :CV =coefficient of variation, *, = **significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of probability NS=non-significant difference at 0.05 level of probability, Different lower-case letters (a, b, c) = significance at 0.05 level of probability.

Inpari 35 and PT 1 was less sensitive to salinity than CNT 1 in terms of the time of appearance: 30 days after planting, and the severity of the symptoms. Chlorosis and necrosis are well known nutrient deficiency symptoms (McCauley et al., 2009). Rice plants under salinity stress will be deficient in certain essential nutrient elements (Gregorio, 1997; Hu & Schmidhalter, 2005). Consistent results among three characteristics: plant height, leaf number, and leaf symptoms, that CNT 1 showed negative affected from salinity more than PT 1 and Inpari 35, although both leaf number and leaf symptoms weren't significant affected by salinity factors.

Salinity applied at the seedling stage frequently induces premature senescence of leaves (Saroj et al., 2018). Moreover, leaf senescence is most often quantified by decreases in protein or chlorophyll concentration (Lutts et al., 1996). Furthermore, the specific effects of salt stress on leaf senescence have been associated with accumulation of toxic ions (Na⁺ and Cl⁻) or depletion of K⁺ and Ca²⁺ (Bansal, 2016). A decrease in Mg²⁺ absorption could also be responsible for decreased chlorophyll content (Farouk, 2011). Anywise, the response of plants to excess NaCl is complex and involves changes in their morphology, physiology and metabolism (Jamil et al., 2012b).

The combined analysis of the three rice varieties under growing at different salinity levels and the use of proline at different concentrations was investigated. For plant height at 33 days after planting, the results of the analysis showed that there was no interaction between the three factors but separately there were significant differences between the three varieties and also the level of salinity; excluding proline (Table 17). The damage to the plant height was observed at salt levels 50-150 mM NaCl, when compared to the control treatment (0 mM NaCl). As for the influence of varieties, it was found that Inpari 35 had the highest plant height, followed by PT 1 and CNT 1, respectively.

Increased levels of salinity can interfere with the absorption of nutrients by plants .Therefore, the decrease in plant height is real and shows a real effect. Plant height is measured from the soil surface to the tip of the tallest leaf and increasing salinity reduces the plant height of rice (Efisue & Dike, 2020). Soil stress inhibits plant growth and development with side effects such as osmotic stress, Na+ and Cl-toxicity, ethylene production, plasmolysis, nutritional imbalance, and photosynthetic interference (Abbaspoor et al., 2009). Exposure of plants to soil salinity rapidly reduces their growth and transpiration rates (TRs) due to the 'osmotic component 'of salt stress (Al-Tamimi et al., 2016). Salinity reduces growth and finally causes death through osmotic, ionic, and nutritional imbalances (Nawaz et al., 2010). However, the reduction in plant height was not large compared to salinity (50-150 mM NaCl) and non-salinity (0 mM NaCl). It was found that plant height is one of the characteristics that are highly hereditary or is mainly controlled by genetics (Charlesworth & Willis, 2009).

Table 17 The effect of proline concentrations and salinity levels on plant heigh(PH)(cm) of rice seedlings in variety Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) andInpari 35 (IN 35): at 33 days after planted.

	Proline		Salinity (mM NaCl)		Mean
Varieties	mM					Varieties
	(111111)	0	50	100	150	
	0	32.9 ± 0.8	33.9 ± 2.1	35.5 ± 2.2	36.1 ± 1.7	
CNT 1	50	33.1 ± 0.6	33.9 ± 1.3	33.3 ± 1.7	33.3 ± 1.1	$32.7\pm2.2~c$
	100	30.4 ± 1.6	31.2 ± 2.2	31.2 ± 1.8	32.0 ± 0.6	
	150	31.9 ± 2.6	31.0 ± 1.5	31.8 ± 1.7	31.2 ± 2.9	
	0	36.4 ± 2.0	36.9 ± 1.9	35.9 ± 2.1	36.1 ± 2.4	
PT 1	50	32.0 ± 3.7	35.5 ± 1.5	35.3 ± 1.9	33.8 ± 1.5	$35.0\pm2.4~b$
	100	36.4 ± 0.6	35.2 ± 1.6	34.8 ± 0.5	34.5 ± 4.3	
	150	33.4 ± 3.6	32.9 ± 0.9	35.9 ± 1.8	34.7 ± 3.6	
	0	38.7 ± 3.1	38.4 ± 1.8	39.4 ± 2.0	36.4 ± 1.6	
IN 35	50	34.6 ± 2.8	36.9 ± 2.2	36.3 ± 2.4 •	34.8 ± 5.0	$36.1 \pm 2.5 a$
	100	33.5 ± 0.8	37.3 ± 1.5	35.9 ± 1.1	34.9 ± 1.4	
	150	35.0 ± 0.5	34.9 ± 3.6	35.3 ± 1.4	34.8 ± 1.4	
Mean Sali	nity	36.4 ± 2.5 a	34.4 ± 2.5 b	$34.0 \pm 2.7 \text{ b}$	$33.6\pm2.6\ b$	
Mean Pro	line (mM):	at 0 mM = 34.0	±2.9, at 50 mM	$=34.8\pm2.8,100$	$0 \text{ mM} = 35.0 \pm 2.0$	6, 150 mM =
34.4 ± 2.7		Run I	25 1	てしらうた		
P-Value(F-	test)	2XXX				

Variety (**V**) 4.65 x 10¹¹", **Salinity** (**S**) 9.68 x 10⁷", **Proline** (**P**) 0.191 (NS), **V** x **S** 0.247 (NS), **V** x **P** 0.704 (NS), **S** x **P** 0.840 (NS), **V**:**SL**:**P** 0.801 (NS)

Note: CV =coefficient of variation, *, = **significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of robability N S =non-significant difference at 0.05 level of probability, Different lower-case letters (a, b, c) = significance at 0.05 level of probability.

However, the fact that Inpari 35 had the highest mean plant height was not only the original trait but also related to its ability to withstand salinity and its response to proline at various concentrations. This makes it difficult to assess what is the primary influence on the expression of such means? The resistant varieties were those which was better able to limit the accumulation of ions in the shoots, often by the retention of ions in the roots (Colmer et al., 2006). Therefore, the stresses caused by salinity effect to the growth rate in different rice varieties was observed (Flowers & Yeo, 1981). The response of a variety to salinity is predicted as its genetic background to tolerance (Dodig et al., 2015). Hence, the effect of salinity on plant elongation of different varieties was different, which might be due to the genetic potentiality of the varieties (Puvanitha & Mahendran, 2017).

 K^+ in plant tissues evidently decreases when plants are exposed to salt stress, especially rice genotypes (Theerawitaya et al., 2020). That increasing the concentrations of salinity developed a decline in the heights of these plants (Qados, 2011). Salinity tolerance is a complex multigenic trait, both genetically and physiologically (Shabala et al., 2013). And than differences in salt-tolerance responses among rice genotypes at different growth stages (Zeng et al., 2002).

The results of statistical analysis showed that there was no interaction between the three factors in the number of leaves. However, separately there was a significant difference between salinity levels and the three varieties. While, the proline concentration had no effect on leaf number shown in Table 18.

Increasing the level of salinity concentration decreased the number of leaves since 50 mM NaCl. This effect was the same as the change in plant height at low salinity) 50 mM NaCl also affected the leaf number. Moreover, Inpari 35 was the highest number of leaves compared with the two Thai rice varieties. For Thai rice varieties, PT 1 was a higher number of leaves more than CNT 1.

Salinity affects rice growth in all stages starting from germination to maturity (Khan et al., 2016a). These salts will eventually rise to toxic levels, especially in older leaves (Gerona et al., 2019). Salinity causes dicrease total leaves area (Dolatabadian et al., 2011). However, in this study, at seedling stage, early salinity exposure affected leaf formation. At lower salinity (50 mM NaCl) affected leaf establishment. Due to, salinity can differently affect the micronutrient concentrations in plants, however, depending upon crop species and salinity level (Zayed et al., 2011). Therefore, A high salt concentration in soil solution reduces the ability of plants to acquire water, which is referred to as the osmotic or water deficit effect of salinity (Machado & Serralheiro, 2017). Hence, the number of leaves is dicrease as a result of salinity pressure inhibiting the formation of leaf primordia (HanumanthaRao et al., 2016).

The results showed that the three varieties significantly affected the number of leaves (Table 18). This shows that the Inpari 35 variety has better leaf forming than the other two varieties. Although, the reduction of characteristics under the stress is

obtained with susceptible cultivars (Kanawapee et al., 2011). It is difficult to justice higher or lower values of the average mean of leaf number under the response to salinity and proline is the tolerance or susceptibility for salinity. Because, the genetics of those varieties at non-salinity condition is the main factor for the expression of traits as well.

Moreover of reduction of leaf production, plants growing in salt infested areas may be smaller and darker blue-green in color than the normal leaves, that effect of photosynthesis was different based on light quality (Subekti et al., 2020b). In addition, loss of chlorophyll (chlorosis) increases reflectance across the visible and near-infrared spectrum and shifts the red edge (the long-wavelength edge of the chlorophyll absorption) toward shorter wavelengths (termed the "blue shift") (Ustin et al., 2009). The increased sensitivity is mainly due to a lower ability to utilize absorbed light energy (Hoch et al., 2001). However, when photosynthesis is limited by stomatal closure, which occurs during water stress, CO_2 availability in the chloroplast is reduced, increasing the ratio of O_2/CO_2 .



Table 18 The effect of proline concentrations and salinity levels on leaves number ofrice seedlings in variety Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1(PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN35): at 33 days after planted.

Variation	Proline		Salinity (r	nM NaCl)		Mean
varieties	(mM)	0	50	100	150	Varieties
	0	3.8 ± 0.4	3.8 ± 0.6	3.8 ± 0.7	4.1 ± 0.1	
CNT 1	50	3.9 ± 0.5	3.7 ± 0.5	3.8 ± 0.5	3.7 ± 0.4	$3.8\pm0.5c$
	100	3.5 ± 0.2	4.0 ± 0.6	4.0 ± 1.0	3.8 ± 0.4	
	150	3.9 ± 0.6	3.6 ± 0.3	3.4 ±0.4	3.6 ± 0.3	
	0	4.6 ± 0.2	4.7 ± 0.1	4.3 ± 0.1	4.7 ± 0.4	
PT 1	50	4.0 ± 0.3	4.0 ± 0.2	4.0 ± 0.7	3.8 ± 0.3	$4.2\pm0.4\ b$
	100	4.1 ± 0.2	4.3 ± 0.2	3.7 ± 0.1	4.5 ± 0.3	
	150	4.2 ± 0.4	3.6 ± 0.2	3.8 ± 0.4	4.2 ± 0.4	
	0	4.8 ± 0.1	4.6 ± 0.3	4.7 ± 0.01	4.9 ± 0.1	
IN 35	50	4.2 ± 0.3	4.6 ± 0.0	4.2 ± 0.4	4.3 ± 0.6	$4.5\pm0.4a$
	100	4.3 ± 0.6	4.5 ± 0.2	4.6 ± 0.3	4.5 ± 0.2	
	150	4.4 ± 0.1	4.4 ± 0.9	4.4 ± 0.3	4.0 ± 0.6	
Mean Salini	ity	4.4 ± 0.5 a	$4.0\pm0.4~\text{b}$	4.2 ± 0.5 b	4.0 ± 0.5 b	

Mean Proline (**mM**): at 0 mM = 4.1 ± 0.4 , at 50 mM = 4.1 ± 0.5 , 100 mM = 4.1 ± 0.5 , 150 mM = 4.2 ± 0.5

0.5

P-Value(F-test)

Variety (V) 7.27 x 10⁻¹²", Salinity (S) 6.57 x 10⁻⁵", Proline (P) 0.769 (NS), V x S 0.531 (NS), V x P 0.7626 (NS), S x P 0.630 (NS), V:SL:P 0.800 (NS)

Note :CV =coefficient of variation, *, = **significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of probability. NS=non-significant difference at 0.05 level of probability, Different lower case letters (a, b, c) = significance at 0.05 level of probability.

Electron flow toward oxygen thus increases, particularly through photorespiration (Busch, 2020). Salinity stress is an important characteristic when selecting a variety for salinity tolerance (Saboora et al., 2006). Indentification of genetics that is weak or tolerant to salinity is essential. Salt-sensitive genotypes expressed more nutritional imbalance while the salt tolerant varieties were able to maintain balance among the nutrients in the tissues (Hakim et al., 2014). Leaf cell growth is sensitive to saline solutes even when export and compartmentalization processes are functioning optimally (Subbarao & Johansen, 2001). Being affected by salinity and affecting plant characteristics at an early stage will ultimately affect yields.

Proline applied exogenously at a low concentration (e.g., 30 mM) ameliorated the adverse effects of salinity on early seedling growth in rice. Whereas, at higher concentrations (40-50 mM) proline resulted in toxic effects and poor plant growth (Hayat et al., 2012). However, in this study, leaf number was not affected by proline application in different concentrations. Therefore, understanding of the role of proline accumulation in salt-tolerant rice, under salt stress, is still unclear (Negrão et al., 2011). The foliar symptoms resulting from the effects of salinity assessed are shown in Table 18. The results of the analysis showed that the level of salinity and concentration of proline showed the effect on leaf symptoms (burnt, withered, chlorosis, white tip or leaf curl) in rice at the seedling stage. However, proline concentrations did not give a significantly different effect on the leaf symptoms. CNT 1 showed higher average foliar symptoms than the other two varieties: PT 1 and Inpari 35. The level of salinity at the onset of foliar symptoms caused by salinity was at level 50 mM NaCl, and symptoms increased at level 100-150 mM NaCl. While there is a significant difference between varieties and salinity levels so that there is an interaction between these two factors (variety and salinity level). Only CNT 1 showed increased foliar symptoms at 100 mM NaCl and above, while the remaining two varieties showed no difference at all levels of salinity. Therefore, salt injury symptoms varied with concentration of salt and between cultivars. The relative salt sensitivity of cultivars was not consistent across salt levels (Maas, 2019). Although salt-affected plants were reported are stunted with dark green leaves which, in some cases, are thicker and more succulent than normal (Orak & Ates, 2005). These

observations were used to assess foliar damage in this study. Symptoms of salt stress in rice plants can cause abnormal growth, such as dried leaves at the tip and yellow symptoms in the leaves (chlorosis) (Jones Jr, 1997). Leaf injury and death is probably due to the high salt load in the leaf that exceeds the capacity of salt compartmentation in the vacuoles, causing salt to build up in the cytoplasm to toxic levels (Nawaz et al., 2010). Hence, assumed that the membrane damage caused by salt is negatively correlated with the capacity to increase enzyme activity in plants (Chen et al., 2020). Plants also show the high chlorophyll degradation symptom, chlorosis, as a common morphological and physiological characteristic in response to salt stress (Kanmani et al., 2017). In addition, ionic stress or toxic ionic effect occurs when the concentration of the salts in mature leaves reaches a toxic level. Due to the influx of large amounts of Na⁺ into the plant. This resulted in increased Na⁺ concentrations in the vacuole and cytoplasm leading to the interruption of metabolic processes. Consequently, the death of the cell occurred (Munns & Tester, 2008).

Rice is highly sensitive to salinity stress at seedling and reproductive stages. The symptoms of salt injury in rice are stunted growth, rolling of leaves, white tips, drying of older leaves, and grain sterility that cover both vegetative and reproductive stages. Rice plant is considered as moderately sensitive to saline condition (Joseph et al., 2010). However, under high salt stress conditions, most of the crop plants are susceptible and unable to survive (Läuchli & Epstein, 1990). For tolerance varieties, the tolerance to salinity is genetically and physiologically complicated and inherited quantitatively (Joseph et al., 2010). The salt-tolerant varieties of rice maintain a low concentration of Na⁺ in their leaves than those of salt sensitive lines, when exposed to salt stress (Umego et al., 2020). Rice is considered to be very salt-tolerant during germination, but very sensitive during the early seedling stages and reproduction, and less sensitive during tillering and grain filling stage (Hossain et al., 2015). Salt stress caused both osmotic and ionic stresses on rice plants which result in plant growth reduction and premature leaf senescence (Liu et al., 2019a). Photosynthetic function and chlorophyll content were inversely proportional to salinity level (Yadav et al., 2019).

In this study at the seedling stage, the effect of exogenous proline was not affected or did not support all characteristics under stress salinity. However, proline is the most general compatible solute that act a pivotal role in the process of osmotic adjustment in several plants (Siddique et al., 2018). Moreover, that exogenous proline had a positive concentration-dependent effect on seed germination under salt stress (El Moukhtari et al., 2020).

In summary, use proline to treat salinity in three varieties showed that the level of salinity concentration had an effect on plant height growth, leaf number, and symptoms at 30 days after planted, but at 33 days after planted applying exogenous proline was not effective on plant height growth, leaf number, and symptoms.



Proline Salinity (mM NaCl) Mean Varieties $(\mathbf{m}\mathbf{M})$ Varieties 0 50 100 150 0.0 ± 0.0 0.1 ± 0.2 0.7 ± 0.7 0.7 ± 0.8 0 CNT 1 50 0.0 ± 0.0 0.3 ± 0.3 0.6 ± 0.8 0.9 ± 1.3 $0.4\pm0.6\,a$ 0.0 ± 0.0 0.2 ± 0.3 0.5 ± 0.9 0.5 ± 0.5 100 0.0 ± 0.0 0.2 ± 0.2 0.2 ± 0.03 0.7 ± 0.6 150 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.1 0.0 ± 0.1 0 0.0 ± 0.0 **PT 1** 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 $0.0\pm0.1\,b$ 50 100 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 0.2 ± 0.3 0.0 ± 0.0 0.1 ± 0.2 150 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.1 0.0 ± 0.0 0 IN 35 50 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 $0.0\pm0.0\,b$ 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 100 0.0 ± 0.0 150 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 0.0 ± 0.0 **Mean Salinity** $0.1 \pm 0.2 \, ab$ $0.0\pm0.0\;b$ 0.2 ± 0.4 a $0.2 \pm 0.5 a$ **Mean Proline** (**mM**): at 0 mM = 0.1 ± 0.4, at 50 mM = 0.2 ± 0.5, 100 mM = 0.1 ± 0.3, 150 mM = 0.1 ± 0.3 Varieties Salinity (mM NaCl) **(V**) 0 50 100 150 CNT 1 $0.0 \pm 0.0 b$ $0.2 \pm 0.2 \, b$ 0.5 ± 0.6 a $0.7 \pm 0.7 a$ Vx S $0.0 \pm 0.0 \ b$ $0.0\pm0.0\,b$ $0.0 \pm 0.1 \ b$ PT 1 $0.1 \pm 0.2 \, b$ 0.0 ± 0.0 b $0.0\pm0.0\,b$ $0.0\pm0.0\,b$ $0.0 \pm 0.0 b$ Inpari 35 P-Value(F-test) Variety (V) 5.13 x 107", Salinity (S) 0.01539*, Proline (P) 0.92429 (NS), V x S 0.00315**, V x P 0.91256 (NS), S x P 0.98174 (NS), V:SL:P 0.99995 (NS)

Table 19 The effect of proline concentrations and salinity levels on symptoms (%) of rice seedlings in variety Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN 35): at 33 days after planted

Note: CV = coefficient of variation, *, = **significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of probability. NS = non-significant difference at 0.05 level of probability, Different lower-case letters (a, b, c) = significance at 0.05 level of probability.

The relative water content (RWC)

Relative water content (RWC) in rice plants was strongly influenced by salinity and varieties separately (Table 19). In this experiment, the water content in the leaves will decrease if the salinity concentration were added, but at 50 mM NaCl, the water content in the leaf relatives is still high (66.5%) was similar and not significantly different from that in controls (67%). However, this decreases with a significant difference at 100 mM (63.8 %) and 150 mM NaCl (61.2%) than the control treatment. High concentrations of salt in solution result in increased osmotic stress, which limits water absorption by the plant and in turn, affects leaf water content, stomatal conductance, leaf growth, and photosynthesis (Mitra, 2018). herefore, the higher the salinity concentration reduced the absorption of water by the roots and the higher the transpiration by the leaves so that the water storage within the leaves decreases. Therefore, when the salt concentration increased, Na⁺ concentration in the leaves increased and K⁺ content decreased (Ahire et al., 2012). High salt levels can influence the balance of other ions within cells, leading to ion deficiencies (Nawaz et al., 2010). Salt stress causes various effects on plant physiology such as increased respiration rate, ion toxicity, changes in plant growth, mineral distribution, and membrane instability resulting from calcium displacement by sodium (Nawaz et al., 2010). That the relative moisture content of the leaves decreased more rapidly in the treated plants with salt than in the control plants (Kapoor & Pande, 2015). Salinity reduces the plant's ability to benefit from water and causes a decrease in plant growth and production by inhibiting plant metabolism (Munns, 2002). The translocation of salts to the roots and to the shoots is the outcome of the transpiration flow required to maintain the water status of the plant and unorganized transpiration can lead to poisoning levels of ion accumulation in the shoots (Farooq et al., 2015).

The result showed significant differences between the three varieties on relative water content, Inapri 35 (71.2 %) had the highest value and was followed by PT 1 (65.7 %) and CNT 1 (57.7 %), respectively. However, at the control condition (0 mM NaCl and 0 mM proline), it was found the values of water content in all three varieties have a sequence of such values were the same (Table 20).

Varieties	Proline (mM)		Maan					
		0	50	100	150	Varieties		
	0	61.3 ± 6.0	61.8 ± 12.9	50.5 ± 10.8	46.9 ± 10.3			
CNT 1	50	56.3 ± 4.0	66.6 ± 6.2	60.6 ± 7.7	59.0 ± 6.8	57.7 ± 9.2 c		
	100	60.5 ± 4.8	55.8 ± 9.2	62.3 ± 3.4	52.5 ± 10.3			
	150	56.8 ± 10.8	63.5 ± 14.5	60.4 ± 6.4	47.7 ± 7.7			
	0	67.9 ± 9.4	69.1 ± 1.4	62.7 ± 2.2	63.3 ± 3.6			
PT1	50	67.6 ± 8.8	71.5 ± 7.7	66.0 ± 3.3	67.2 ± 4.4	$65.7\pm7.2\ b$		
	100	70.9 ± 6.7	67.6 ± 10.3	59.1 ± 10.1	60.1 ± 12.2			
	150	69.7 ± 6.15	63.9 ± 4.6	66.7 ± 4.2	58.5 ± 10.1			
	0	75.9 ± 3.5	66.6 ± 4.2	72.4 ± 1.3	69.2 ± 7.0			
IN35	50	77.3 ± 4.3	68.0 ± 6.3	70.9 ± 1.6	72.1 ± 6.6	$71.2\pm6.8~a$		
	100	80.3 ± 4.6	70.4 ± 13.1	70.0 ± 4.3	68.4 ± 10.6			
	150	71.0 ± 6.4	73.2 ± 1.0	64.0 ± 11.9	68.9 ± 3.8			
Mean Salinity		68.0 ± 9.4 a	66.5 ± 8.6 ab	$63.8 \pm 8.0 \text{ bc}$	$61.2 \pm 10.8 \text{ c}$			
Proline (mM)								
		0	50	100	150			
Mean Proline		64.0 ± 10.1	66.9 ± 7.6	64.8 ± 10.6	63.7 ± 9.7			
P-Value(F-test)								
Variety (V) 6.56 x 10 ^{-13**} , Salinity (S) 0.00141**, Proline (P) 0.27044 (NS), V x S 0.21056 (NS), V x								
P 0.91125 (NS), S x P 0.74225 (NS), V x S x P 0.73934 (NS)								
Note: $CV = Coefficient of Variation * = **significant difference at 0.05 and 0.0$								

Table 20 Mean of relative water content (%) of three rice varieties [Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN 35)] grown under different salinity levels and received the proline supplementation in different concentration

Note: CV = Coefficient of Variation, *, = **significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01levels of probability, NS= non-significant difference at 0.05 level of probability, different lower-case letters (a, b, c) mean significance at 0.05 level of probability

Therefore, although salinity affected such percentage reduction, the influence of the varieties is still pronouncing. Plants respond to salinity by sequestering toxic ions in the vacuoles and accumulating compatible solutes in the cytoplasm to balance water potential decrease (Heidari, 2012). Sensitive varieties are losing vigor quickly by losing water from the stress condition. Opposite, resistant genotypes can tolerate well and survive in severely saline soils (Misratia et al., 2013). Plants have developed complex mechanisms to overcome salt stress such as osmotic adjustment which provides the means to avoid cellular dehydration that is essential for maintaining cellular activity (Boughalleb et al., 2017).

Hence, salt-tolerant plants show thickening of leaves, which can help in maintaining leaf water content and turgor (Boughalleb et al., 2017). As osmotic stress and ion toxicity are the predominant effects of salt stress. Plants have correspondingly adapted to salt stress by decreasing their susceptibility to these effects and continuously grow under salt stress conditions (Khalid et al., 2017). Neither proline nor interaction between proline and other factors (salinity or varieties) was a significant difference effected to relative water content (Table 20). It was seen that there was no relationship between the amount of proline and the percentage of moisture content, at least in the three rice genotypes. Although feasible of proline and other free amino acids was reported their ability with improving salt tolerance (Zegaoui et al., 2017).

The chlorophyll contents

Chlorophyll a is the most commonly used photosynthetic pigment and absorbs blue, red and violet wavelengths in the visible spectrum. It participates mainly in oxygenic photosynthesis in which oxygen is the main by-product of the process. All oxygenic photosynthetic organisms contain this type of chlorophyll and include almost all plants and most bacteria (Kalaji et al., 2017).

The results of the analysis indicated that there was no significant difference in any combination among treatment factors of salinity levels, proline levels, and rice varieties. In addition, proline was not significantly different effect on Chlorophyll A. However, factors individually include salinity levels and rice varieties showed a significant effect on Chlorophyll A (Table 21). Decreased chlorophyll A content was significantly different from non-salinity level (0 mM NaCl) (0.15 mg/g) at 100 mM (0.12 mg/g) and 150 mM (0.10 mg/g) NaCl. Based on result, the decrease in chlorophyll content at high salinity may be related with impaired cellular function and damage to chlorophyll due to accumulation of salt ions, especially sodium (Khoshbakht et al., 2015).

Table 21 Mean of Chlorophyll A content (mg/g) of three rice varieties [Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN 35)] grown under different salinity levels and received the proline supplementation in different concentration

Varieties	Proline (mM)		Maar					
		0	50	100	150	Varieties		
	0	0.12 ± 0.07	0.15 ± 0.06	0.10 ± 0.03	0.09 ± 0.02			
CN1	50	0.13 ± 0.05	0.14 ± 0.02	0.09 ± 0.03	0.11 ± 0.03	$0.12\pm0.04~b$		
	100	0.10 ± 0.04	0.15 ± 0.01	0.12 ± 0.00	0.09 ± 0.03			
	150	0.16 ± 0.08	0.12 ± 0.03	0.11 ± 0.01	0.10 ± 0.03			
	0	0.14 ± 0.10	0.16 ± 0.08	0.10 ± 0.02	0.09 ± 0.01			
PT1	50	0.15 ± 0.06	0.13 ± 0.01	0.15 ± 0.01	0.12 ± 0.01	$0.13 \pm 0.05 ab$		
	100	0.16 ± 0.11	0.15 ± 0.02	0.14 ± 0.04	0.09 ± 0.01			
	150	0.16 ± 0.05	0.18 ± 0.12	0.11 ± 0.02	0.12 ± 0.03			
	0	0.17 ± 0.11	0.16 ± 0.07	0.11 ± 0.00	0.10 ± 0.01			
IN35	50	0.18 ± 0.07	0.16 ± 0.02	0.13 ± 0.00	0.12 ± 0.02	0.15 ± 0.05 a		
	100	0.18 ± 0.09	0.18 ± 0.08	0.13 ± 0.01	0.12 ± 0.03			
	150	0.18 ± 0.08	0.18 ± 0.04	0.15 ± 0.03	0.11 ± 0.01			
Mean Salinity		0.15 ± 0.07 a	0.16 ± 0.05 a	0.12 ± 0.03 b	$0.10\pm0.02~b$			
Proline (mM)								
		0	50	100	150			
Mean Proline		0.12 ± 0.06	0.13 ± 0.03	0.13 ± 0.05	0.14 ± 0.06			
P-Value(F-test)								
Variety (V) 0.0133*, Salinity (S) 2.59 x10 ⁵ ", Proline (P) 0.6246 (NS), V x S 0.9369 (NS), V x P 0.9981								

Variety (V) 0.0133*, Salinity (S) 2.59 x10⁵", Proline (P) 0.6246 (NS), V x S 0.9369 (NS), V x P 0.9981 (NS), S x P 0.9670 (NS), V x S x P 0.9946 (NS)

Note: CV = Coefficient of Variation, *, = **significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of probability, NS= non-significant difference at 0.05 level of probability, Different lower-case letters (a, b, c) significance at 0.05 level of probability

Abnormal in chlorophyll can causes disruption of photosynthesis process, so that plant growth is not optimal. Because chlorophyll and carotenoids are central to energy acquisition for green plants, and significant changes in their concentrations marked effects on the entire process of plant metabolism (Gong et al., 2018). For physiological processes, such as photosynthesis, was affected by salt stress with reduction of chlorophyll pigment and stomatal closure associated with decreased CO2 pressure and suppression of the Rubisco enzyme (Rady et al., 2019). Chlorophyll A, it is the major chlorophyll species functioning in the photosystems (Tanaka & Tanaka, 2011). The decrease in chlorophyll concentration in saline plants could be associated with an increase in the activity of the chlorophyll-degrading enzyme chlorophyllase (Fariduddin et al., 2013). Furthermore, The accumulation of ions in the leaves also affects the chlorophyll concentration (Jamil et al., 2012b).

Statistical analysis of varieties showed significant differences between rice varieties (Table 21). CNT 1 varieties tended to have lower Chlorophyll A conten (0.12 mg/g), followed by PT 1 (0.13 mg/g) when compared to Inpari 35 varieties which had higher Chlorophyll A content (0.15 mg/g). However, there was no significant difference between the two Thai rice varieties: CNT 1 and PT 1. When considering the Chlorophyll, A content at normal conditions when there was no salinity (0 mM NaCl) and no proline added (0 mM proline), it was found that Inpari 35 had the highest value compared to the two Thai rice varieties. The high content of chlorophyll content is one of the factors that promote the efficiency of photosynthesis. Thus, the decline in productivity observed for many plant species subjected to excess salinity is often associated with the reduction in photosynthesis capacity (Rawat et al., 2012). Thus, Inpari 35 stood out from the rest when considering only the content of Chlorophyll A produced by the plant.

Salinity often causes water deficiency and ion poisoning that impede plant growth by interfere physiological processes, especially photosynthesis (Safdar et al., 2019). An increase in stomatal density and a reduced stomatal area under salinity, indicating an adaptation to salt stress (Naz et al., 2010). Hence, salts are taken up by plants affect to indirectly control their growth by affecting turgor, photosynthesis, or enzyme activities. However, the accumulation of salt in old leaves may hasten leaf death (Jamil et al., 2007).

Plants tolerant to NaCl implement is one in patterns of adaptations to acclimate to salinity, to maintain normal processes including morphological, physiological, biochemical, and molecular (Hernández, 2019). In addition, salt-tolerant genotypes have induced the capability of plant protection against oxidative damage caused by salt stress such as produce antioxidant enzymes in preventing cell damage (Sevengor et al., 2011).

Chlorophyll B primarily absorbs blue light and was used to complement the absorption spectrum of chlorophyll a by extending the range of light wavelengths a photosynthetic organism is able to absorb (Schliep et al., 2013). Both of these types of chlorophyll (Chlorophyll A and B) work in concert to allow maximum absorption of light in the blue to red spectrum; however, not all photosynthetic organisms have the Chlorophyll B pigment (Croce & Van Amerongen, 2014).

The results of statistical analysis showed that there was no significant difference in Chlorophyll B caused by both combinations between any factors and individual factors; excluded salinity levels (Table 22). Chlorophyll B content was significantly reduced as the salinity level was increased, with the salinity level at 100 mM (1.40 mg/g) and 150 mM (1.30 mg/g) NaCl had values decreased compared to the non-salinity level (0 mM NaCl) (1.80 mg/g). Chlorophyll is one of the major components of chloroplasts with role in photosynthesis, and chlorophyll content was positively correlated with the rate of photosynthesis (Bettini et al., 2016). However, chlorophyll plays an important part in the light-harvesting process of photosynthesis and in reducing over energy (Sharma et al., 2020a). Hence, there was strong evidence that salt affects photosynthetic enzymes, chlorophyll, and carotenoids (Hepaksoy,2015).

The reduction in photosynthesis under salinity can explain one reason be attributed to a decrease in chlorophyll content. Salinity reduces the chlorophyll content in salt susceptible plants and increases it in salt-tolerant plants (Asch et al., 2000; Heidari, 2012). Therefore, at high salt concentrations, sodium chloride cause osmotic stress by decreasing water potential within the cells, and ionic stress due to specific inhibition of metabolic processes (Safdar et al., 2019). Reductions in photosynthesis due to salt stress, which has been attributed to decrease in stomatal and mesophyll conductance of CO2 (Khatri & Rathore, 2019). The negative effect of salinity on plant growth and water content may be due to the occurring of defense metabolism in plant cells (Çiçek & Çakirlar, 2002). Morever, chlorophyll content in many types as one of the parameters of salt tolerance in crop plants (Sairam et al., 2005).

Varieties	Proline (mM)		Moon					
		0	50	100	150	Varieties		
	0	1.37 ± 0.75	1.86 ± 0.89	1.14 ± 0.37	1.21 ± 0.35			
CNT 1	50	1.49 ± 0.44	1.76 ± 0.29	1.15 ± 0.40	1.41 ± 0.32			
	100	2.39 ± 1.55	2.14 ± 0.36	1.38 ± 0.10	1.12 ± 0.47	1.53 ± 0.62		
	150	1.79 ± 0.71	1.67 ± 0.45	1.35 ± 0.14	1.26 ± 0.45			
	0	1.57 ± 0.97	2.26 ± 1.41	1.02 ± 0.39	1.13 ± 0.21			
PT1	50	1.56 ± 0.36	1.67 ± 0.05	1.75 ± 0.12	1.52 ± 0.05	1.66 ± 0.73		
	100	1.91 ± 0.94	2.14 ± 0.58	1.78 ± 0.65	1.04 ± 0.23			
	150	1.90 ± 0.45	2.43 ± 1.80	1.39 ± 0.16	1.55 ± 0.46			
	0	1.80 ± 1.03	2.14 ± 1.44	1.26 ± 0.16	1.19 ± 0.23			
IN35	50	1.99 ± 0.66	1.90 ± 0.44	1.44 ± 0.03	1.36 ± 0.22	1.73 ± 0.72		
	100	1.90 ± 1.04	2.40 ± 1.48	1.41 ± 0.09	1.47 ± 0.44			
	150	2.04 ± 0.71	2.30 ± 0.93	1.74 ± 0.29	1.31 ± 0.04			
Mean Salinity		$1.81 \pm 0.76a$	$2.06\pm0.87a$	$1.40 \pm 0.34b$	$1.30\pm0.31b$			
Proline (mM)								
		7 0	50	100	150			
Mean Proline		1.50 ± 0.79	1.58 ± 0.36	1.76 ± 0.81	1.73 ± 0.70			
P-Value(F-test) Variety (V) 0.372 (NS), Salinity (S) 1.94 x 10 ⁵⁺ , Proline (P) 0.343 (NS), V x S 0.987 (NS),								

Table 22 Mean of Chlorophyll B content (mg/g) of three rice varieties [Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN 35)] grown under different salinity levels and received the proline supplementation in different concentration

V x **P** 0.989 (NS), **S** x **P** 0.905 (NS), **V** x **S** x **P** 0.998 (NS) Note: CV = Coefficient of Variation, *, = **significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of probability, NS= non-significant difference at 0.05 level of probability, Different lower-case letters (a, b, c) significance at 0.05 level of probability

The significant difference in total chlorophyll content was observed effect by salinity level only (Table 23). The results of this study were consistent with Chlorophyll A and B contents where salinity levels at 100 mM (1.52 mg/g) and 200 mM (1.40) NaCl resulted in a marked reduction in total chlorophyll content compared to the non-salinity level (0 mM NaCl) (1.96 mg/g). However, no influence was found due to different varieties, which was different from the individual chlorophyll types analysis. Moreover, no influence was found due to the use of proline at different concentrations on total chlorophyll content.

T 7 • 4•	Proline		Mean Varieties					
Varieties	(mNI)	0	50	100	150			
	0	1.48 ± 0.82	2.00 ± 0.95	1.24 ± 0.40	1.31 ± 0.37			
CN1	50	1.63 ± 0.48	1.90 ± 0.30	1.24 ± 0.43	1.51 ± 0.34	1.65 ± 0.64		
	100	2.49 ± 1.51	2.30 ± 0.37	1.50 ± 0.10	1.21 ± 0.49			
	150	1.95 ± 0.79	1.79 ± 0.48	1.46 ± 0.14	1.35 ± 0.48			
	0	1.71 ± 1.07	2.42 ± 1.49	1.12 ± 0.40	1.22 ± 0.22			
PT1	50	1.71 ± 0.41	1.80 ± 0.05	1.90 ± 0.13	1.65 ± 0.07	1.80 ± 0.78		
	100	0.06 ± 1.04	2.28 ± 0.60	1.92 ± 0.69	1.13 ± 0.23			
	150	2.06 ± 0.50	2.60 ± 1.92	1.50 ± 0.18	1.66 ± 0.48			
	0	1.97 ± 1.14	2.30 ± 1.51	1.37 ± 0.17	1.29 ± 0.24			
IN35	50	2.16 ± 0.72	2.06 ± 0.46	1.57 ± 0.03	1.47 ± 0.24	1.88 ± 0.77		
	100	2.08 ± 1.13	2.58 ± 1.55	1.54 ± 0.10	1.59 ± 0.47			
	150	2.23 ± 0.79	2.48 ± 0.97	1.89 ± 0.32	1.42 ± 0.04			
Mean Salinity		$1.96 \pm 0.81a$	2.21 ± 0.9 a	1.52 ±0.37 b	1.40 ±0.33b			
Proline (mM)								
		0	50	100	150			
Mean Proline		1.62 ± 0.84	1.72 ± 0.39	1.89 ± 0.85	1.87 ± 0.75			
P-Value(F-test)								
Variety (V) 0.313 (NS), Salinity (S) 1.69 x 10 ⁵ , Proline (P) 0.359 (NS), V x S 0.988 (NS),								
V x P 0.992 (NS), S x P 0.915 (NS), V x S x P 0.998 (NS)								

Table 23 Mean of total chlorophyll content (mg/g) of three rice varieties [Chai Nat 1 (CNT 1), Pathum Thani 1 (PT 1) and Inpari 35 (IN 35)] grown under different salinity levels and received the proline supplementation in different concentration

Note: CV = Coefficient of Variation, *, = **significant difference at 0.05 and 0.01 levels of probability, NS= non-significant difference at 0.05 level of probability, Different lower-case letters (a, b, c) significance at 0.05 level of probability

Salinity reduces the rate of photosynthesis and photosynthetic pigment, which causes a decrease in plant growth and survival (Mbarki et al., 2018). NaCl stress decreased total chlorophyll content of the plant by increasing the activity of the chlorophyll degrading enzyme: chlorophyllase (Jamil et al., 2007). When a plant is under stress, the changes in the chlorophyll content may be small in the initial stages. However, as the salty stress level increases, the plant chlorophyll content decreases

more quickly than the other pigments (Anjum et al., 2011). Salt stress affects plant physiology at the whole plant as well as cellular levels through osmotic and ionic

stress (Nawaz et al., 2010). The accumulation of ion under salinity stress is adversely affected chlorophyll concentration in leaves (Jamil et al., 2012b). Thereby, high accumulation of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ in the leaves also reduces photosynthetic capacity and Na⁺ content in the leaves of rice (Zuccarini, 2008). Increasing the accumulation of NaCl in the chloroplasts of leaves in higher plants are affecting growth rates, and is often associated with decreased photosynthetic electron transport activity (Nimir et al., 2016). Hence, chlorophyll content decreased is an indicative response across different plants subjected to salinity stress (Kibria et al., 2017).

Semi-Quantitative RT-PCR

Total RNA from 3 varieties; CNT 1, PT 1 and Inpari 35, 4 salinity levels and 4 proline levels of low rice were extracted and reverse transcribed into cDNA. The *OsP5Cs1* and Actin primers were used to amplified by semi-quantitative RT-PCR. The gel electrophoresis results are shown in Figure 1-4. PCR products were 325 base pairs (*OsP5Cs1*) and 70 base pairs Actin.

To investigate whether any enzyme in the proline synthesis pathway was upregulated after proline application at the seedling stage. At non-salinity stress (0 mM NaCl), the result showed that proline accumulation was lower at 0 mM and 50 mM proline application but increased at 100 mM and 150 mM in CNT 1, the transcript levels of *OsP5Cs1* were investigated by RT -PCR. For Inapri 35, proline synthesis was low at all levels of proline use including the control treatment (0 mM proline). However, 0 mM and 50 mM proline in PT 1 and 50 mM proline in InpRI-35 under normal salinity conditions were observed to lose the OsP5Cs1 band in (Figure 1). Overall, proline accumulation in all rice varieties was low, despite external proline application when growing rice under non-salinity (Figure 1).

Gel Electrophoresis

P5Cs1 gene content in three rice varieties of foliar application of proline under normal condition (0 mM)



Figure 1 Gel Electrophoresis of *P5Cs1*(A) (Lane M =100 bp DNA marker) the application of proline and (B) Actin gene (Lane M =100 bp DNA marker) under normal condition (non-salinity) [0 mM sodium chloride (NaCl)], Lane number 1-12 = PCR products from 1 = V1P0, 2 =V1P1, 3 =V1P2, 4 =V1P3, 5 =V2P0, 6 =V2P1, 7 =V2P2, 8 =V2P3, 9 =V3P0, 10 =V3P1, 11 =V3P2, 12 =V3P3(. Note; V1= Chai Nat 1, V2= Pathum Thani 1, V3= Inpari 35, P0= control, P1= 50 mM of proline, P2= 100 mM of proline, P3= 150 mM of proline

The results were similar between 0 mM and 50 mM NaCl at relatively low proline synthesis in leaves (Figure 2). Thai rice varieties (CNT 1 and PT 1) had a higher response to proline application, especially at concentrations 100 mM and 150 mM proline, than that of Inpari 35. However, at 50 mM salinity, 100 mM proline was lost in the PT 1 variety (Figure 2).





Figure 2 Gel Electrophoresis of P5Cs1(A) (Lane M =100 bp DNA marker) the application of proline and (B) Actin gene (Lane M =100 bp DNA marker) under 50 mM sodium chloride (NaCl), Lane number 1-12 =PCR products from (1 = V1P0, 2 = V1P1, 3 =V1P2, 4 =V1P3, 5 =V2P0, 6 =V2P1, 7 =V2P2, 8 =V2P3, 9 =V3P0, 10 =V3P1, 11 =V3P2, 12 =V3P3). Note; V1= Chai Nat 1, V2= Pathum Thani 1, V3= Inpari 35, P0= control, P1= 50 mM of proline, P2= 100 mM of proline, P3= 150 mM of proline.

Salt stress was observed to induce the expression of the *OsP5Cs1* transcript and the application of additional exogenous proline further increased the OsP5Cs1 transcript level in the CNT 1, PT 1 and Inpari 35 varieties at the seedling stage under
salinity conditions at 100 mM and 150 mM NaCl (Figure 3-4). Inpari 35 appears to have a low proline accumulation response to proline use at lower salinity levels (0, 50, and 100 mM NaCl) (Figure 1-3). However, it was found that proline accumulation in plants was relatively high compared to Thai rice varieties (CNT 1 and PT 1) when high levels of proline were applied to rice grown under the highest salinity condition at 150 mM NaCl (Figure 4).

P5Cs1 gene content in three rice varieties of foliar application of proline under (100 mM)



Figure 3 Gel Electrophoresis of *P5Cs1* (A) (Lane M =100 bp DNA marker) the application of proline and (B) Actin gene (Lane M =100 bp DNA marker) under 100 mM sodium chloride (NaCl), Lane number 1-12 =PCR products from (1 = V1P0, 2 = V1P1, 3 =V1P2, 4 =V1P3, 5 =V2P0, 6 =V2P1, 7 =V2P2, 8 =V2P3, 9 =V3P0, 10 =V3P1, 11 =V3P2, 12 =V3P3). Note; V1= Chai Nat 1, V2= Pathum Thani 1, V3= Inpari 35, P0= control, P1= 50 mM of proline, P2= 100 mM of proline, P3= 150 mM of proline.



P5Cs1 gene content in three rice varieties of foliar application of proline under (150 mM)

Figure 4 Gel Electrophoresis of *P5Cs1* (A) (Lane M =100 bp DNA marker) the application of proline and (B) Actin gene (Lane M =100 bp DNA marker) under 150 mM sodium chloride (NaCl), Lane number 1-12 =PCR products from (1 = V1P0, 2 = V1P1, 3 =V1P2, 4 =V1P3, 5 =V2P0, 6 =V2P1, 7 =V2P2, 8 =V2P3, 9 =V3P0, 10 =V3P1, 11 =V3P2, 12 =V3P3). Note; V1= Chai Nat 1, V2= Pathum Thani 1, V3= Inpari 35, P0= control, P1= 50 mM of proline, P2= 100 mM of proline, P3= 150 mM of proline

After application of leaf proline, the *OsP5Cs1* gene showed at higher salinity conditions (100 and 150 mM NaCl) compared to lower salinity (50 mM NaCl) and normal conditions (0 mM NaCl). However, proline accumulation cannot be considered is a marker of salt tolerance, but its accumulates under various stress conditions such as temperature, drought, and starvation (Misra & Gupta, 2005). Indeed, proline can also act as a signaling/regulatory molecule capable of activating various responses that are components of the adaptation process (Boughalleb et al., 2017). In addition, the high and low levels of proline in plant tissue were used to evaluate the tolerance level of varieties to stress (Chunthaburee et al., 2016).

However, the exogenous response differs greatly among plant species. ie not all species are responsive to exogenous application and the effective dose varies from species to species, and also sometimes overdose can show toxic effects resulting in growth or yield reduction (Yang et al., 2019). On the other hand, the accumulation of *P5CS1* and *P5CR* in chloroplasts during salt stress conditions suggests that under such adverse conditions, glutamate-derived proline biosynthesis is increased in plastids, where photosynthesis takes place (Shafi et al., 2019a). Besides that, Proline accumulated under stress as well stores energy for survival and growth and thus helps plants to permit stressful conditions (Shrivastava & Kumar, 2015). Proline may also serve as an organic nitrogen reservoir ready to be used after stress relief to sustain both amino acid and protein synthesis (Summart et al., 2010). There is increasing evidence that proline enhances antioxidant protection mechanisms and increase stress tolerance in plants (Bhusan et al., 2016). Proline protects membranes, proteins, and enzymes from damaging interference from various stresses (Bhusan et al., 2016). Moreover, prolin juga menjaga dan melindungi terhadap stres garam melalui mempertahankan homeostasis redoks (Hossain & Fujita, 2010). Although, proline is a much-accepted positive role, the poisonous effects of proline at high concentrations can cause problems (Dar et al., 2016b).

When semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis data were linked to the expression of other traits in greenhouse experiment from this study (Experiment 4), PT 1 seems to be more tolerant to salinity than CNT 1 in those tesing but were not different in *OsP5Cs1* gene expression. Therefore, the salinity response by proline synthesis in plants may be one of the only forming salinity stress tolerance. For Inpari 35, it showed various characteristics of tolerance from germination to the seedling stage (Experiment 1-4). Moreover, it had more proline accumulation in the leaf; the transcript levels of *OsP5Cs1* were investigated by RT-PCR was more pronounced than in Thai rice varieties when rice is grown at high salinity (100 mM and 150 mM NaCl). These results might assess the salinity tolerance in Inpari 35 was higher than two Thai rice varieties; CNT 1 and PT 1.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSION

This study provided the testing in four experiments; to test the effect of the practice for rice planting at germination stage and seedling stage in rice both normal and salinity conditions.

For testing the effect of salinity concentrations on rice germination by between paper germination in Experiment 1, it was found that salinity affected to decrease all characteristics of seedling; excluded percent of germination and root length. Salinity at levels from 50 mM and 100 mM NaCl had a significant impact to decrease characteristics at the germination and seedling stage compared to the non-salinity level (0 mM NaCl) in PT 1 and two rice varieties; CNT 1 and Inpari 35, respectively. Seems, CNT 1 and Inpari 35 are two varieties that showed better salinity tolerance which could maintain the characteristics compared with PT 1.

Testing on the effect of seed soaking before sowing on rice germination under the salt condition in Experiment 2, it was found that most characteristics (excluded germination percentage) were affected by salinity increasing in all rice varieties. Presoaking the seeds by nil water results in an increase in seedling characteristics including shoot length, root length, and seedling vigor index; compared to not seed soaking in all rice varieties. Consideration, most characteristics of seedling were affected since at 100 mM NaCl and above in CNT 1. For PT 1, the hairy root received the affected salinity at 50 mM NaCl, and other root characteristics and SL showed a negative effect since at 100 mM NaCl. Compared to CNT 1, PT 1 is slightly more susceptible to salinity. In Experiment 2, only observation at the results in this study, it seems that Inpari 35 has similar salinity tolerance with CNT 1.

In Experiment 3, the use of different proline concentrations could promote various characteristics under salinity conditions (150 mM NaCl). In the absence of salinity effects (0 mM NaCl), proline is best used at approximately 50 mM, but in the case of salinity during seedling growth, the use of proline must be increased to 100

mM. A low concentration of proline had a greater effect on the root traits than on shoots.

In greenhouse testing the effect of proline concentration on rice seedling grown under salt level (150 mM NaCl), soil salinity since at 50 mM NaCl showed adversely influences plant growth, leading to significant reductions in plant height. Considering characteristics; plant height, leaf number, and leaf symptoms, it seems that the most salinity-sensitive varieties were CNT 1, PT 1, and Inpari 35 respectively. That was different from the results were observed in laboratory testings at the germination stage that CNT 1 was more salinity tolerant than PT 1. Using proline by spraying did not significantly affect the characteristics of rice at the seedling stage.

The salinity affected the relative water content at 100 mM and 150 mM NaCl by decreasing values compared with the control treatment; in all rice varieties. However, the overall means of water content were different between different rice varieties, which Inapri 35 had the highest value and was followed by PT 1 and CNT 1, respectively. Similarly, significant decreased Chlorophyll A, B, and total chlorophyll contents were observed compared with non-salinity level (0 mM NaCl) since at 100 mM NaCl. Moreover, only Chlorophyll A was found the difference in varieties which the highest was indicated in Inpari 35, and followed by PT 1 and CNT 1, respectively. However, neither proline nor interaction between proline and other factors (salinity or varieties) was a significant effect on relative water content and chlorophyll contents (Chlorophyll A, B, and total chlorophyll contents).

For semi-quantitive RT-PCR of *OsP5Cs1* gene expression, proline accumulation was higher at high salinity levels at 100 mM and 150 mM NaCl. Moreover, at those salinity levels, it was found that proline accumulation by the expression of *OsP5Cs1* gene was clearly at 100 mM and 150 mM proline for application.

REFERENCES

- Abbas, A., Yu, H., Cui, H., & Li, X. (2020). Genetic Diversity and Synergistic Modulation of Salinity Tolerance Genes in Aegilops tauschii Coss. *Plants* (*Basel, Switzerland*), 10(7), 1393. doi:10.3390/plants10071393
- Abbas, Y., Yun, S., Wang, Z., Zhang, Y., Zhang, X., & Wang, K. (2021). Recent advances in bio-based carbon materials for anaerobic digestion: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 135, 110378.
- Abbaspoor, A., Zabihi, H. R., Movafegh, S., & Asl, M. A. (2009). The efficiency of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) on yield and yield components of two varieties of wheat in salinity condition. *Am Eurasian J Sustain Agric, 3*(4), 824-828.
- Abdullah, M., Cuixia, L., Ghazanfar, S., Rehman, A., Ghazanfar, B., & Saud, S. (2013).
 Problems faced by rice growing farmers and their behavior to the government policies: a case from Pakistan. *Journal of Biology, Agriculture and Healthcare, 3*(16), 1-9.
- Acosta-Motos, J. R., Ortuño, M. F., Bernal-Vicente, A., Diaz-Vivancos, P., Sanchez-Blanco, M. J., & Hernandez, J. A. (2017). Plant responses to salt stress: adaptive mechanisms. *Agronomy*, 7(1), 18.
- Aggarwal, P. K., Joshi, P. K., Ingram, J. S., & Gupta, R. K. (2004). Adapting food systems of the Indo-Gangetic plains to global environmental change: key information needs to improve policy formulation. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 7(6), 487-498.
- Ahire, M. L., Lokhande, V. H., Kishor, P. B. K., & Nikam, T. D. (2012). Brinjal (Solanum melongena Linn.) Varieties Accumulate both Na and K under Low NaCl Stress, but Excludes Na and Accumulate K under High Salt Levels. Asian and Australasian Journal of Plant Science and Biotechnology, 6(1), 1-6.
- Akbarimoghaddam, H., Galavi, M., Ghanbari, A., & Panjehkeh, N. (2011). Salinity effects on seed germination and seedling growth of bread wheat cultivars. *Trakia journal of Sciences*, 9(1), 43-50.
- Al-Saady, N., Khan, A., Rajesh, L., & Esechie, H. (2012). Effect of salt stress on germination, proline metabolism and chlorophyll content of fenugreek (Trigonella foenum gracium L.). *Journal of Plant Sciences*, 7(5), 176.
- Al-Tamimi, N., Brien, C., Oakey, H., Berger, B., Saade, S., Ho, Y. S., Schmöckel, S. M., Tester, M., & Negrão, S. (2016). Salinity tolerance loci revealed in rice using high-throughput non-invasive phenotyping. *Nature communications*, 7(1), 1-11.
- Alam, H., Khattak, J. Z., Ksiksi, T. S., Saleem, M. H., Fahad, S., Sohail, H., Ali, Q., Zamin, M., El-Esawi, M. A., & Saud, S. (2021). Negative impact of long-term exposure of salinity and drought stress on native Tetraena mandavillei L. *Physiologia plantarum*, 172(2), 1336-1351.
- Alexandratos, N., & Bruinsma, J. (2012). World agriculture towards 2030/2050: the 2012 revision.
- Ali, Y., Aslam, Z., Ashraf, M., & Tahir, G. (2004). Effect of salinity on chlorophyll concentration, leaf area, yield and yield components of rice genotypes grown under saline environment. *International Journal of Environmental Science & Technology*, 1(3), 221-225.

- Almansouri, M., Kinet, J.-M., & Lutts, S. (2001). Effect of salt and osmotic stresses on germination in durum wheat (Triticum durum Desf.). *Plant and soil*, 231(2), 243-254.
- Anjum, S. A., Xie, X.-y., Wang, L.-c., Saleem, M. F., Man, C., & Lei, W. (2011). Morphological, physiological and biochemical responses of plants to drought stress. *African journal of agricultural research*, 6(9), 2026-2032.
- Ariyaphanphitak, W., Chidthaisong, A., Sarobol, E., Bashkin, V., & Towprayoon, S. (2005). Effects of elevated ozone concentrations on Thai jasmine rice cultivars (Oryza sativa L.). *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 167*(1), 179-200.
- Asch, F., Dingkuhn, M., & Dorffling, K. (2000). Salinity increases CO 2 assimilation but reduces growth in field-grown, irrigated rice. *Plant and Soil*, *218*(1), 1-10.
- Ashraf, M. (2004). Some important physiological selection criteria for salt tolerance in plants. *Flora-Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants, 199*(5), 361-376.
- Ashraf, M. (2010). Inducing drought tolerance in plants: recent advances. *Biotechnology advances*, 28(1), 169-183.
- Ashraf, M., & Foolad, M. R. (2007). Roles of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 59(2), 206-216.
- Ashrafijou, M., Noori, S. S., Darbandi, A. I., & Saghafi, S. (2010). Effect of salinity and radiation on proline accumulation in seeds of canola (Brassica napus L.). *Plant, Soil and Environment*, 56(7), 312-317.
- Aslam, M., Mukhtar, T., Ashfaq, M., & Hussain, M. (2017). Evaluation of chili germplasm for resistance to bacterial wilt caused by Ralstonia solanacearum. *Australasian Plant Pathology*, 46(3), 289-292.
- Bansal, A. (2016). Employee trust dynamics during organizational change: A context of mergers and acquisitions. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Business Administration*.
- Barker, R., Dawe, D., Tuong, T., Bhuiyan, S., & Guerra, L. (1999). The outlook for water resources in the year 2020: challenges for research on water management in rice production. *Southeast Asia*, 1, 1-5.
- Bensidhoum, L., Bessai, S. A., & Nabti, E. (2019). Restoration of Plant Growth Under Saline Soil by Halotolerant Plant Growth-Promoting Rhizobacteria (PGPR). In Saline Soil-based Agriculture by Halotolerant Microorganisms (pp. 23-51): Springer.
- Bettini, P. P., Marvasi, M., Fani, F., Lazzara, L., Cosi, E., Melani, L., & Mauro, M. L. (2016). Agrobacterium rhizogenes rolB gene affects photosynthesis and chlorophyll content in transgenic tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.) plants. *Journal of plant physiology*, 204, 27-35.
- Bewley, J. D. (1997). Seed germination and dormancy. The plant cell, 9(7), 1055.
- Bhusan, D., Das, D. K., Hossain, M., Murata, Y., & Hoque, M. A. (2016). Improvement of salt tolerance in rice ('Oryza sativa'L.) by increasing antioxidant defense systems using exogenous application of proline. *Australian Journal of Crop Science*, 10(1), 50-56.
- Biancucci, M., Mattioli, R., Moubayidin, L., Sabatini, S., Costantino, P., & Trovato, M. (2015). Proline affects the size of the root meristematic zone in Arabidopsis. *BMC plant biology*, 15(1), 1-14.
- Blumwald, E., & Grover, A. (2006). Salt tolerance. Plant biotechnology: current and

future uses of genetically modified crops. John Wiley and Sons Ltd., UK, 206-224.

- Boughalleb, F., Abdellaoui, R., Nbiba, N., Mahmoudi, M., & Neffati, M. (2017). Effect of NaCl stress on physiological, antioxidant enzymes and anatomical responses of Astragalus gombiformis. *Biologia*, 72(12), 1454-1466.
- Brock, T. C., Mielo, H., & Oostermeijer, G. (1989). On the life cycle and germination of Hottonia palustris L. in a wetland forest. *Aquatic Botany*, *35*(2), 153-166.
- Busch, F. A. (2020). Photorespiration in the context of Rubisco biochemistry, CO2 diffusion and metabolism. *The Plant Journal*, *101*(4), 919-939.
- Canarini, A., Kaiser, C., Merchant, A., Richter, A., & Wanek, W. (2019). Root exudation of primary metabolites: mechanisms and their roles in plant responses to environmental stimuli. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10, 157.
- Castillo, E. G., Tuong, T. P., Ismail, A. M., & Inubushi, K. (2007). Response to salinity in rice: Comparative effects of osmotic and ionic stresses. *Plant Production Science*, *10*(2), 159-170.
- Cha-um, S., Vejchasarn, P., & Kirdmanee, C. (2007). An effective defensive response in Thai aromatic rice varieties (Oryza sativa L. spp. indica) to salinity. *Journal of Crop Science and Biotechnology*, 10(4), 257-264.
- Chakraborty, U., Roy, S., Chakraborty, A. P., Dey, P., & Chakraborty, B. (2011). Plant growth promotion and amelioration of salinity stress in crop plants by a salt-tolerant bacterium. *Recent Research in Science and Technology*, *3*(11).
- Chandra, R. P., Bura, R., Mabee, W., Berlin, d. A., Pan, X., & Saddler, J. (2007). Substrate pretreatment: the key to effective enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulosics? *Biofuels*, 67-93.
- Chapagain, S., Singh, L., Garcia, R., Pruthi, R., Concepcion, J., Coronejo, S., & Subudhi, P. K. (2021). Molecular Breeding for Improving Salinity Tolerance in Rice: Recent Progress and Future Prospects. *Molecular Breeding for Rice Abiotic Stress Tolerance and Nutritional Quality*, 26-52.
- Charlesworth, D., & Willis, J. H. (2009). The genetics of inbreeding depression. *Nature reviews genetics*, *10*(11), 783-796.
- Chaum, S., & Kirdmanee, C. (2010). Effect of glycinebetaine on proline, water use, and photosynthetic efficiencies, and growth of rice seedlings under salt stress. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*, *34*(6), 517-527.
- Chen, H.-J., Chen, J.-Y., & Wang, S.-J. (2008). Molecular regulation of starch accumulation in rice seedling leaves in response to salt stress. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, *30*(2), 135-142.
- Chen, H., & Jiang, J.-G. (2010). Osmotic adjustment and plant adaptation to environmental changes related to drought and salinity. *Environmental Reviews*, *18*(NA), 309-319.
- Chen, H., Yang, X., Wang, H., Sarkar, B., Shaheen, S. M., Gielen, G., Bolan, N., Guo, J., Che, L., & Sun, H. (2020). Animal carcass-and wood-derived biochars improved nutrient bioavailability, enzyme activity, and plant growth in metalphthalic acid ester co-contaminated soils: A trial for reclamation and improvement of degraded soils. *Journal of environmental management*, 261, 110246.
- Chunthaburee, S., Dongsansuk, A., Sanitchon, J., Pattanagul, W., & Theerakulpisut, P. (2016). Physiological and biochemical parameters for evaluation and clustering

of rice cultivars differing in salt tolerance at seedling stage. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, 23(4), 467-477.

- Chutipaijit, S., Cha-Um, S., & Sompornpailin, K. (2009a). Differential accumulations of proline and flavonoids in indica rice varieties against salinity. *Pak. J. Bot*, *41*(5), 2497-2506.
- Chutipaijit, S., Cha-Um, S., & Sompornpailin, K. (2009b). Differential accumulations of proline and flavonoids in indica rice varieties against salinity. *Pak J Bot*, *41*(5), 2497-2506.
- Çiçek, N., & Çakirlar, H. (2002). The effect of salinity on some physiological parameters in two maize cultivars. *Bulgarian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 28(1-2), 66-74.
- Colmer, T., Munns, R., & Flowers, T. (2006). Improving salt tolerance of wheat and barley: future prospects. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 45(11), 1425-1443.
- Counce, P. A., Keisling, T. C., & Mitchell, A. J. (2000). A uniform, objective, and adaptive system for expressing rice development. *Crop science*, 40(2), 436-443.
- Cramer, G. R., Ergül, A., Grimplet, J., Tillett, R. L., Tattersall, E. A., Bohlman, M. C., Vincent, D., Sonderegger, J., Evans, J., & Osborne, C. (2007). Water and salinity stress in grapevines: early and late changes in transcript and metabolite profiles. *Functional & integrative genomics*, 7(2), 111-134.
- Cramer, J. G. (1986). The transactional interpretation of quantum mechanics. *Reviews of Modern Physics*, 58(3), 647.
- Croce, R., & Van Amerongen, H. (2014). Natural strategies for photosynthetic light harvesting. *Nature chemical biology*, *10*(7), 492-501.
- Cuartero, J., Bolarin, M., Asins, M., & Moreno, V. (2006). Increasing salt tolerance in the tomato. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 57(5), 1045-1058.
- Dar, D., Shamir, M., Mellin, J., Koutero, M., Stern-Ginossar, N., Cossart, P., & Sorek, R. (2016a). Term-seq reveals abundant ribo-regulation of antibiotics resistance in bacteria. *Science*, 352(6282).
- Dar, M., Singh, S., Singh, U., Zaidi, N., & Ismail, A. (2014). Stress Tolerant Rice Varieties-Making Headway in India. SATSA Mukhaptra Annual Technical Issue, 18, 1-14.
- Dar, M. I., Naikoo, M. I., Rehman, F., Naushin, F., & Khan, F. A. (2016b). Proline accumulation in plants: roles in stress tolerance and plant development. In Osmolytes and plants acclimation to changing environment: emerging omics technologies (pp. 155-166): Springer.
- Das, P., Nutan, K., Singla-Pareek, S., & Pareek, A. (2015). Understanding salinity responses and adopting 'omics-based' approaches to generate salinity tolerant cultivars of rice. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 6(712). doi:10.3389/fpls.2015.00712
- Dawood, S. (2018). The evolving role of immune oncology in colorectal cancer. *Chinese clinical oncology*, 7(2), 17-17.
- Deivanai, S., Xavier, R., Vinod, V., Timalata, K., & Lim, O. (2011). Role of exogenous proline in ameliorating salt stress at early stage in two rice cultivars. *Journal of Stress Physiology & Biochemistry*, 7(4).
- Delory, B. M., Weidlich, E. W., Meder, L., Lütje, A., van Duijnen, R., Weidlich, R., & Temperton, V. M. (2017). Accuracy and bias of methods used for root length

measurements in functional root research. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 8(11), 1594-1606.

- Dingkuhn, M., Schnier, H., De Datta, S., Dorffling, K., & Javellana, C. (1991).
 Relationships between ripening-phase productivity and crop duration, canopy photosynthesis and senescence in transplanted and direct-seeded lowland rice. *Field Crops Research*, 26(3-4), 327-345.
- Dionisio-Sese, M. L., & Tobita, S. (1998). Antioxidant responses of rice seedlings to salinity stress. *Plant Science*, 135(1), 1-9.
- Dionisio-Sese, M. L., & Tobita, S. (2000). Effects of salinity on sodium content and photosynthetic responses of rice seedlings differing in salt tolerance. *Journal of plant physiology*, *157*(1), 54-58.
- Dodig, D., Zoric, M., Jovic, M., Kandic, V., Stanisavljevic, R., & Surlan-Momirovic, G. (2015). Wheat seedlings growth response to water deficiency and how it correlates with adult plant tolerance to drought. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, 153(3), 466.
- Dolatabadian, A., SANAVY, S. A. M. M., & Ghanati, F. (2011). Effect of salinity on growth, xylem structure and anatomical characteristics of soybean. *Notulae Scientia Biologicae*, *3*(1), 41-45.
- Dubey, A., Malla, M. A., Khan, F., Chowdhary, K., Yadav, S., Kumar, A., Sharma, S., Khare, P. K., & Khan, M. L. (2019). Soil microbiome: a key player for conservation of soil health under changing climate. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 28(8), 2405-2429.
- Dunand, R., & Saichuk, J. (2014). Rice growth and development. Louisiana Rice Production Handbook. Baton Rouge, LA: Louisiana State University AgCenter Publ, 2321, 41-53.
- Efisue, A. A., & Dike, C. C. (2020). Screening Rice (Oryza sativa. L.) for Salinity Tolerance for Yield and Yield Components in Saline Stressed Environment. *American Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*, 8(1), 15-21.
- El Moukhtari, A., Cabassa-Hourton, C., Farissi, M., & Savouré, A. (2020). How does proline treatment promote salt stress tolerance during crop plant development? *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11, 1127.
- El Naim, A. M., Mohammed, K. E., Ibrahim, E. A., & Suleiman, N. N. (2012). Impact of salinity on seed germination and early seedling growth of three sorghum (Sorghum biolor L. Moench) cultivars. *Science and Technology*, 2(2), 16-20.
- Etesami, H., & Beattie, G. A. (2018). Mining halophytes for plant growth-promoting halotolerant bacteria to enhance the salinity tolerance of non-halophytic crops. *Frontiers in microbiology*, *9*, 148.
- Eynard, A., Lal, R., & Wiebe, K. (2005). Crop response in salt-affected soils. *Journal of Sustainable Agriculture*, 27(1), 5-50.
- Fageria, N. (2007). Yield physiology of rice. Journal of plant nutrition, 30(6), 843-879.
- Fageria, N. K., Baligar, V. C., & Clark, R. (2006). *Physiology of crop production*: crc Press.
- Fahad, S., Bajwa, A. A., Nazir, U., Anjum, S. A., Farooq, A., Zohaib, A., Sadia, S., Nasim, W., Adkins, S., Saud, S., Ihsan, M. Z., Alharby, H., Wu, C., Wang, D., & Huang, J. (2017). Crop Production under Drought and Heat Stress: Plant Responses and Management Options. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 8, 1147-1147. doi:10.3389/fpls.2017.01147

- Fan, F., Zhang, Y., Yang, Y., Mo, L., & Liu, X. (2011). Symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder, depression, and anxiety among adolescents following the 2008 Wenchuan earthquake in China. *Journal of traumatic stress*, 24(1), 44-53.
- FAO, W. (2009). Principles and methods for the risk assessment of chemicals in food. *Environmental Health Criteria*, 240.
- Fariduddin, Q., Khalil, R. R., Mir, B. A., Yusuf, M., & Ahmad, A. (2013). 24-Epibrassinolide regulates photosynthesis, antioxidant enzyme activities and proline content of Cucumis sativus under salt and/or copper stress. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, 185(9), 7845-7856.
- Farooq, M., Hussain, M., Wakeel, A., & Siddique, K. H. (2015). Salt stress in maize: effects, resistance mechanisms, and management. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 35(2), 461-481.
- Farooq, M., Usman, M., Nadeem, F., ur Rehman, H., Wahid, A., Basra, S. M., & Siddique, K. H. (2019). Seed priming in field crops: potential benefits, adoption and challenges. *Crop and Pasture Science*, 70(9), 731-771.
- Farouk, S. (2011). Ascorbic acid and α-tocopherol minimize salt-induced wheat leaf senescence. *Journal of Stress Physiology & Biochemistry*, 7(3).
- Fayyaz, P. (2008). Effects of salt stress on ecophysiological and molecular characteristics of Populus euphratica Oliv., Populus x canescens (Aiton) Sm. and Arabidopsis thaliana L: Cuvillier Verlag.
- Fischer, R., Byerlee, D., & Edmeades, G. (2014). Crop yields and global food security. *ACIAR: Canberra, ACT*, 8-11.
- Flowers, T., & Yeo, A. (1981). Variability in the resistance of sodium chloride salinity within rice (Oryza sativa L.) varieties. *New phytologist*, 88(2), 363-373.
- Franco, J., Bañón, S., Vicente, M., Miralles, J., & Martínez-Sánchez, J. (2011). Root development in horticultural plants grown under abiotic stress conditions–a review. *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*, 86(6), 543-556.
- Garg, R., Chevala, V. N., Shankar, R., & Jain, M. (2015). Divergent DNA methylation patterns associated with gene expression in rice cultivars with contrasting drought and salinity stress response. *Scientific reports*, *5*, 14922.
- Gengmao, Z., Yu, H., Xing, S., Shihui, L., Quanmei, S., & Changhai, W. (2015). Salinity stress increases secondary metabolites and enzyme activity in safflower. *Industrial crops and products*, 64, 175-181.
- Gerona, M. E. B., Deocampo, M. P., Egdane, J. A., Ismail, A. M., & Dionisio-Sese, M. L. (2019). Physiological responses of contrasting rice genotypes to salt stress at reproductive stage. *Rice Science*, 26(4), 207-219.
- Ghosh, B., Md, N. A., & Gantait, S. (2016a). Response of rice under salinity stress: a review update. *Rice research: open access*, 1-8.
- Ghosh, P., Hazra, K., Nath, C., Das, A., & Acharya, C. (2016b). Scope, constraints and challenges of intensifying rice (Oryza sativa) fallows through pulses. *Indian J Agron, 61*(4th IAC special Issue), 122-128.
- Gong, D., Wang, G., Si, W., Zhou, Y., Liu, Z., & Jia, J. (2018). Effects of Salt Stress on Photosynthetic Pigments and Activity of Ribulose-1, 5-bisphosphate Carboxylase/Oxygenase in Kalidium foliatum. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 65(1).
- Goodhead, D. (2019). Biological effectiveness of lower-energy photons for cancer risk.

Radiation protection dosimetry, 183(1-2), 197-202.

- Gregoria, G. B., Senadhira, D., & Mendoza, R. D. (1997). Screening rice for salinity tolerance. Retrieved from
- Gregorio, G., & Senadhira, D. (1993). Genetic analysis of salinity tolerance in rice (Oryza sativa L.). *Theoretical and applied genetics*, 86(2-3), 333-338.
- Gregorio, G. B. (1997). Tagging salinity tolerance genes in rice using amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP).
- Gupta, B., & Huang, B. (2014). Mechanism of salinity tolerance in plants: physiological, biochemical, and molecular characterization. *International journal of genomics*, 2014.
- Gupta, P., Yadav, C., Singla-Pareek, S. L., & Pareek, A. (2019). Recent advancements in developing salinity tolerant rice. In *Advances in Rice Research for Abiotic Stress Tolerance* (pp. 87-112): Elsevier.
- Hairmansis, A., Nafisah, N., & Jamil, A. (2017). Towards developing salinity tolerant rice adaptable for coastal regions in Indonesia. *KnE Life Sciences*, 72-79.
- Hakim, M., Juraimi, A., Hanafi, M., Ismail, M., Rafii, M., Islam, M., & Selamat, A. (2014). The effect of salinity on growth, ion accumulation and yield of rice varieties. J Anim Plant Sci, 24(3), 874-885.
- HanumanthaRao, B., Nair, R. M., & Nayyar, H. (2016). Salinity and high temperature tolerance in mungbean [Vigna radiata (L.) Wilczek] from a physiological perspective. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7, 957.
- Hare, P. D., Cress, W. A., & Van Staden, J. (1998). Dissecting the roles of osmolyte accumulation during stress. *Plant, cell & environment, 21*(6), 535-553.
- Harris, R. A., Wang, T., Coarfa, C., Nagarajan, R. P., Hong, C., Downey, S. L., Johnson, B. E., Fouse, S. D., Delaney, A., & Zhao, Y. (2010). Comparison of sequencing-based methods to profile DNA methylation and identification of monoallelic epigenetic modifications. *Nature biotechnology*, 28(10), 1097-1105.
- Hasanuzzaman, M., Fujita, M., Islam, M., Ahamed, K., & Nahar, K. (2009). Performance of four irrigated rice varieties under different levels of salinity stress. *International Journal of Integrative Biology*, 6(2), 85-90.
- Hasanuzzaman, M., Nahar, K., & Fujita, M. (2013). Plant response to salt stress and role of exogenous protectants to mitigate salt-induced damages. In *Ecophysiology* and responses of plants under salt stress (pp. 25-87): Springer.
- Hayat, S., Hayat, Q., Alyemeni, M. N., Wani, A. S., Pichtel, J., & Ahmad, A. (2012). Role of proline under changing environments: a review. *Plant signaling & behavior*, 7(11), 1456-1466.
- Heidari, M. (2012). Effects of salinity stress on growth, chlorophyll content and osmotic components of two basil (Ocimum basilicum L.) genotypes. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 11(2), 379-384.
- Hepaksoy, S. (2015). *The effect of salinity on leaf chlorophyll content of satsuma mandarin cv. Owari onto Poncirus trifoliata rootstock.* Paper presented at the Presidency of the Congress.
- Hernández, J. A. (2019). Salinity tolerance in plants: trends and perspectives. International journal of molecular sciences, 20(10), 2408.
- Hoang, K. K. (2015). Dealing in desire: University of California Press.
- Hoang, T. M., Moghaddam, L., Williams, B., Khanna, H., Dale, J., & Mundree, S. G. (2015). Development of salinity tolerance in rice by constitutive-overexpression

of genes involved in the regulation of programmed cell death. *Frontiers in plant science*, 6, 175.

- Hoang, T. M. L., Williams, B., Khanna, H., Dale, J., & Mundree, S. G. (2014).
 Physiological basis of salt stress tolerance in rice expressing the antiapoptotic gene SfIAP. *Functional Plant Biology*, *41*(11), 1168-1177.
- Hoch, W. A., Zeldin, E. L., & McCown, B. H. (2001). Physiological significance of anthocyanins during autumnal leaf senescence. *Tree physiology*, 21(1), 1-8.
- Hong, Y.-y., Morris, M. W., Chiu, C.-y., & Benet-Martinez, V. (2000). Multicultural minds: A dynamic constructivist approach to culture and cognition. *American* psychologist, 55(7), 709.
- Hong, Y.-y., Wan, C., No, S., & Chiu, C.-y. (2007). Multicultural identities.
- Hossain, A., Kuo, M. T., & Saunders, G. F. (2006). Mir-17-5p regulates breast cancer cell proliferation by inhibiting translation of AIB1 mRNA. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 26(21), 8191-8201.
- Hossain, H., Rahman, M., Alam, M., & Singh, R. (2015). Mapping of quantitative trait loci associated with reproductive-stage salt tolerance in rice. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science*, 201(1), 17-31.
- Hossain, M. A., & Fujita, M. (2010). Evidence for a role of exogenous glycinebetaine and proline in antioxidant defense and methylglyoxal detoxification systems in mung bean seedlings under salt stress. *Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants*, 16(1), 19-29.
- Hu, J., Zhang, G., & Liu, S. (2012). Enzyme-responsive polymeric assemblies, nanoparticles and hydrogels. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 41(18), 5933-5949.
- Hu, Y., & Schmidhalter, U. (2004). Limitation of salt stress to plant growth. In *Plant* toxicology (pp. 205-238): CRC Press.
- Hu, Y., & Schmidhalter, U. (2005). Drought and salinity: a comparison of their effects on mineral nutrition of plants. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, *168*(4), 541-549.
- Hua-long, L., Han-jing, S., Jing-guo, W., Yang, L., De-tang, Z., & Hong-wei, Z. (2014). Effect of seed soaking with exogenous proline on seed germination of rice under salt stress. *Journal of Northeast Agricultural University (English Edition)*, 21(3), 1-6.
- Ibrahim, E. A. (2016). Seed priming to alleviate salinity stress in germinating seeds. *Journal of plant physiology, 192*, 38-46.
- Ikeda, K., Sunohara, H., & Nagato, Y. (2004). Developmental course of inflorescence and spikelet in rice. *Breeding Science*, *54*(2), 147-156.
- Iqbal, Z., Iqbal, M. S., & ANSARI, M. I. (2021). Plant defense responses to biotic stress and its interplay with fluctuating dark/light conditions. *Frontiers in plant science*, 12, 297.
- Isayenkov, S. V. (2019). Genetic sources for the development of salt tolerance in crops. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 89(1), 1-17.
- Isayenkov, S. V., & Maathuis, F. J. M. (2019). Plant Salinity Stress: Many Unanswered Questions Remain. Frontiers in Plant Science, 10, 80-80. doi:10.3389/fpls.2019.00080
- Ismail, A. M., Heuer, S., Thomson, M. J., & Wissuwa, M. (2007). Genetic and genomic approaches to develop rice germplasm for problem soils. *Plant molecular biology*, 65(4), 547-570.

- Itoh, J.-I., Hasegawa, A., Kitano, H., & Nagato, Y. (1998). A recessive heterochronic mutation, plastochron1, shortens the plastochron and elongates the vegetative phase in rice. *The Plant Cell*, 10(9), 1511-1521.
- Itoh, J.-I., Nonomura, K.-I., Ikeda, K., Yamaki, S., Inukai, Y., Yamagishi, H., Kitano, H., & Nagato, Y. (2005). Rice plant development: from zygote to spikelet. *Plant* and cell physiology, 46(1), 23-47.
- Jabeen, R., & Baba, Z. (2018). Impact of Salt Stress on Morphological and Biochemical Parameters of Zea Mays.
- Jalil, M., Sakdiah, H., Deviana, E., & Akbar, I. (2018). Pertumbuhan dan Produksi Beberapa Varietas Padi (Oryza Sativa L) pada Berbagai Tingkat Salinitas. Jurnal Agrotek Lestari, 2(2).
- Jamil, F. M., Downer, J. T., & Pianta, R. C. (2012a). Association of pre-service teachers' performance, personality, and beliefs with teacher self-efficacy at program completion. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 39(4), 119-138.
- Jamil, M., Bashir, S., Anwar, S., Bibi, S., Bangash, A., Ullah, F., & Rha, E. S. (2012b). Effect of salinity on physiological and biochemical characteristics of different varieties of rice. *Pak. J. Bot*, 44(1), 7-13.
- Jamil, M., Lee, K. J., Kim, J. M., Kim, H.-S., & Rha, E. S. (2007). Salinity reduced growth PS2 photochemistry and chlorophyll content in radish. *Scientia Agricola*, 64, 111-118.
- Jintrawet, A. (1995). A decision support system for rapid assessment of lowland ricebased cropping alternatives in Thailand. *Agricultural Systems*, 47(2), 245-258.
- Jones Jr, J. B. (1997). Plant nutrition manual: CRC press.
- Joseph, B., Jini, D., & Sujatha, S. (2010). Biological and physiological perspectives of specificity in abiotic salt stress response from various rice plants. Asian J. Agric. Sci, 2(3), 99-105.
- Kakar, K., Nitta, Y., Asagi, N., Komatsuzaki, M., Shiotsu, F., Kokubo, T., & Xuan, T. D. (2019a). Morphological analysis on comparison of organic and chemical fertilizers on grain quality of rice at different planting densities. *Plant Production Science*, 22(4), 510-518.
- Kakar, N., Jumaa, S. H., Redoña, E. D., Warburton, M. L., & Reddy, K. R. (2019b). Evaluating rice for salinity using pot-culture provides a systematic tolerance assessment at the seedling stage. *Rice*, 12(1), 1-14.
- Kalaji, M. H., Goltsev, V. N., Żuk-Golaszewska, K., Zivcak, M., & Brestic, M. (2017). Chlorophyll Fluorescence Understanding Crop: Performance–Basics and Applications: CRC Press.
- Kanawapee, N., Sanitchon, J., Srihaban, P., & Theerakulpisut, P. (2011). Genetic diversity analysis of rice cultivars (Oryza sativa L.) differing in salinity tolerance based on RAPD and SSR markers. *Electronic Journal of Biotechnology*, 14(6), 2-2.
- Kanawapee, N., Sanitchon, J., Srihaban, P., & Theerakulpisut, P. (2013). Physiological changes during development of rice (Oryza sativa L.) varieties differing in salt tolerance under saline field condition. *Plant and soil*, *370*(1-2), 89-101.
- Kanmani, E., Ravichandran, V., Sivakumar, R., Senthil, A., Surendar, K. K., & Boominathan, P. (2017). Influence of plant growth regulators on physiological traits under salinity stress in constrasting rice varieties (Oryza sativa L.). *Int J Curr Microbiol Appl Sci*, 6(5), 1654-1661.

- Kapoor, N., & Pande, V. (2015). Effect of salt stress on growth parameters, moisture content, relative water content and photosynthetic pigments of fenugreek variety RMt-1. *Journal of Plant Sciences*, 10(6), 210-221.
- Kaveh, H., Nemati, H., Farsi, M., & Jartoodeh, S. V. (2011). How salinity affect germination and emergence of tomato lines.
- Kaya, C., Tuna, A. L., Ashraf, M., & Altunlu, H. (2007). Improved salt tolerance of melon (Cucumis melo L.) by the addition of proline and potassium nitrate. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 60(3), 397-403.
- Kaya, I. (2003). Obtaining controller parameters for a new PI-PD Smith predictor using autotuning. *Journal of Process Control*, 13(5), 465-472.
- Kaya, M. D., Ipek, A., & ÖZTÜRK, A. (2003). Effects of different soil salinity levels on germination and seedling growth of safflower (Carthamus tinctorius L.). *Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*, 27(4), 221-227.
- Khalid, M., Bilal, M., Hassani, D., Iqbal, H. M., Wang, H., & Huang, D. (2017). Mitigation of salt stress in white clover (Trifolium repens) by Azospirillum brasilense and its inoculation effect. *Botanical studies*, 58(1), 1-7.
- Khan, M., Hamid, A., & Karim, M. (1997a). Effect of sodium chloride on germination and seedling characters of different types of rice (Oryza sativa L.). *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science*, 179(3), 163-169.
- Khan, M., Ngo, H. H., Guo, W., Liu, Y., Nghiem, L. D., Hai, F. I., Deng, L., Wang, J., & Wu, Y. (2016a). Optimization of process parameters for production of volatile fatty acid, biohydrogen and methane from anaerobic digestion. *Bioresource technology*, 219, 738-748.
- Khan, M. S. K., Saeed, M., & Iqbal, J. (2016b). Quantitative trait locus mapping for salt tolerance at maturity stage in indica rice using replicated F 2 population. *Brazilian Journal of Botany*, 39(2), 641-650.
- Khan, Z., Chiliswa, P., Ampong-Nyarko, K., Smart, L., Polaszek, A., Wandera, J., & Mulaa, M. (1997b). Utilisation of wild gramineous plants for management of cereal stemborers in Africa. *International Journal of Tropical Insect Science*, 17(1), 143-150.
- Khatri, K., & Rathore, M. (2019). Photosystem photochemistry, prompt and delayed fluorescence, photosynthetic responses and electron flow in tobacco under drought and salt stress. *Photosynthetica*, *57*(1), 61-74.
- Khoshbakht, D., Ramin, A., & Baninasab, B. (2015). Effects of sodium chloride stress on gas exchange, chlorophyll content and nutrient concentrations of nine citrus rootstocks. *Photosynthetica*, 53(2), 241-249.
- Khoshsokhan, F., Babalar, M., Chaghazardi, H., & Fatahi Moghadam, M. (2011). Effect of salinity and drought stress on germination indices of two thymus species.
- Khunpona, B., Cha-umb, S., Faiyuec, B., Uthaibutraa, J., & Saengnila, K. (2017). Influence of paclobutrazol on growth performance, photosynthetic pigments, and antioxidant efficiency of Pathumthani 1 rice seedlings grown under salt stress. *stress*, *6*, 8.
- Khush, G. (2004). *Harnessing science and technology for sustainable rice-based production systems.* Paper presented at the FAO rice conference.
- Kibria, M. G., Hossain, M., Murata, Y., & Hoque, M. A. (2017). Antioxidant defense mechanisms of salinity tolerance in rice genotypes. *Rice Science*, 24(3), 155-162.

- Kim, G.-B., & Nam, Y.-W. (2013). A novel $\Delta 1$ -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase gene of Medicago truncatula plays a predominant role in stress-induced proline accumulation during symbiotic nitrogen fixation. *Journal of plant physiology*, *170*(3), 291-302.
- Kim, J. (2012). The institutionalization of YouTube: From user-generated content to professionally generated content. *Media, culture & society, 34*(1), 53-67.
- Kirby, E., & Appleyard, M. (1987). Development and structure of the wheat plant. In *Wheat breeding* (pp. 287-311): Springer.
- Kloepper, J., Schroth, M., & Miller, T. (1980). Effects of rhizosphere colonization by plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria on potato plant development and yield. *Phytopathology*, *70*(11), 1078-1082.
- Kral, A. G., Ziegler, A., Tütken, T., & Geisler, T. (2021). Experimental Aqueous Alteration of Cortical Bone Microarchitecture Analyzed by Quantitative Micro-Computed Tomography. *Frontiers in Earth Science*, 9, 136.
- Kumar, V., Joshi, S., Pant, N. C., Sangwan, P., Yadav, A. N., Saxena, A., & Singh, D. (2019). Molecular approaches for combating multiple abiotic stresses in crops of arid and semi-arid region. In *Molecular Approaches in Plant Biology and Environmental Challenges* (pp. 149-170): Springer.
- Laghmouchi, Y., Belmehdi, O., Bouyahya, A., Senhaji, N. S., & Abrini, J. (2017). Effect of temperature, salt stress and pH on seed germination of medicinal plant Origanum compactum. *Biocatalysis and agricultural biotechnology*, 10, 156-160.
- Laohakunjit, N., & Kerdchoechuen, O. (2007). Aroma enrichment and the change during storage of non-aromatic milled rice coated with extracted natural flavor. *Food Chemistry*, 101(1), 339-344.
- Latha, R., Srinivas Rao, C., SR SUBRAMANIAM, H., Eganathan, P., & Swaminathan, M. (2004). Approaches to breeding for salinity tolerance-a case study on Porteresia coarctata. *Annals of applied biology*, 144(2), 177-184.
- Läuchli, A., & Epstein, E. (1990). Plant responses to saline and sodic conditions. Agricultural salinity assessment and management, 71, 113-137.
- Läuchli, A., & Grattan, S. (2007). Plant growth and development under salinity stress. In *Advances in molecular breeding toward drought and salt tolerant crops* (pp. 1-32): Springer.
- Li, Q., Chen, J., Feng, J., Wu, J., Zhang, Q., Jia, W., Lin, Q., & Cheng, X. (2020). How do biotic and abiotic factors regulate soil enzyme activities at plot and microplot scales under afforestation? *Ecosystems*, 1-15.
- Liang, X., Zhang, L., Natarajan, S. K., & Becker, D. F. (2013). Proline mechanisms of stress survival. *Antioxidants & redox signaling*, 19(9), 998-1011.
- Lin, C. C., & Kao, C. H. (1996). Proline accumulation is associated with inhibition of rice seedling root growth caused by NaCl. *Plant Science*, *114*(2), 121-128.
- Liu, B., Soundararajan, P., & Manivannan, A. (2019a). Mechanisms of silicon-mediated amelioration of salt stress in plants. *Plants*, 8(9), 307.
- Liu, X., Huang, D., Lai, C., Zeng, G., Qin, L., Wang, H., Yi, H., Li, B., Liu, S., & Zhang, M. (2019b). Recent advances in covalent organic frameworks (COFs) as a smart sensing material. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 48(20), 5266-5302.
- Lutts, S., Kinet, J., & Bouharmont, J. (1996). NaCl-induced senescence in leaves of rice (Oryza sativaL.) cultivars differing in salinity resistance. *Annals of botany*,

78(3), 389-398.

- Luyckx, A., Beghin, C., Quinet, M., Achadé, B., Prodjinoto, H., Gandonou, C. B., & Lutts, S. (2021). Salinity differently affects antioxidant content and amino acid profile in two cultivars of Amaranthus cruentus differing in salinity tolerance. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*.
- Maas, E. (1993). Salinity and citriculture. Tree physiology, 12(2), 195-216.
- Maas, E. (2019). Salt tolerance of plants. In *CRC Handbook of Plant Science in Agriculture Volume II* (pp. 57-76): CRC Press.
- Machado, R. M. A., & Serralheiro, R. P. (2017). Soil salinity: effect on vegetable crop growth. Management practices to prevent and mitigate soil salinization. *Horticulturae*, *3*(2), 30.
- Magneschi, L., & Perata, P. (2009). Rice germination and seedling growth in the absence of oxygen. *Annals of Botany*, *103*(2), 181-196.
- Mantri, N., Patade, V., Penna, S., Ford, R., & Pang, E. (2012). Abiotic stress responses in plants: present and future. In *Abiotic stress responses in plants* (pp. 1-19): Springer.
- Mbarki, S., Sytar, O., Cerda, A., Zivcak, M., Rastogi, A., He, X., Zoghlami, A., Abdelly, C., & Brestic, M. (2018). Strategies to mitigate the salt stress effects on photosynthetic apparatus and productivity of crop plants. In *Salinity Responses* and Tolerance in Plants, Volume 1 (pp. 85-136): Springer.
- McCauley, A., Jones, C., & Jacobsen, J. (2009). Soil pH and organic matter. *Nutrient* management module, 8(2), 1-12.
- Mia, M. B., Shamsuddin, Z., & Mahmood, M. (2012). Effects of rhizobia and plant growth promoting bacteria inoculation on germination and seedling vigor of lowland rice. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 11(16), 3758-3765.
- Mickelbart, M. V., Hasegawa, P. M., & Bailey-Serres, J. (2015). Genetic mechanisms of abiotic stress tolerance that translate to crop yield stability. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 16(4), 237-251.
- Minh, L., Khang, D., Ha, P. T. T., Tuyen, P. T., Minh, T. N., Quan, N. V., & Xuan, T. D. (2016). Effects of salinity stress on growth and phenolics of rice (Oryza sativa L.). *International Letters of Natural Sciences*, 57.
- Mishra, M., Wungrampha, S., Kumar, G., Singla-Pareek, S. L., & Pareek, A. (2020). How do rice seedlings of landrace Pokkali survive in saline fields after transplantation? Physiology, biochemistry, and photosynthesis. *Photosynthesis Research*, 1-19.
- Misra, N., & Gupta, A. K. (2005). Effect of salt stress on proline metabolism in two high yielding genotypes of green gram. *Plant Science*, *169*(2), 331-339.
- Misratia, K. M., Ismail, M. R., Hakim, M. A., Musa, M. H., & Puteh, A. (2013). Effect of salinity and alleviating role of gibberellic acid (GA3) for improving the morphological, physiological and yield traits of rice varieties. *Australian Journal of Crop Science*, 7(11), 1682-1692.
- Mitra, G. (2018). Molecular approaches to nutrient uptake and cellular homeostasis in plants under abiotic stress. In *Plant Nutrients and Abiotic Stress Tolerance* (pp. 525-590): Springer.
- Mohamed, H., & Gomaa, E. (2012). Effect of plant growth promoting Bacillus subtilis and Pseudomonas fluorescens on growth and pigment composition of radish plants (Raphanus sativus) under NaCl stress. *Photosynthetica*, 50(2), 263-272.

- Moldenhauer, K., & Slaton, N. (2001). Rice growth and development. *Rice production handbook, 192*, 7-14.
- Moldenhauer, K. A., Gibbons, J. H., Smith, C., & Dilday, R. (2003). *Rice morphology and development*: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: Hoboken, New Jersey.
- Momayezi, M., Zaharah, A., Hanafi, M., & Mohd Razi, I. (2009). Agronomic characteristics and proline accumulation of Iranian rice genotypes at early seedling stage under sodium salts stress. *Malaysian Journal of Soil Science*, *13*(13), 59-75.
- Munir, H., Jones, J. O., Janowitz, T., Hoffmann, M., Euler, M., Martins, C. P., Welsh, S. J., & Shields, J. D. (2021). Stromal-driven and Amyloid β-dependent induction of neutrophil extracellular traps modulates tumor growth. *Nature communications*, *12*(1), 1-16.
- Munns, R. (2002). Comparative physiology of salt and water stress. *Plant, cell & environment, 25*(2), 239-250.
- Munns, R. (2005). Genes and salt tolerance: bringing them together. *New phytologist*, *167*(3), 645-663.
- Munns, R., & Tester, M. (2008). Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol., 59, 651-681.
- Murata, T., Akazawa, T., & Fukuchi, S. (1968). Enzymic mechanism of starch breakdown in germinating rice seeds I. An analytical study. *Plant Physiology*, 43(12), 1899-1905.
- Muthayya, S., Sugimoto, J. D., Montgomery, S., & Maberly, G. F. (2014). An overview of global rice production, supply, trade, and consumption. *Annals of the new york Academy of Sciences*, 1324(1), 7-14.
- Naghshbandi, M. P., Tabatabaei, M., Aghbashlo, M., Gupta, V. K., Sulaiman, A., Karimi, K., Moghimi, H., & Maleki, M. (2019). Progress toward improving ethanol production through decreased glycerol generation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae by metabolic and genetic engineering approaches. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 115, 109353.
- Naivinit, W., Le Page, C., Trébuil, G., & Gajaseni, N. (2010). Participatory agent-based modeling and simulation of rice production and labor migrations in Northeast Thailand. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 25(11), 1345-1358.
- Nawaz, A., Farooq, M., Nadeem, F., Siddique, K. H., & Lal, R. (2019). Rice–wheat cropping systems in South Asia: issues, options and opportunities. *Crop and Pasture Science*, *70*(5), 395-427.
- Nawaz, K., Hussain, K., Majeed, A., Khan, F., Afghan, S., & Ali, K. (2010). Fatality of salt stress to plants: Morphological, physiological and biochemical aspects. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, *9*(34).
- Nawaz, M. F., Bourrie, G., & Trolard, F. (2013). Soil compaction impact and modelling. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, *33*(2), 291-309.
- Naz, N., Hameed, M., Ashraf, M., Al-Qurainy, F., & Arshad, M. (2010). Relationships between gas-exchange characteristics and stomatal structural modifications in some desert grasses under high salinity. *Photosynthetica*, 48(3), 446-456.
- Negrão, S., Courtois, B., Ahmadi, N., Abreu, I., Saibo, N., & Oliveira, M. (2011). Recent updates on salinity stress in rice: from physiological to molecular responses. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 30(4), 329-377.
- Negrão, S., Schmöckel, S., & Tester, M. (2017). Evaluating physiological responses of

plants to salinity stress. Annals of botany, 119(1), 1-11.

- Nejadhabibvash, F., & Rezaee, M. B. (2021). The effect of salinity on seed germination, early seedling growth and anatomical structure of Beta vulgaris. *Nova Biologica Reperta*, 7(4), 419-430.
- Nemati, I., Moradi, F., Gholizadeh, S., Esmaeili, M., & Bihamta, M. (2011). The effect of salinity stress on ions and soluble sugars distribution in leaves, leaf sheaths and roots of rice (Oryza sativa L.) seedlings. *Plant, Soil and Environment*, 57(1), 26-33.
- Nestler, J., Keyes, S. D., & Wissuwa, M. (2016). Root hair formation in rice (Oryza sativa L.) differs between root types and is altered in artificial growth conditions. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *67*(12), 3699-3708.
- Nimir, N. E. A., Zhou, G., Guo, W., Ma, B., Lu, S., & Wang, Y. (2016). Effect of foliar application of GA3, kinetin, and salicylic acid on ions content, membrane permeability, and photosynthesis under salt stress of sweet sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 97(3), 525-535.
- Nounjan, N., Nghia, P. T., & Theerakulpisut, P. (2012). Exogenous proline and trehalose promote recovery of rice seedlings from salt-stress and differentially modulate antioxidant enzymes and expression of related genes. *Journal of plant physiology*, 169(6), 596-604.
- Nozulaidi, M., Khairi, M., & Jahan, M. S. (2015). Effects of different salinity levels on rice production. *Aust J Basic Appl Sci*, *9*, 524-530.
- Olivero Lora, S. (2011). Functional trait approach to assess the ecological processes of drought tolerance and water use efficiency in silvopastoral systems in Rivas Department, Nicaragua.
- Orak, A., & Ates, E. (2005). Resistance to salinity stress and available water levels at the seedling stage of the common vetch (Vicia sativa L.). *Plant Soil Environ*, *51*(2), 51-56.
- Panda, D., Rao, D., Sharma, S. G., Strasser, R., & Sarkar, R. K. (2006). Submergence effects on rice genotypes during seedling stage: probing of submergence driven changes of photosystem 2 by chlorophyll a fluorescence induction OJIP transients. *Photosynthetica*, 44(1), 69-75.
- Pareek, A., Singla, S. L., & Grover, A. (1999). Analysis of stress proteins at four different developmental stages in field-grown rice, Oryza sativa L.(cv. Pusa 169), plants. *Current Science*, 81-86.
- Parera, C. A., & Cantliffe, D. J. (1994). Presowing seed priming. *Horticultural reviews*, *16*(16), 109-141.
- Parida, A. K., & Das, A. B. (2005). Salt tolerance and salinity effects on plants: a review. *Ecotoxicology and environmental safety*, 60(3), 324-349.
- Parihar, P., Singh, S., Singh, R., Singh, V. P., & Prasad, S. M. (2015). Effect of salinity stress on plants and its tolerance strategies: a review. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 22(6), 4056-4075.
- Patanè, C., Saita, A., & Sortino, O. (2013). Comparative effects of salt and water stress on seed germination and early embryo growth in two cultivars of sweet sorghum. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science*, 199(1), 30-37.
- Pattanagul, W., & Thitisaksakul, M. (2008). Effect of salinity stress on growth and carbohydrate metabolism in three rice (Oryza sativa L.) cultivars differing in salinity tolerance.

- Pearson, G. A., Ayers, A., & Eberhard, D. (1966). Relative salt tolerance of rice during germination and early seedling development. *Soil Science*, *102*(3), 151-156.
- Pearson, G. A., & Bernstein, L. (1959). Salinity Effects at Several Growth Stages of Rice 1. *Agronomy Journal*, *51*(11), 654-657.
- Peel, M. C., McMahon, T. A., & Finlayson, B. L. (2004). Continental differences in the variability of annual runoff-update and reassessment. *Journal of Hydrology*, 295(1-4), 185-197.
- Prashanth, S., Sadhasivam, V., & Parida, A. (2008). Over expression of cytosolic copper/zinc superoxide dismutase from a mangrove plant Avicennia marina in indica rice var Pusa Basmati-1 confers abiotic stress tolerance. *Transgenic Research*, 17(2), 281-291.
- Purty, R. S., Kumar, G., Singla-Pareek, S. L., & Pareek, A. (2008). Towards salinity tolerance in Brassica: an overview. *Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants*, 14(1), 39-49.
- Puvanitha, S., & Mahendran, S. (2017). Effect of salinity on plant height, shoot and root dry weight of selected rice cultivars. *Scholars Journal of Agriculture and Veterinary Sciences*, 4(4), 126-131.
- Qados, A. M. A. (2011). Effect of salt stress on plant growth and metabolism of bean plant Vicia faba (L.). *Journal of the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences*, *10*(1), 7-15.
- Qasim, M., & Ashraf, M. (2006). Time course of ion accumulation and its relationship with the salt tolerance of two genetically diverse lines of canola (Brassica napus L.). *Pakistan Journal of Botany*, *38*(3), 663.
- Qayyum, A., Razzaq, A., Ahmad, M., & Jenks, M. A. (2011). Water stress causes differential effects on germination indices, total soluble sugar and proline content in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) genotypes. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 10(64), 14038-14045.
- Radi, R. (2013). Protein tyrosine nitration: biochemical mechanisms and structural basis of functional effects. *Accounts of chemical research*, 46(2), 550-559.
- Rady, M. M., Elrys, A. S., El-Maati, M. F. A., & Desoky, E.-S. M. (2019). Interplaying roles of silicon and proline effectively improve salt and cadmium stress tolerance in Phaseolus vulgaris plant. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 139, 558-568.
- Rahman, A., Hossain, M. S., Mahmud, J.-A., Nahar, K., Hasanuzzaman, M., & Fujita, M. (2016). Manganese-induced salt stress tolerance in rice seedlings: regulation of ion homeostasis, antioxidant defense and glyoxalase systems. *Physiology and molecular biology of plants*, 22(3), 291-306.
- Rahman, I., & MacNee, W. (2000). Oxidative stress and regulation of glutathione in lung inflammation. *European Respiratory Journal*, *16*(3), 534-554.
- Rai, R. (2020). Heat stress in crops: Driver of climate change impacting global food supply. In *Contemporary environmental issues and challenges in era of climate change* (pp. 99-117): Springer.
- Ram, P., Singh, B., Singh, A., Ram, P., Singh, P., Singh, H., Boamfa, I., Harren, F., Santosa, E., & Jackson, M. (2002). Submergence tolerance in rainfed lowland rice: physiological basis and prospects for cultivar improvement through markeraided breeding. *Field Crops Research*, 76(2-3), 131-152.
- Rao, N. N., Prasad, K., Kumar, P. R., & Vijayraghavan, U. (2008). Distinct regulatory

role for RFL, the rice LFY homolog, in determining flowering time and plant architecture. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *105*(9), 3646-3651.

- Raskin, I., & Kende, H. (1983). Regulation of growth in rice seedlings. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation*, 2(1-4), 193.
- Ratnakar, A., & Rai, A. (2013). Effect of sodium chloride salinity on seed germination and early seedling growth of Trigonella foenum-graecum L. Var. Peb. *Octa Journal of Environmental Research*, 1(4).
- Rawat, L., Singh, Y., Shukla, N., & Kumar, J. (2012). Seed biopriming with salinity tolerant isolates of trichoderma harzmnumalleviates salt stress in rice: growth, physiological and biochemical characteristics. *Journal of Plant pathology*, 353-365.
- Raza, A., Razzaq, A., Mehmood, S. S., Zou, X., Zhang, X., Lv, Y., & Xu, J. (2019). Impact of climate change on crops adaptation and strategies to tackle its outcome: A review. *Plants*, 8(2), 34.
- Razzaq, A., Sharif, A., Aziz, N., Irfan, M., & Jermsittiparsert, K. (2020). Asymmetric link between environmental pollution and COVID-19 in the top ten affected states of US: A novel estimations from quantile-on-quantile approach. *Environmental research*, 191, 110189.
- Reddy, P. S., Ramanjulu, S., Sudhakar, C., & Veeranjaneyulu, K. (1998). Differential sensitivity of stomatal and non-stomatal components to NaCl or Na2SO4 salinity in horsegram, Macrotyloma uniflorum (Lam.). *Photosynthetica*, 35(1), 99-105.
- Reynolds, M., Rajaram, S., & Sayre, K. (1999). Physiological and genetic changes of irrigated wheat in the post–green revolution period and approaches for meeting projected global demand. *Crop Science*, *39*(6), 1611-1621.
- Riaz, U., Shabib, I., & Haider, W. (2019). The current trends of Mg alloys in biomedical applications—A review. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part B: Applied Biomaterials*, 107(6), 1970-1996.
- Roy, P. R., Tahjib-Ul-Arif, M., Polash, M. A. S., Hossen, M. Z., & Hossain, M. A. (2019a). Physiological mechanisms of exogenous calcium on alleviating salinity-induced stress in rice (Oryza sativa L.). *Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants*, 25(3), 611-624.
 Roy, S., Huang, Z., Bhunia, A., Castner, A., Gupta, A. K., Zou, X., & Ott, S. (2019b).
- Roy, S., Huang, Z., Bhunia, A., Castner, A., Gupta, A. K., Zou, X., & Ott, S. (2019b). Electrocatalytic Hydrogen Evolution from a Cobaloxime-Based Metal–Organic Framework Thin Film. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 141(40), 15942-15950.
- Saboora, A., Kiarostami, K., Behroozbayati, F., & Hajihashemi, S. (2006). Salinity (NaCl) tolerance of wheat genotypes at germination and early seedling growth. *Pak. J. Biol. Sci*, 9(11), 2009-2021.
- Safdar, H., Amin, A., Shafiq, Y., Ali, A., Yasin, R., Shoukat, A., Hussan, M. U., & Sarwar, M. I. (2019). A review: Impact of salinity on plant growth. *Nat. Sci*, 17(1), 34-40.
- Sairam, R., Srivastava, G., Agarwal, S., & Meena, R. (2005). Differences in antioxidant activity in response to salinity stress in tolerant and susceptible wheat genotypes. *Biologia Plantarum*, 49(1), 85.
- Sakina, A., Ahmed, I., Shahzad, A., Iqbal, M., & Asif, M. (2016). Genetic variation for salinity tolerance in Pakistani rice (Oryza sativa L.) germplasm. *Journal of*

Agronomy and Crop Science, 202(1), 25-36.

- Sánchez-Blanco, M., Ortuño, M., Bañon, S., & Álvarez, S. (2019). Deficit irrigation as a strategy to control growth in ornamental plants and enhance their ability to adapt to drought conditions. *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*, 94(2), 137-150.
- Sang, T., & Ge, S. (2007). Genetics and phylogenetics of rice domestication. *Current* opinion in genetics & development, 17(6), 533-538.
- Saranga, Y., Kim, Y.-H., & Janick, J. (1992). Changes in tolerance to partial desiccation and in metabolite content of celery somatic embryos induced by reduced osmotic potential. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 117(2), 342-345.
- Sarker, S., Mostofa, M., Akter, F., Rahman, M., & Sultana, M. (2014). Effects of aqueous extract of Neem (Azadirachta indica) leaves as growth promoter and anti-colibacillosis in broilers. *Bangladesh Journal of Animal Science*, 43(2), 138-141.
- Saroj, S., Shah, P., Jairaj, V., & Rathod, R. (2018). Green Analytical Chemistry and quality by design: a combined approach towards robust and sustainable modern analysis. *Current Analytical Chemistry*, 14(4), 367-381.
- Schliep, M., Cavigliasso, G., Quinnell, R. G., Stranger, R., & Larkum, A. W. (2013). Formyl group modification of chlorophyll a: a major evolutionary mechanism in oxygenic photosynthesis. *Plant, cell & environment, 36*(3), 521-527.
- Sedghi, M., Nemati, A., & Esmaielpour, B. (2010). Effect of seed priming on germination and seedling growth of two medicinal plants under salinity. *Emirates Journal of Food and Agriculture*, 130-139.
- Seki, M., Narusaka, M., Ishida, J., Nanjo, T., Fujita, M., Oono, Y., Kamiya, A., Nakajima, M., Enju, A., & Sakurai, T. (2002). Monitoring the expression profiles of 7000 Arabidopsis genes under drought, cold and high-salinity stresses using a full-length cDNA microarray. *The Plant Journal*, 31(3), 279-292.
- Sembiring, E., Fareza, A. A., Suendo, V., & Reza, M. (2020). The Presence of microplastics in water, sediment, and milkfish (Chanos chanos) at the downstream area of Citarum River, Indonesia. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution*, 231(7), 1-14.
- Sevengor, S., Yasar, F., Kusvuran, S., & Ellialtioglu, S. (2011). The effect of salt stress on growth, chlorophyll content, lipid peroxidation and antioxidative enzymes of pumpkin seedling. *African journal of agricultural research*, 6(21), 4920-4924.
- Shabala, S., Hariadi, Y., & Jacobsen, S.-E. (2013). Genotypic difference in salinity tolerance in quinoa is determined by differential control of xylem Na+ loading and stomatal density. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, *170*(10), 906-914.
- Shafi, A., Zahoor, I., & Mushtaq, U. (2019a). Proline accumulation and oxidative stress: Diverse roles and mechanism of tolerance and adaptation under salinity stress. In Salt Stress, Microbes, and Plant Interactions: Mechanisms and Molecular Approaches (pp. 269-300): Springer.
- Shafi, U., Mumtaz, R., García-Nieto, J., Hassan, S. A., Zaidi, S. A. R., & Iqbal, N. (2019b). Precision agriculture techniques and practices: From considerations to applications. *Sensors*, 19(17), 3796.
- Shah, S. (2007). Effects of salt stress on mustard as affected by gibberellic acid application. *Gen Appl Plant Physiol*, 33(1-2), 97-106.

- Shaheen, S. M., Eissa, F. I., Ghanem, K. M., El-Din, H. M. G., & Al Anany, F. S. (2013). Heavy metals removal from aqueous solutions and wastewaters by using various byproducts. *Journal of environmental management*, 128, 514-521.
- Sharma, A., Kumar, V., Shahzad, B., Ramakrishnan, M., Singh Sidhu, G. P., Bali, A. S., Handa, N., Kapoor, D., Yadav, P., & Khanna, K. (2020a). Photosynthetic response of plants under different abiotic stresses: a review. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation*, 39(2), 509-531.
- Sharma, A., Shahzad, B., Rehman, A., Bhardwaj, R., Landi, M., & Zheng, B. (2019). Response of phenylpropanoid pathway and the role of polyphenols in plants under abiotic stress. *Molecules*, 24(13), 2452.
- Sharma, K., Khatri, S., Cerezo, M., & Coles, P. J. (2020b). Noise resilience of variational quantum compiling. *New Journal of Physics*, 22(4), 043006.
- Shelden, M. C., Roessner, U., Sharp, R. E., Tester, M., & Bacic, A. (2013). Genetic variation in the root growth response of barley genotypes to salinity stress. *Functional Plant Biology*, 40(5), 516-530.
- Sheldon, R. A. (2017). The E factor 25 years on: the rise of green chemistry and sustainability. *Green Chemistry*, 19(1), 18-43.
- Shereen, A., Mumtaz, S., Raza, S., Khan, M., & Solangi, S. (2005). Salinity effects on seedling growth and yield components of different inbred rice lines. *Pak. J. Bot*, 37(1), 131-139.
- Shrivastava, P., & Kumar, R. (2015). Soil salinity: A serious environmental issue and plant growth promoting bacteria as one of the tools for its alleviation. *Saudi journal of biological sciences*, 22(2), 123-131. doi:10.1016/j.sjbs.2014.12.001
- Siddique, A., Kandpal, G., & Kumar, P. (2018). Proline accumulation and its defensive role under diverse stress condition in plants: An Overview. *Journal of Pure and Applied Microbiology*, 12(3), 1655-1659.
- Singh, R., Upadhyay, A., Chandra, P., & Singh, D. (2018). Sodium chloride incites reactive oxygen species in green algae Chlorococcum humicola and Chlorella vulgaris: implication on lipid synthesis, mineral nutrients and antioxidant system. *Bioresource technology*, 270, 489-497.
- Singla, N. (2005). Joint equalization and decoding for two-dimensional intersymbol interference channels.
- Siringam, K., Juntawong, N., Cha-um, S., Boriboonkaset, T., & Kirdmanee, C. (2012). Salt tolerance enhancement in indica rice ('Oryza sativa'L. spp. Indica) seedlings using exogenous sucrose supplementation. *Plant Omics*, 5(1), 52.
- Sitohy, M. Z., Desoky, E.-S. M., Osman, A., & Rady, M. M. (2020). Pumpkin seed protein hydrolysate treatment alleviates salt stress effects on Phaseolus vulgaris by elevating antioxidant capacity and recovering ion homeostasis. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 271, 109495.
- Somrith, B. (1997). *Cultivar improvement for rainfed lowland rice in Thailand*. Paper presented at the ACIAR PROCEEDINGS.
- Souret, F. F., Kim, Y., Wyslouzil, B. E., Wobbe, K. K., & Weathers, P. J. (2003). Scaleup of Artemisia annua L. hairy root cultures produces complex patterns of terpenoid gene expression. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 83(6), 653-667.
- Soussi, M., Ocana, A., & Lluch, C. (1998). Effects of salt stress on growth, photosynthesis and nitrogen fixation in chick-pea (Cicer arietinum L.). *Journal* of Experimental Botany, 49(325), 1329-1337.

- Subbarao, G., & Johansen, C. (2001). Physiological mechanisms relevant to genetic improvement of salinity tolerance in crop plants. In *Handbook of Plant and Crop Physiology* (pp. 879-902): CRC Press.
- Subekti, D. R. G., Murata, A., Itoh, Y., Takahashi, S., & Kamagata, K. (2020a). Transient binding and jumping dynamics of p53 along DNA revealed by submillisecond resolved single-molecule fluorescence tracking. *Scientific reports*, 10(1), 1-12.
- Subekti, N. A., Sembiring, H., Nugraha, D., & Priatmojo, B. (2020b). Yield of different rice cultivars at two levels of soil salinity under seawater intrusion in West Java, Indonesia. *Biodiversitas Journal of Biological Diversity*, 21(1).
- Sudhir, P., & Murthy, S. (2004a). Effects of salt stress on basic processes of photosynthesis. *Photosynthetica*, 42(4), 481-486.
- Sudhir, P., & Murthy, S. (2004b). Effects of salt stress on basic processes of photosynthesis. *Photosynthetica*, 42(2), 481-486.
- Summart, J., Thanonkeo, P., Panichajakul, S., Prathepha, P., & McManus, M. (2010). Effect of salt stress on growth, inorganic ion and proline accumulation in Thai aromatic rice, Khao Dawk Mali 105, callus culture. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 9(2).
- Surówka, E., Rapacz, M., & Janowiak, F. (2020). Climate change influences the interactive effects of simultaneous impact of abiotic and biotic stresses on plants. In *Plant Ecophysiology and Adaptation under Climate Change: Mechanisms and Perspectives I* (pp. 1-50): Springer.
- Syvertsen, J. P., & García-Sánchez, F. (2014). Multiple abiotic stresses occurring with salinity stress in citrus. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 103, 128–137. doi:10.1016/j.envexpbot.2013.09.015
- Tahjib-Ul-Arif, M., Roy, P. R., Sohag, A. A. M., Afrin, S., Rady, M. M., & Hossain, M. A. (2018). Exogenous calcium supplementation improves salinity tolerance in BRRI dhan28; a salt-susceptible high-yielding Oryza sativa cultivar. *Journal of Crop Science and Biotechnology*, 21(4), 383-394.
- Tanaka, N., Itoh, H., Sentoku, N., Kojima, M., Sakakibara, H., Izawa, T., Itoh, J.-I., & Nagato, Y. (2011). The COP1 ortholog PPS regulates the juvenile–adult and vegetative–reproductive phase changes in rice. *The Plant Cell*, 23(6), 2143-2154.
- Tanaka, R., & Tanaka, A. (2011). Chlorophyll cycle regulates the construction and destruction of the light-harvesting complexes. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA*)-*Bioenergetics*, 1807(8), 968-976.
- Taylor, C. B. (1996). Proline and water deficit: ups, downs, ins, and outs. *The Plant Cell*, 8(8), 1221.
- Team, R. C. (2017). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL: https://www. Rproject. org/Robert DW 2015. Vegetation classification by two new iterative reallocation optimization algorithms. *Plant Ecology*, 216(5), 714-758.
- Theerawitaya, C., Samphumphuang, T., Tisarum, R., Siangliw, M., Cha-Um, S., Takabe, T., & Toojinda, T. (2020). Expression level of Na+ homeostasis-related genes and salt-tolerant abilities in backcross introgression lines of rice crop under salt stress at reproductive stage. *Protoplasma*, 257(6), 1595-1606.
- Thitisaksakul, M., Tananuwong, K., Shoemaker, C. F., Chun, A., Tanadul, O.-u.-m.,

Labavitch, J. M., & Beckles, D. M. (2015). Effects of timing and severity of salinity stress on rice (Oryza sativa L.) yield, grain composition, and starch functionality. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, *63*(8), 2296-2304.

Timmer, C. P. (2010). The changing role of rice in Asia's food security.

- Tripathi, M. K., Singh, P., Sharma, S., Singh, T. P., Ethayathulla, A., & Kaur, P. (2021). Identification of bioactive molecule from Withania somnifera (Ashwagandha) as SARS-CoV-2 main protease inhibitor. *Journal of Biomolecular Structure and Dynamics*, 39(15), 5668-5681.
- Trivedi, N. (2021). Improved Plant Resistance by Phytomicrobiome Community Towards Biotic and Abiotic Stresses. *Phytomicrobiome Interactions and Sustainable Agriculture*, 207-216.
- Trovato, M., Forlani, G., Signorelli, S., & Funck, D. (2019). Proline metabolism and its functions in development and stress tolerance. In *Osmoprotectant-mediated abiotic stress tolerance in plants* (pp. 41-72): Springer.
- Umego, C., Ntui, V. O., Ita, E. E., Opara, C., & Uyoh, E. A. (2020). Screening of Rice Accessions for Tolerance to Drought and Salt Stress Using Morphological and Physiological Parameters. *American Journal of Plant Sciences*, 11(12), 2080-2102.
- Ustin, S. L., Gitelson, A. A., Jacquemoud, S., Schaepman, M., Asner, G. P., Gamon, J. A., & Zarco-Tejada, P. (2009). Retrieval of foliar information about plant pigment systems from high resolution spectroscopy. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 113, S67-S77.
- van Dijk, M., Morley, T., Rau, M. L., & Saghai, Y. (2021). A meta-analysis of projected global food demand and population at risk of hunger for the period 2010–2050. *Nature Food*, 2(7), 494-501. doi:10.1038/s43016-021-00322-9
- Verbruggen, N., & Hermans, C. (2008). Proline accumulation in plants: a review. Amino acids, 35(4), 753-759.
- Verslues, P. E., Agarwal, M., Katiyar-Agarwal, S., Zhu, J., & Zhu, J. K. (2006). Methods and concepts in quantifying resistance to drought, salt and freezing, abiotic stresses that affect plant water status. *The Plant Journal*, 45(4), 523-539.
- Verslues, P. E., & Sharma, S. (2010). Proline metabolism and its implications for plantenvironment interaction. *The Arabidopsis Book/American Society of Plant Biologists*, 8.
- Vibhuti, C. S., Bargali, K., & Bargali, S. (2015). Seed germination and seedling growth parameters of rice (Oryza sativa L.) varieties as affected by salt and water stress. *Indian Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 85(1), 102-108.
- Wang, Z., Wang, J., Bao, Y., Wu, Y., & Zhang, H. (2011). Quantitative trait loci controlling rice seed germination under salt stress. *Euphytica*, 178(3), 297-307.
- Wassmann, R., Jagadish, S., Heuer, S., Ismail, A., Redona, E., Serraj, R., Singh, R., Howell, G., Pathak, H., & Sumfleth, K. (2009). Climate change affecting rice production: the physiological and agronomic basis for possible adaptation strategies. *Advances in agronomy*, 101, 59-122.
- Wu, Q.-S., & Zou, Y.-N. (2017). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and tolerance of drought stress in plants. In *Arbuscular mycorrhizas and stress tolerance of plants* (pp. 25-41): Springer.
- Yadav, S. P., Bharadwaj, R., Nayak, H., Mahto, R., Singh, R. K., & Prasad, S. K. (2019). Impact of salt stress on growth, productivity and physicochemical

properties of plants: A Review. *International Journal of Chemical Studies*, 7(2), 1793-1798.

- Yang, B., Chen, Y., & Shi, J. (2019). Reactive oxygen species (ROS)-based nanomedicine. *Chemical reviews*, 119(8), 4881-4985.
- Zayed, B., Salem, A., & El Sharkawy, H. (2011). Effect of different micronutrient treatments on rice (Oriza sativa L.) growth and yield under saline soil conditions. *World Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 7(2), 179-184.
- Zegaoui, Z., Planchais, S., Cabassa, C., Djebbar, R., Belbachir, O. A., & Carol, P. (2017). Variation in relative water content, proline accumulation and stress gene expression in two cowpea landraces under drought. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 218, 26-34.
- Zeng, L., Shannon, M., & Grieve, C. (2002). Evaluation of salt tolerance in rice genotypes by multiple agronomic parameters. *Euphytica*, *127*(2), 235-245.
- Zeng, L., & Shannon, M. C. (2000a). Salinity effects on seedling growth and yield components of rice. *Crop science*, 40(4), 996-1003.
- Zeng, L., & Shannon, M. C. (2000b). Salinity effects on seedling growth and yield components of rice.
- Zeng, R. S., Luo, S. M., Shi, Y. H., Shi, M. B., & Tu, C. Y. (2001). Physiological and biochemical mechanism of allelopathy of secalonic acid F on higher plants. *Agronomy Journal*, 93(1), 72-79.
- Zhang, H., Irving, L. J., McGill, C., Matthew, C., Zhou, D., & Kemp, P. (2010). The effects of salinity and osmotic stress on barley germination rate: sodium as an osmotic regulator. *Annals of Botany*, 106(6), 1027-1035.
- Zhao, L., Qiu, G., Anderson, C. W., Meng, B., Wang, D., Shang, L., Yan, H., & Feng, X. (2016). Mercury methylation in rice paddies and its possible controlling factors in the Hg mining area, Guizhou province, Southwest China. *Environmental Pollution*, 215, 1-9.
- Zheng, Z.-J., Croft, J. B., Giles, W. H., & Mensah, G. A. (2001). Sudden cardiac death in the United States, 1989 to 1998. *Circulation*, 104(18), 2158-2163.
- Zhou, M.-X., Renard, M.-E., Quinet, M., & Lutts, S. (2019). Effect of NaCl on proline and glycinebetaine metabolism in Kosteletzkya pentacarpos exposed to Cd and Zn toxicities. *Plant and Soil*, 441(1), 525-542.
- Zhu, J.-K. (2002). Salt and drought stress signal transduction in plants. *Annual review of plant biology*, *53*(1), 247-273.
- Zhuo, W., Shi, R., Wu, N., Zhang, C., & Tian, B. (2021). Spectral response and the retrieval of canopy chlorophyll content under interspecific competition in wetlands—case study of wetlands in the Yangtze River Estuary. *Earth Science Informatics*, 1-20.
- Zuccarini, P. (2008). Effects of silicon on photosynthesis, water relations and nutrient uptake of Phaseolus vulgaris under NaCl stress. *Biologia Plantarum*, 52(1), 157-160.



VITA

NAME

Leandro Carvalho Rodrigues Pereira

DATE OF BIRTH	12 March 1979
PLACE OF BIRTH	Liquica, Timor Leste
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	National University Timor Leste
HOME ADDRESS	Liquica,Dili, Timor Leste
PUBLICATION	Leandro Carvalho Rodrigues Pereira, Panida Duangkaew, Chaowanee Laosutthipong, Soranot Chotnipat and Pantipa Na Chiangmai. Effect of Water Salinity on Characteristics Related to the Germination of Rice both in Non-Soaking and Soaked Seed. Thai Society for Biotechnology International Conference Online Green Energy & Zero Waste Society. PP 18-23.